# Electric-magnetic duality invariance implications for axion physics

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades an der Fakultät für Mathematik, Informatik und Naturwissenschaften

Fachbereich Physik der Universität Hamburg

vorgelegt von Anton Sokolov

> Hamburg 2022

| Gutachter der Dissertation:                     | Dr. Andreas Ringwald<br>Prof. Dr. Günter Sigl  |
|---|--|
| Zusammensetzung der Prüfungskommission:         | Dr. Axel Lindner<br>Prof. Dr. Günter Sigl<br>Dr. Andreas Ringwald<br>Prof. Dr. Dieter Horns<br>Prof. Dr. Jörg Teschner |
| Vorsitzender der Prüfungskommission:            | Prof. Dr. Dieter Horns   |
| Datum der Disputation:                          | 04.07.2022   |
| Vorsitzender Fach-Promotionsausschusses PHYSIK: | Prof. Dr. Wolfgang J. Parak  |
| Leiter des Fachbereichs PHYSIK:                 | Prof. Dr. Günter Sigl  |
| Dekan der Fakultät MIN:                         | Prof. Dr. Heinrich Graener   |

#### Abstract

Axions and axion-like particles are very well-motivated candidates for physics beyond the Standard model, which can be probed by multiple existing and projected experiments and astrophysical observations. Theoretical determination of the relevant low energy axion interactions is essential for guiding the corresponding experimental and observational efforts. In this thesis, we revisit the previous theoretical investigations in this direction. In particular, we show that, contrary to assertions in the literature, the main contribution to the axion-photon coupling need not be quantized in units proportional to  $e^2$ . We discuss a loophole in the argument for this quantization and then provide explicit counterexamples. Based on this, we construct a generic axion-photon effective Lagrangian and find that the axion-photon coupling may be dominated by previously unknown Wilson coefficients. We show that this result implies a significant modification of conventional axion electrodynamics and sets new targets for axion experiments. We find that the electromagnetic interactions of axions can violate the CP symmetry and that future experiments could be sensitive to the corresponding coupling. At the core of our theoretical analysis lies a critical reexamination of the interactions between axions and magnetic monopoles. We develop the effective field theory approach to the Zwanziger theory of quantum electromagnetodynamics and show that, contrary to claims in the literature, magnetic monopoles need not give mass to axions. Moreover, we find that a future detection of an axion or axion-like particle with certain parameters can serve as evidence for the existence of magnetically charged matter.

Besides studying the structure of the low energy axion interactions in the effective field theory approach, we explicitly construct new theoretical models for the axion which realize the newly found interactions. In these models, the PQ mechanism is realized through a coupling of the Peccei-Quinn complex scalar field to magnetically charged fermions at high energies. We consider both the cases of Abelian and non-Abelian magnetic charges. We show that these models indeed solve the strong CP problem and then integrate out heavy magnetic monopoles using the Schwinger proper time method. We find that the models discussed yield axion couplings to the Standard Model which are drastically different from the ones calculated within the KSVZ/DFSZ-type models. As a consequence, large part of the corresponding parameter space can be probed by various projected experiments. Moreover, the axion we introduce is consistent with the astrophysical hints for axions suggested both by the anomalous TeV-transparency of the Universe and by the excessive cooling of horizontal branch stars in globular clusters. We argue that the leading term for the cosmic axion abundance is not changed compared to the conventional preinflationary scenario for an axion decay constant  $f_a > 10^{12}$  GeV.

#### Zusammenfassung

Axionen und axionähnliche Teilchen sind sehr motivierte Kandidaten für Physik jenseits des Standardmodells, die durch mehrere bestehende und geplante Experimente und astrophysikalische Beobachtungen untersucht werden können. Die theoretische Bestimmung der relevanten Niederenergie-Axion-Wechselwirkungen ist unentbehrlich, um einen Leitfaden für die entsprechenden experimentellen und beobachtenden Bemühungen zu erstellen. In dieser Arbeit überdenken wir die bisherigen theoretischen Untersuchungen in dieser Richtung. Insbesondere zeigen wir, dass entgegen den Behauptungen in der Literatur der Hauptbeitrag zur Axion-Photon-Kopplung nicht in zu  $e^2$  proportionalen Einheiten quantisiert werden muss. Wir diskutieren eine Lücke im Argument für diese Quantisierung und liefern dann explizite Gegenbeispiele. Darauf beruhend konstruieren wir einen generischen Axion-Photoneffektiven Lagrange-Operator und stellen fest, dass die Axion-Photon-Kopplung möglicherweise von zuvor unbekannten Wilson-Koeffizienten dominiert wird. Wir zeigen, dass dieses Ergebnis eine signifikante Modifikation der konventionellen Axion-Elektrodynamik impliziert und neue Ziele für Axion-Experimente schafft. Wir finden, dass die elektromagnetischen Wechselwirkungen von Axionen die CP-Symmetrie verletzen können und dass zukünftige Experimente sensitiv zu der entsprechenden Kopplung sein könnten. Im Zentrum unserer theoretischen Analyse steht eine kritische Überprüfung der Wechselwirkungen zwischen Axionen und magnetischen Monopolen. Wir entwickeln den Ansatz der effektiven Feldtheorie zur Zwanziger-Theorie der Quantenelektromagnetodynamik und zeigen, dass magnetische Monopole im Gegensatz zu Behauptungen in der Literatur Axionen keine Masse verleihen müssen. Darüber hinaus stellen wir fest, dass ein zukünftiger Nachweis eines Axions oder eines axionähnlichen Teilchens mit bestimmten Parametern als Indiz für die Existenz magnetisch geladener Materie dienen kann.

Neben der Untersuchung der Struktur der niederenergetischen Axion-Wechselwirkungen im Ansatz der effektiven Feldtheorie konstruieren wir explizit neue theoretische Modelle für das Axion, die die neu gefundenen Wechselwirkungen realisieren. In diesen Modellen wird der PQ-Mechanismus durch eine Kopplung des komplexten Peccei-Quinn-Skalarfelds an magnetisch geladene Fermionen bei hohen Energien realisiert. Wir betrachten sowohl die Fälle Abelscher als auch nicht-Abelscher magnetischer Ladungen. Wir zeigen, dass diese Modelle tatsächlich das starke CP-Problem lösen und integrieren dann schwere magnetische Monopole unter Verwendung der Schwinger-Eigenzeitmethode aus. Wir stellen fest, dass die diskutierten Modelle Axionkopplungen zu den Teilchen des Standardmodells ergeben, die sich drastisch von denen unterscheiden, die innerhalb der KSVZ/DFSZ-Modelle berechnet wurden. Als Folge davon kann ein großer Teil des entsprechenden Parameterraums durch verschiedene geplante Experimente untersucht werden. Darüber hinaus ist das Axion, das wir einführen, konsistent mit den astrophysikalischen Hinweisen für Axionen, die sowohl von der anomalen TeV-Transparenz des Universums als auch von der übermäßigen Abkühlung Horizontalast-Sterne in Kugelsternhaufen nahegelegt werden. Wir argumentieren, dass der führende Term für die kosmische Axion-Häufigkeit im Vergleich zum konventionellen vorinflationären Szenario nicht geändert wird, falls die Axion-Zerfallskonstante größer als  $10^{12}$  GeV ist.

#### This thesis is based on the publications:

- A. Sokolov, A. Ringwald, *Electromagnetic Couplings of Axions*, arXiv:2205.02605 [hep-ph] [1]
- A. Sokolov, A. Ringwald, Photophilic hadronic axion from heavy magnetic monopoles, JHEP 06 (2021) 123, arXiv:2104.02574 [hep-ph] [2]
- A. Sokolov, A. Ringwald, Magnetic anomaly coefficients for QCD axion couplings, PoS EPS-HEP2021 (2022) 178, arXiv:2109.08503 [hep-ph] [3]
- J. Jaeckel, G. Rybka, L. Winslow, and the Wave-like Dark Matter Community, Axion Dark Matter, arXiv:2203.14923 [hep-ph] [4]

#### Other publications by the author:

- A. Sokolov, *Gravitational Wave Electrodynamics*, arXiv:2203.03278 [hep-ph]
- G. A. Pallathadka, F. Calore, P. Carenza, M. Giannotti, D. Horns, J. Kuhlmann, J. Majumdar, A. Mirizzi, A. Ringwald, A. Sokolov et al., *Reconciling hints on* axion-like-particles from high-energy gamma rays with stellar bounds, JCAP 11 (2021) 036, arXiv:2008.08100 [hep-ph]
- A. Sokolov, Generic energy transport solutions to the solar abundance problem — a hint of new physics, JCAP 03 (2020) 013, arXiv:1907.06928 [astro-ph.SR]
- A. Sokolov, M. Pshirkov, Possibility of hypothetical stable micro black hole production at future 100 TeV collider, Eur. Phys. J. C (2017) 77: 908, arXiv:1611.04949 [hep-ph]
- I. Karpikov, M. Piskunov, A. Sokolov, S. Troitsky, Constraining spacetime variations of nuclear decay rates from light curves of type Ia supernovae, *Phys.Rev. D* 91 (2015) 12, 127301, arXiv:1501.04909 [hep-ph]
- D. Kostunin et al., Quest for detection of a cosmological signal from neutral hydrogen with a digital radio array developed for air-shower measurements, PoS ICRC2019 (2020) 320, arXiv:1908.06975 [astro-ph.IM]
- V. Ivanchenko et al. (Geant4 collaboration), Progress of Geant4 electromagnetic physics developments and applications, EPJ Web Conf. 214 (2019) 02046

### Contents

| Introduction 1 |  |   |           |  |
|----------------|--|---|-----------|--|
| 1              | 1 Electric-magnetic duality and magnetic monopoles |   |           |  |
|                | 1.1  | Electric-magnetic duality symmetry                      | 6         |  |
|                | 1.2  | Magnetic charges in quantum theory                      | 10        |  |
|                | 1.3  | Non-Abelian magnetic monopoles                          | 14        |  |
| <b>2</b>       | 2 Axions and axion-like particles                  |   |           |  |
|                | 2.1  | Strong CP problem                                       | 17        |  |
|                | 2.2  | Axions  | 19        |  |
|                | 2.3  | Axion-like particles                                    | 22        |  |
|                | 2.4  | Axions as dark matter candidates                        | 23        |  |
| 3              | Stru   | ucture of the axion-photon coupling – need for revision | 27        |  |
|                | 3.1  | Previous arguments supporting quantization              | 27        |  |
|                | 3.2  | Witten effect and its low energy description            | 29        |  |
|                | 3.3  | Loophole in the previous arguments                      | 30        |  |
| 4              | Qua  | antum electromagnetodynamics                            | 33        |  |
|                | 4.1  | Zwanziger theory  | 33        |  |
|                | 4.2  | Classical limit and its peculiarities                   | 35        |  |
|                | 4.3  | EFT approach to QEMD                                    | 37        |  |
|                | 4.4  | CP-violation in QEMD                                    | 39        |  |
|                | 4.5  | QEMD of 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles                     | 42        |  |
|                | 4.6  | Scattering in QEMD                                      | 44        |  |
|                |  | 4.6.1 Basic features of scattering                      | 44        |  |
|                |  | 4.6.2 Pairwise helicity                                 | 47        |  |
|                |  | 4.6.3 Electric-magnetic S-matrix                        | 49        |  |
| <b>5</b>       | Ger  | neric low energy axion-photon EFT                       | <b>54</b> |  |
|                | 5.1  | Anomalous axion-photon interactions                     | 54        |  |
|                | 5.2  | Witten-effect induced axion interaction                 | 57        |  |

|    | 5.3   | Axion Maxwell equations   | 59  |
|----|-------|---|-----|
| 6  | Ger   | neral hadronic axion  | 63  |
|    | 6.1   | KSVZ-like models are intrinsically biased                           | 63  |
|    | 6.2   | Axion-photon coupling from the axial anomaly of magnetic currents . | 65  |
|    | 6.3   | Calculation of the anomaly coefficients                             | 67  |
|    | 6.4   | Solution to the strong CP problem                                   | 69  |
|    | 6.5   | Calculation of the effective Lagrangian                             | 73  |
|    | 6.6   | Axion couplings   | 77  |
|    |       | 6.6.1 Axion couplings to gauge bosons                               | 77  |
|    |       | 6.6.2 Axion-gluon coupling in the classical approximation           | 81  |
|    |       | 6.6.3 Axion couplings to fermions                                   | 83  |
|    | 6.7   | Axion dark matter   | 85  |
| 7  | Nev   | w experimental targets for axions and magnetic monopoles            | 88  |
|    | 7.1   | General lessons   | 88  |
|    | 7.2   | Purely laboratory-based experiments                                 | 92  |
|    | 7.3   | Haloscope experiments   | 94  |
| Co | onclu | isions  | 100 |
| A  | cknov | wledgements   | 104 |

### Introduction

The Standard model of particle physics provides a very good description of the interactions of elementary particles. Its structure alone predicts many low energy symmetries which were never disproved by any experiment, such as for instance baryon number conservation or time reversal symmetry of quantum electrodynamics. Not all of the possible symmetries of the theory can be however inferred from the structure of the Standard model. In particular, this is the case of time reversal symmetry of Quantum Chromo-Dynamics (QCD). Namely, there is a special free parameter  $\bar{\theta}$  in the Standard model which indicates whether this symmetry holds. Fortunately, there is also an experimentally accessible observable proportional to  $\theta$ - the neutron electric dipole moment. While any measured value of this observable would call for some explanation in terms of a more fundamental theory, it is especially challenging that the measurements of the neutron electric dipole moment reveal it to be consistent with zero with an unprecedented precision of  $10^{-26} e \cdot \text{cm}$  [5]. The question of why QCD is symmetric under time reversal constitutes the core of the so-called strong CP problem. As science aims to explain what we observe, one is tempted to hypothesize a new model where the neutron electric dipole moment is constrained to be practically zero. In particular, one of the ideas proposed is to drive this observable to zero dynamically by introducing a new pseudoscalar particle called axion, which is a pseudo Nambu-Goldstone boson associated to spontaneous breaking of the anomalous Peccei-Quinn (PQ) symmetry [6–9]. The great advantage of this mechanism is that the introduction of the axion can naturally solve not only the strong CP problem, but also a much more pressing problem of missing mass in the Universe, i.e. the axion is a perfect candidate for dark matter [10-12].

The problem of dark matter has its origins in the work by Fritz Zwicky back in the 1930s [13]. The latter astronomer investigated the motion of the galaxies of the Coma cluster and found that the real mass of the cluster is much larger than the mass associated to the visible matter only. Later, in the 1970s, it was found that the problem of the missing mass manifests itself also in the rotation curves of galaxies [14, 15]: stars on the galaxy outskirts move much faster than one would expect taking into account the gravitational pull of the baryonic matter only. Since then, a lot of different astronomical observations have been made which support the hypothesis of dark matter. Nowadays, there exists vast evidence that the baryonic matter makes up on average only around 20% of the total mass of galaxies. It is reassuring that the energy density of dark matter inferred from astronomical observations is consistent with the standard model of cosmology (ACDM), which successfully describes the features of the observed cosmic microwave background and the structure formation in the Universe<sup>1</sup>, both these probes being highly dependent on the abundance of dark matter. Although given the fact that our knowledge about dark matter comes only from its gravitational interactions one could think that a suitable modification of gravity would resolve the problem, it is becoming increasingly difficult to describe all the spectrum of astronomical observations in this way. A much more simple explanation is that dark matter is composed of some non-relativistic objects of a new type, which could be either particles beyond the Standard model or primordial black holes. Primordial black holes are good candidates for dark matter, as they do not require any physics beyond the Standard model, however the models of their production in the early Universe normally require large fine-tuning [17]. While the latter fine-tuning problem can be resolved in some clever models [18], in this thesis we will discuss a different scenario where the cold dark matter is produced in a simple way via the so-called misalignment mechanism. The latter scenario is relevant for axion particles, the properties of which will be the main subject of this thesis.

Although many properties of axions have been extensively studied in the literature before, we found that some very important class of axion interactions has been missed. The reason is that while constructing the low energy effective axion theories and the corresponding high energy models, one has always paid attention only to the electric sector of the theory. For instance, in the case of electromag-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Although  $\Lambda$ CDM has its own problems such as the Hubble tension [16], this does not affect the conclusion about the presence of dark matter.

netic interactions, using the terms we review in Chapter 1 sec. 1.1, the axion has always been coupled to the electric part of the helicity of the electromagnetic field. The magnetic part of the helicity is however by no means less important. What we find is that the coupling of the axion to this magnetic part is significantly different compared to the conventional axion-photon coupling and thus has to be thoroughly studied. In general, we find that the neglect of the magnetic sector of the theory is absolutely not justified. In fact, not only is it unjustified in the framework of low energy effective theory, but also in the construction of particular high energy models. For example, consider the well-known class of axion models called hadronic axion models [19, 20], where one introduces at least one new heavy quark beyond the Standard model. If one wants to keep the model as minimal as possible, one has to allow this heavy quark to carry magnetic charge, which means that one has to consider the magnetic sector of the theory. The reason for this is that due to the quantization of the electric charge observed in nature, one expects to have at least one particle with magnetic charge in the spectrum of the theory [21]. As no magnetic charge has yet been observed, one expects this magnetically charged particle to be quite heavy. This means that if we introduce a new heavy quark like we do in hadronic axion models, it is preferred that this quark carries magnetic charge. Note that the connection between the quantization of charge observed in nature and the existence of magnetically charged matter is actually very strong. Indeed, as it was found recently in a number of works [22, 23], in the quantum world like ours where the quantization of charge coexists with the force of gravity, the existence of magnetically charged particles is inevitable.

Thus, it is important to investigate axion interactions which arise from the magnetic sector of the theory. Although the magnetic sector has always been neglected in its full generality before, there have been a few works studying the interactions of axions with magnetic monopoles. In particular, it has been long believed that the interactions between axions and magnetic monopoles are necessarily induced by the Witten effect [24]. What we show is that there are more possibilities, so that the shift of the axion field need not induce electric charge on monopoles. The corresponding non-conventional electromagnetic couplings of axions enter the axion-photon effective field theory (EFT) whenever one admits the no global symmetries [22, 25–28] and completeness of the charge spectrum [22, 23, 27] conjectures of quantum gravity, since these conjectures imply the existence of magnetic monopoles with any charge allowed by the Dirac-Schwinger-Zwanziger (DSZ) quantization condition [21, 29, 30]. The same new interaction terms enter the low energy EFT of axion-like particles (ALPs) - pseudo Nambu Goldstone bosons of any spontaneously broken anomalous global U(1) symmetry. We derive phenomenological consequences of the new electromagnetic couplings of axions and ALPs, showing that they would represent new, distinctive features, which are possible to detect in various axion experiments. Moreover, we argue that the detection of axions or ALPs with such features would provide circumstantial experimental evidence for the existence of magnetically charged matter.

Besides purely theoretical arguments for considering the new class of axion interactions mentioned above, there are also quite strong phenomenological reasons to investigate these interactions. Nowadays, there is a vast number of ideas how one can potentially discover axions, both directly in the laboratory and indirectly through astrophysical data. Many of them have been already put into practice and more are yet to be implemented in the future. Although the axion has not been discovered so far, its parameter space has been constrained and even some hints pointing to a particular range of parameters have been found [31–33]. Since most of the axion searches exploit especially its coupling to photons, it is very important to understand which values of this coupling are theoretically preferred. It turns out that large part of the parameter space of conventional axion models cannot be probed in the near-future experiments. Thus, it seems that these models cannot be falsified in the nearest future. In this thesis, we find that accounting for the magnetic sector of the theory allows one to significantly alleviate the latter problem. The new electromagnetic interactions of axions which we find are much stronger than the conventional one and are in an immediate reach of multiple projected experiments.

This thesis is structured as follows: in Chapter 1, we discuss the electric-magnetic duality symmetry and magnetic monopoles, both Abelian and non-Abelian; in Chapter 2, we briefly review the physics of axions; in Chapter 3, we elaborate our arguments about why the structure of the electromagnetic interactions of axions as presented in the literature has to be revised; in Chapter 4, we discuss an exhaus-

tive quantum field-theoretical framework required to take into account the magnetic sector of the theory and develop an EFT approach to the theories with magnetic charges; in Chapter 5, we build a generic axion-photon EFT and classify the new electromagnetic interactions of axions, discussing some of the implications of the Witten-effect induced coupling; in Chapter 6, we build explicit axion models solving the strong CP problem which realize the newly found interactions and derive the low energy axion couplings in these models, studying both the models with heavy Abelian and non-Abelian magnetic charges; in Chapter 7, we discuss the phenomenology of the new electromagnetic couplings and their implications for axion search experiments; finally, in Conclusions, we sum up the most important results of this thesis.

This Introduction is partly written based on the publications [1, 2] of the author of this thesis.

### Chapter 1

## Electric-magnetic duality and magnetic monopoles

#### 1.1 Electric-magnetic duality symmetry

The Maxwell equations for the electric  ${\bf E}$  and magnetic  ${\bf H}$  fields are:

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{H} - \dot{\mathbf{E}} = \mathbf{j}_e \,, \tag{1.1}$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E} + \dot{\mathbf{H}} = 0, \tag{1.2}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{H} = 0, \qquad (1.3)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{E} = \rho_e \,, \tag{1.4}$$

where  $\rho$  and  $\mathbf{j}_e$  are electric charge and current densities, respectively. In the spacetime regions where  $\rho_e = 0$ ,  $\mathbf{j}_e = 0$ , these equations have a symmetry with respect to the rotations in the (**E**, **H**) plane:

$$\mathbf{E} \rightarrow \mathbf{E}\cos\theta + \mathbf{H}\sin\theta ,$$

$$\mathbf{H} \rightarrow \mathbf{H}\cos\theta - \mathbf{E}\sin\theta .$$

$$(1.5)$$

This symmetry is however not manifest in the action for the electromagnetic field:

$$S_{\rm EM} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^4 x \left( \mathbf{E}^2 - \mathbf{H}^2 \right).$$
 (1.6)

To see the electric-magnetic duality symmetry (1.5) in the Lagrangian description,

one has to remember that the action for the electromagnetic field (1.6) is introduced as a functional of the four-potential  $A_{\mu} = (A_0, \mathbf{A})$ , which is connected to the physical fields as follows:

$$\mathbf{E} = -\dot{\mathbf{A}} - \boldsymbol{\nabla} A_0, \quad \mathbf{H} = \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{A}.$$
(1.7)

The description of a physical system in terms of the four-potential is redundant. To discuss transformations of  $A_{\mu}$  describing the free electromagnetic field, we first fix the redundancy by requiring  $A_0 = 0$  and  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A} = 0$ . Performing the Helmholtz decomposition of the vector-potential  $\mathbf{A} = \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}} + \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{L}}$ , where  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}} = 0$  and  $\nabla \times \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{L}} =$ 0, we see that the dynamics is determined by the transverse component of the vectorpotential  $\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}}$ , in terms of which the action (1.6) can be rewritten as follows:

$$S_{\rm EM} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \left\{ \left( \dot{\mathbf{A}}^{\rm T} \right)^2 - \left( \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{A}^{\rm T} \right)^2 \right\}.$$
(1.8)

Now, let us consider the following infinitesimal transformation of the physically meaningful component of  $\mathbf{A}$  [34]:

$$\delta \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}} = -\theta \, \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{-2} \, \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \dot{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{T}} \,, \tag{1.9}$$

where  $\theta \ll 1$  and  $(\nabla^{-2} \nabla \times) = -(\nabla \times)^{-1}$  is the inverse curl operator, which is well-defined while acting on the transverse component of a given vector field. The transformation (1.9) leaves the action (1.8) invariant, not taking into account the boundary term which does not contribute to the equations of motion:

$$\delta S_{\rm EM} = \left. -\frac{\theta}{2} \int d^3x \left\{ \dot{\mathbf{A}}^{\rm T} \cdot \nabla^{-2} \left( \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \dot{\mathbf{A}}^{\rm T} \right) + \mathbf{A}^{\rm T} \left( \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{A}^{\rm T} \right) \right\} \right|_{t_1}^{t_2}.$$
 (1.10)

Thus, there exists an internal U(1) symmetry of the electromagnetic field with respect to the transformations arising from the exponentiation of the infinitesimal transformation (1.9). Although such transformations are in general different from the transformations corresponding to the electric-magnetic duality symmetry (1.5), it turns out that these two kinds of variations of  $\mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}}$  are equivalent as long as one assumes the equation of motion (1.1) to hold. Indeed, the variations of electric and magnetic fields corresponding to the transformation (1.9) in this case are:

$$\delta \mathbf{H} = \nabla \times \delta \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}} = \theta \dot{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{T}} = -\theta \mathbf{E}, \qquad (1.11)$$

$$\delta \mathbf{E} = -\delta \dot{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{T}} = \theta \, \nabla^{-2} \, \nabla \times \ddot{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{T}} = \theta \mathbf{H} \,, \tag{1.12}$$

where in the last line we used the equation of motion (1.1) rewritten in terms of the vector-potential:

$$\ddot{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{T}} = \boldsymbol{\nabla}^2 \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}} \,. \tag{1.13}$$

Exponentiation of the infinitesimal transformations (1.11) and (1.12) gives indeed the electric-magnetic duality rotations (1.5).

According to the Noether's theorem, the symmetry of the action (1.8) with respect to the transformations (1.9) gives rise to a conservation law. The conserved charge is known as the helicity of the electromagnetic field [30, 34-39] and is given by the following expression:

$$S_{0} = \int d^{3}x \, s_{0} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^{3}x \, \left\{ \dot{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{-2} \, \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \dot{\mathbf{A}}^{\mathrm{T}} - \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{A}^{\mathrm{T}} \right\} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^{3}x \left\{ \mathbf{H} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{-2} \, \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{H} + \mathbf{E} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}^{-2} \, \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{E} \right\}. \quad (1.14)$$

The two terms in Eq. (1.14) have similar bilinear structure in terms of  $\mathbf{E}$  and  $\mathbf{H}$  and their time derivatives cancel each other due to the similarity of the structure of the Maxwell equations (1.1) and (1.2) for  $\dot{\mathbf{E}}$  and  $-\dot{\mathbf{H}}$ . Introducing the dual-symmetrized spin angular momentum density of the electromagnetic field  $\mathbf{s}$ , one can rewrite the conservation law in terms of the conservation of the four-current  $\partial_{\mu}s^{\mu} = 0$ .

The transformation (1.9) as well as the corresponding conserved charge density (1.14) are given by spatially non-local expressions. It is often convenient to deal with local expressions instead, which can be achieved by introducing a second (electric) four-potential  $B_{\mu} = (B_0, \mathbf{B})$ . The latter four-potential is related to the physical fields as follows:

$$\mathbf{E} = -\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{B}, \quad \mathbf{H} = -\mathbf{B} - \boldsymbol{\nabla} B_0. \tag{1.15}$$

The conserved charge (1.14) can then be rewritten in the following simple form:

$$S_0 = \int d^3x \, s_0 = -\frac{1}{2} \int d^3x \, \left( \mathbf{H} \cdot \mathbf{A} - \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{B} \right) \,, \tag{1.16}$$

while the corresponding three-current density, which equals to the dual-symmetrized spin angular momentum density of the electromagnetic field, is:

$$\mathbf{s} = -\frac{1}{2} \left( \mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{A} + \mathbf{H} \times \mathbf{B} \right) \,. \tag{1.17}$$

While introducing a second four-potential for the electromagnetic field, one has to make sure that the number of degrees of freedom of the theory is not changed. The Lagrangian description of the theory of electromagnetic field in terms of two four-potentials was found by Zwanziger [40]. We will give a description of this theory in Chapter 4. A nice feature of this theory is that it allows one to introduce the coupling of electromagnetic field to magnetic currents  $j_m^{\mu} = (\rho_m, \mathbf{j}_m)$ , which is completely analogous to the coupling between the electromagnetic field and the electric currents  $j_e^{\mu} = (\rho_e, \mathbf{j}_e)$ :

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm int} = -j_e^{\mu} A_{\mu} - j_m^{\mu} B_{\mu} \,. \tag{1.18}$$

Indeed, the duality symmetry tells us that the existence of magnetic charges, and more generally dyons, is perfectly consistent with the structure of the classical theory, the Maxwell equations being extended as follows:

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{H} - \dot{\mathbf{E}} = \mathbf{j}_e \,, \tag{1.19}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{E} + \dot{\mathbf{H}} = -\mathbf{j}_m, \tag{1.20}$$

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{H} = \rho_m \,, \tag{1.21}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{E} = \rho_e \,. \tag{1.22}$$

It turned out that the existence of magnetic monopoles and dyons is also fully consistent in the quantum theory. Moreover, not only is it fully consistent theoretically, but it also implies a restriction on the allowed charges of particles corresponding to the one observed in nature. Let us proceed to the next section, where we discuss the perfect fit of magnetic monopoles into the quantum theory as well as why the magnetic monopoles are probably the best motivated hypothetical particles beyond the Standard model.

#### **1.2** Magnetic charges in quantum theory

In 1894, Pierre Curie noted that the existence of magnetic monopoles would be perfectly consistent with the classical theory of electromagnetism [41]. His motivation for considering magnetic charges stemmed from the desire to give magnetism an analogous status to the one of electricity. Now we know that this desire was never to come true: all magnetic phenomena observed so far can be perfectly described by the motion and interactions of electrically charged particles. However, the fundamental quantum theory which provided for such a successful electric description of the magnetic phenomena has also revolutionized our views on magnetic monopoles. Whereas Pierre Curie and his contemporaries regarded magnetic charges as a purely phenomenological construct, Paul Dirac argued in 1931 that the quantum theoretical formalism itself suggests their existence [21]. In particular, he pointed out that, in a consistent quantum theory, the change in the phase of a wave function around any closed curve must be the same modulo  $2\pi n$  for all the wave functions, where n is an integer. In case n = 0 one recovers the standard gauge principle, introduced earlier by Hermann Weyl [42]. This is the case where there are only electrically but no magnetically charged particles in the theory and which is known to be realized in the Standard model of particle physics. The quantum theory itself however does not tell us any reason for why only the case n = 0 should be realized in nature, so that for a generic quantum mechanical model of particle physics one would expect that any n is allowed. As Dirac showed, the  $n \neq 0$  case corresponds to a model with both electric and magnetic monopoles involved. Moreover, he found that the corresponding electric (q) and magnetic (q) gauge charges are necessarily related via the quantization condition  $qg = 2\pi n$ , which conveniently explains quantization of the electric charge observed in nature. Note that this is still the simplest explanation for the latter phenomenon to date, since it follows directly from the formalism of quantum mechanics given one does not put any additional restrictions on the quantum states of the theory.

One can wonder if the results which Dirac obtained in the framework of quantum mechanics can be derived in the more fundamental formalism of quantum field theory. Does a generic quantum field theory of gauge interactions predict quantization of the electric gauge charge? The answer is positive and it was found by Daniel Zwanziger [43, 44]. In order to address this question, Zwanziger had to revisit the very basis of any Poincaré-invariant quantum field theory – irreducible unitary representations of the Poincaré group under which particles of the theory can transform. One-particle irreducible representations were studied in 1939 by Eugene Wigner [45], however what Zwanziger found is that there exist also two-particle irreducible representations. The latter are parameterized by an angular momentum variable, which is quantized. The two-particle irreducible representations correspond to pairs of particles, each pair containing both an electric and a magnetic monopole. The quantized angular momentum variable for a given pair is proportional to the product of the corresponding electric and magnetic charges, hence one automatically recovers charge quantization. Even more, a quantum field theory of gauge interactions which allows for the two-particle irreducible representations was explicitly constructed in the case of the Abelian gauge group, both in Hamiltonian and Lagrangian formulations, in the works by Julian Schwinger and Daniel Zwanziger [40, 46]. The latter authors also showed that in an Abelian gauge theory a particle can have both electric and magnetic charges, i.e. it can be a dyon, in which case the quantization condition is generalized:  $q_i g_j - q_j g_i = 2\pi n$  for any pair of particles (i, j) [29,30]. This means the right statement is not that the known charged particles have no magnetic charge, as it is usually claimed, but rather that their magnetic charges happen to be proportional to their electric charges. One of the essential features of both Schwinger and Zwanziger formulations is the introduction of two four-potentials for the description of the photon field, one of which couples to the electric and another to the magnetic currents. The advantage of the Zwanziger formulation is that it is based on a Lagrangian which preserves locality and which treats electric and magnetic variables symmetrically. We will review Zwanziger's Lagrangian formulation and take advantage of it later in this thesis.

So far we have been discussing generic magnetic monopoles, i.e. essentially the

possibility of having two different kinds of gauge charges deeply rooted in the formalism of both quantum mechanics and quantum field theory. Let us now consider 't Hooft-Polyakov magnetic monopoles – topological solitons arising in the spontaneously broken symmetry phase of purely electric non-Abelian gauge theories, discovered by Gerardus 't Hooft and Alexander Polyakov in 1974 [47, 48]. These topological solitons were called magnetic monopoles because they create a monopole-like magnetic field far from their cores. Note however that they are more complicated constructs compared to their fundamental counterparts which we discussed earlier. It is important that the difference can reveal itself even at energies much lower than the inverse monopole core size, for which one would expect 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles to behave similarly to fundamental ones due to the identical monopole-like configuration of the long-range magnetic field. The reason for this is that the instant effects of the full non-Abelian theory are not suppressed on monopoles [49], thus contributing an extra rotor degree of freedom to the EFT describing infrared (IR) physics [50]. The best known phenomenological implication of this extra degree of freedom is the Rubakov-Callan effect [49, 51]: as Valery Rubakov and Curtis Callan showed in the beginning of 1980s, the Grand Unified Theory (GUT) magnetic monopole can induce proton decay at a strong interaction rate. If one is interested only in the processes which do not involve the rotor degree of freedom, the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles behave similarly to Dirac monopoles in the IR, i.e. their EFT is given by the above-mentioned Zwanziger theory [52]. Since 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles (more generally, Julia-Zee dyons [53]) are an inevitable prediction of GUTs, they represent a well motivated case for the existence of magnetic monopoles (more generally, dyons). Explicit constructions show that such dyons can be bosonic as well as fermionic [54–56]. In this work, we will not adhere to any particular GUT, keeping our discussion as generic as possible.

From what has been already discussed, we see that the existence of magnetically charged matter would fit very well both in the structure of quantum mechanics, completing the gauge principle, and in the structure of relativistic quantum theory, completing the irreducible unitary representations of the Poincaré group realized in nature. The observed quantization of the electric charge would be explained. Moreover, the existence of magnetic monopoles would be a natural consequence of the unification of fundamental interactions, if the latter unification takes place. This is however not an exhaustive list of arguments in support of the existence of magnetically charged particles. Another strong motivation comes from our understanding of gravity: the consistency of a quantum theory of the latter was shown to imply a number of restrictions on the structure of admissible field theories. In particular, it was argued that there can be no global symmetries in a consistent theory which includes quantum gravity [22, 25–28] and that in such a theory, the charge spectrum is complete [22, 23, 27]. These conjectures were shown to imply the existence of magnetic monopoles with any magnetic charge allowed by the DSZ quantization condition [22, 23].

What are the ways to probe magnetic monopoles experimentally? Many direct search techniques have been proposed [57], such as searches for monopoles bound in matter, searches in cosmic rays, searches at colliders and, in the case of some GUT monopoles, searches via the catalysis of nucleon decay. None of the direct detection experiments have however yielded a conclusive signal so far. Moreover, it is quite difficult to derive accurate exclusion limits on the monopole mass due to the large theoretical uncertainty. In fact, the quantum field theory of magnetic monopoles is an essentially non-perturbative theory and there is still no reliable method to calculate cross-sections of the quantum field theory processes involving magnetic charges. The interpretation of the indirect searches for virtual monopoles at colliders [58] suffers from the same problem. In this thesis, we will point out a new possible signature for virtual magnetic monopoles, which has the advantage of being independent of any non-rigorous statements within the non-perturbative theory of magnetic charges. In particular, we will show that there is a certain modification of free electrodynamics which, if experimentally detected, would favor the existence of magnetic monopoles. A complication is that such a modification must involve a new hypothetical particle – the axion or, more generally, an ALP.

Till now, we considered only the magnetic monopoles charged under the  $U(1)_{\rm EM}$ gauge group of electromagnetism. However, the electromagnetic field is not unique in this sense and any other U(1) gauge field could be coupled to magnetic monopoles as well, which would be described in a complete analogy to the magnetic charges of electromagnetism. A particularly important example of such non-electromagnetic magnetic charges can arise in the description of non-Abelian gauge theories, such as QCD. Indeed, in the Abelian 't Hooft gauges, the non-Abelian gauge symmetry of the Yang-Mills theory is reduced to the number of Abelian subgroups. The gauge fixing procedure introduces singularities which turn out to be magnetically charged under the surviving U(1) gauge groups. Understanding the dynamics of these magnetic monopoles can shed some light on the dynamics of the Yang-Mills theory and QCD in particular. The dual superconductor picture of confinement suggests that these magnetic charges play a very important role in the IR. Studying magnetic charges can help one to understand better various phenomena in low energy QCD.

Considering magnetic monopoles which are charged under different gauge groups, not necessarily the  $U(1)_{\rm EM}$  of electromagnetism, brings us to the next section, where we will discuss the general case for which the magnetic monopoles could be charged under non-Abelian gauge symmetries as well.

#### 1.3 Non-Abelian magnetic monopoles

As it was discussed in the previous section, the consistency condition for a theory with both electric and magnetic currents is:

$$eg = 2\pi n \,, \ n \in \mathbb{Z} \,. \tag{1.23}$$

With the advent of the Standard model of particle physics, this condition was extended [59] to include all possible types of magnetic charges  $\vec{Q}_{M_i}$  in the theory:

$$\exp\left(i\sum_{i=1}^{r}\vec{Q}_{M_{i}}\vec{\mathcal{H}}\right) = 1, \qquad (1.24)$$

where  $\mathcal{H}_k \equiv e_k \cdot h_k$  are Cartan generators of the Lie algebra  $\mathcal{G}$  of rank r of the gauge group multiplied by the corresponding electric charges  $e_k$ . In case of a non-Abelian gauge theory,  $e_k$  are equal to the gauge couplings of the theory. For the Standard model, at low energies, we have  $\mathcal{G} = \mathfrak{su}(3) \oplus \mathfrak{u}(1)$ , which means that a magnetically charged particle has generally Abelian as well as non-Abelian magnetic charges. In this theory, the minimal magnetic charge corresponding to the electromagnetic subgroup, is still  $g = 2\pi/e$ , although there are now fractionally charged quarks. The reason is that quarks interact strongly with the monopole that has a color magnetic charge, compensating the would-be observable phase which results from the electromagnetic interaction. In particular, for a down-type quark the quantization condition (1.24) can be written as:

$$\xi g_s t_3 + \zeta \sqrt{3} g_s t_8 - \frac{e}{3} g = 2\pi \cdot \operatorname{diag}(n_1, n_2, n_3), \qquad (1.25)$$

where  $\xi, \zeta \in \mathbb{R}, n_1, n_2, n_3 \in \mathbb{Z}, t_3 = \lambda_3/2, t_8 = \lambda_8/2; \lambda_a$  are Gell-Mann matrices;  $g_s$  is the strong coupling. Coexistence of a monopole with charged leptons requires  $eg = 2\pi m, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then Eq. (1.25) can be solved with respect to the coefficients  $\xi, \zeta$ :

$$\xi = \frac{2\pi}{g_s} \cdot \left(2n_1 + n_3 + m\right), \quad \zeta = -\frac{2\pi}{g_s} \cdot \left(n_3 + \frac{m}{3}\right). \tag{1.26}$$

Note that the quantization condition for up-type quarks is satisfied automatically as long as Eq. (1.25) holds, for their electric charges differ by one elementary charge efrom those of the down-type quarks. One can see that m = 1, which corresponds to the minimal Dirac magnetic charge, is still possible, although the magnetic monopole must carry non-Abelian magnetic charge as well. The latter is not necessary in the case m = 3 where viable solutions include  $\xi = \zeta = 0$ , which means vanishing non-Abelian magnetic charge.

Having discussed the Abelian magnetic monopoles and the generic quantization condition pertinent to both Abelian and non-Abelian magnetic charges, let us outline the status of the theory of the latter. First, we note that the condition (1.24) can be expressed in a simple way using the language of the Lie group theory. In particular, Goddard, Nuyts and Olive [60] showed that the condition (1.24) in a theory with gauge group G can be regarded as a one-to-one correspondence between the magnetic charges of monopoles in this theory and the weights of the Langlands dual gauge group  $G^V$ , which is now also known as the GNO group. For example, the gauge group of electromagnetism is self-dual in this sense:  $(U(1))^V = U(1)$ ; and the GNO group corresponding to the gauge theory of QCD can be inferred from the following identity:  $(SU(3)/\mathbb{Z}_3)^V = SU(3)$ . Based on the derived relation between magnetic charges and the dual gauge group  $G^V$ , which is completely analogous to the relation between electric charges and the gauge group G, Goddard, Nuyts and Olive suggested that magnetic monopoles of a gauge theory with a group G generally transform in the representations of the group  $G^{V}$ . The above conjecture, known as the GNO conjecture, obviously holds in the case of the Abelian group G = U(1), for which the Zwanziger theory mentioned earlier in this Chapter can be constructed. The GNO conjecture for the non-Abelian monopoles, in its stronger form known as the Montonen-Olive conjecture [61], has recently been proven by Kapustin and Witten [62] for a twisted  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  supersymmetric Yang-Mills (YM) theory. In this thesis, we assume that the GNO conjecture holds for the gauge theory of QCD as well, inspired by the findings of Hong-Mo, Faridani and Tsun [63] that the classical (nonsupersymmetric) YM equations possess a generalized dual symmetry similar to the electric-magnetic  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  symmetry of the Zwanziger theory mentioned above. Let us also note, that although non-Abelian magnetic charges are often introduced as emergent from spontaneous breaking of some larger gauge symmetry, the results by Goddard, Nuyts and Olive do not depend on such a construction and can be as well stated for generic magnetic monopoles defined in the fiber bundle framework of Wu and Yang [64].

This Chapter is partly written based on the publications [1, 2] of the author of this thesis.

### Chapter 2

### Axions and axion-like particles

#### 2.1 Strong CP problem

In QCD, configurations of the pure gauge, i.e. vacuum, gluon fields  $A^a_{\mu}$ , where a = 1..8, can be classified by the winding number  $\mathcal{K} \in \mathbb{Z}$ , which is given by the following expression:

$$\mathcal{K} = \frac{g^2}{32\pi^2} \int K_0(x) \, d^3x \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where  $K_0(x)$  is the Chern-Simons charge density, which is the zeroth component of the Chern-Simons four-current:

$$K^{\mu} = 2\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} \left( A^a_{\nu} \partial_{\rho} A^a_{\lambda} + \frac{g_s}{3} f^{abc} A^a_{\nu} A^b_{\rho} A^c_{\lambda} \right) , \qquad (2.2)$$

where  $g_s$  is the strong coupling constant,  $\epsilon^{0123} = 1$ , and  $f^{abc}$  are the structure constants of  $\mathfrak{su}(3)$ . Such classification of the vacuum configurations implies that the space of pure gauge gluon fields is topologically a circle, with  $\mathcal{K}$  indicating the number of times a given configuration winds around this circle. Invariance of the theory with respect to "large" gauge transformations, i.e. the gauge transformations that can change  $\mathcal{K}$ , as well as independently the cluster decomposition principle are well-known to yield the following structure of the quantum theory vacuum state:

$$\left|\theta\right\rangle = \sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{in\theta} \left|n\right\rangle,\tag{2.3}$$

where  $|n\rangle$  are the formal vacuum states corresponding to the classical configurations with definite  $\mathcal{K}$ , and  $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$ .

Note that  $\theta$  is an additional parameter of the theory, the value of which can influence various physical processes. To be more precise, this parameter enters the QCD Lagrangian in the following way:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\theta} = (\theta - \operatorname{Arg} \det M) \frac{g_s^2}{32\pi^2} G^{a\,\mu\nu} G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.4)$$

where M is the quark mass matrix,

$$G^a_{\mu\nu} = \partial_\mu A^a_\nu - \partial_\nu A^a_\mu + g_s f^{abc} A^b_\mu A^c_\nu \tag{2.5}$$

is the QCD field strength tensor, and for any tensor  $B_{\mu\nu}$  its Hodge dual is defined as  $B^d_{\mu\nu} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}B^{\lambda\rho}/2$ . Let us introduce the notation  $\bar{\theta} = \theta - \text{Arg det } M$  for simplicity. Although the term (2.4) is a total derivative proportional to  $\partial_{\mu}K^{\mu}$ , it yields in general a non-vanishing contribution to the action due to the instanton processes, i.e. non-triviality of the boundary integral. Moreover, the term (2.4) violates the CP symmetry which is otherwise conserved in QCD. This violation of CP yields generally non-vanishing electric dipole moment of neutron proportional to  $\bar{\theta}$  [65]:

$$d_n = 2.4 \,(1.0) \cdot 10^{-16} \,\bar{\theta} \,e \cdot \mathrm{cm} \,. \tag{2.6}$$

The latter theoretically calculated value of the dipole moment is to be compared with the experimental measurement, which yields [5]:

$$|d_n| < 1.8 \cdot 10^{-26} e \cdot \text{cm} \,. \tag{2.7}$$

The comparison implies  $|\bar{\theta}| \lesssim 10^{-10}$ , which means that the CP symmetry is actually conserved with a very good accuracy. The question of why QCD is symmetric under time reversal constitutes the core of the so-called strong CP problem. To get rid of the extreme fine-tuning of the CP-violating parameter of the theory, one is tempted to hypothesize a new model where the latter parameter is constrained to be practically zero due to the properties of the model.

#### 2.2 Axions

One of the ideas proposed to explain the absence of CP violation in QCD is to drive the  $\bar{\theta}$ -parameter to zero dynamically by introducing a new pseudoscalar particle called axion, which is a pseudo Nambu-Goldstone boson associated to spontaneous breaking of anomalous Peccei-Quinn (PQ) symmetry [6–9]. The great advantage of this mechanism is that the introduction of the axion can naturally solve not only the strong CP problem, but also a much more pressing problem of missing mass in the Universe, i.e. the axion is a perfect candidate for dark matter [10–12], as we will outline later in this Chapter.

The PQ mechanism yields the following axion coupling to gluons:

$$\mathcal{L} = \left(\frac{a}{f_a} - \bar{\theta}\right) \frac{g_s^2}{32\pi^2} G^{a\,\mu\nu} G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.8)$$

where a is the axion field and  $f_a$  is the axion decay constant – a parameter of the axion models directly related to the high energy scale of the PQ symmetry breaking  $v_a$ . Due to the instanton processes, the latter coupling does not have the symmetry with respect to arbitrary shifts of the axion field  $a \rightarrow a + C$  for  $C \in \mathbb{R}$ , which means that such interaction with topologically non-trivial gluon field fluctuations generates a non-flat contribution to the axion potential. It is straightforward to show that the minimum of this potential is CP-conserving [66]. Thus the axion dynamically relaxes the value of  $\bar{\theta}_{\text{eff}} \equiv \langle a \rangle / f_a - \bar{\theta}$  to zero solving the strong CP problem.

The axion potential can be calculated explicitly using the dilute instanton gas approximation at high temperatures (T > 1 GeV), chiral perturbation theory at low temperatures ( $T \leq \Lambda_{\rm QCD} \simeq 0.2$  GeV) or lattice QCD methods [67] in the intermediate temperature region. In particular, at low temperatures, below the QCD scale  $\Lambda_{\rm QCD}$ , the chiral perturbation theory gives the following result for the axion mass:

$$m_a^2 \simeq \frac{f_\pi^2 m_\pi^2}{f_a^2} \frac{m_u m_d}{(m_u + m_d)^2},$$
 (2.9)

so that it is inversely proportional to the axion decay constant  $f_a$ . Note that  $m_{\pi}$  is the pion mass,  $f_{\pi}$  is the pion decay constant, and  $m_u$  and  $m_d$  are the up- and

down-quark masses. The most precise computation to date [68] yields:

$$m_a = 5.691(51) \,\mu \text{eV} \left(10^{12} \text{GeV}/f_a\right).$$
 (2.10)

The expression for the axion mass in Eq. (2.9) is a robust prediction of the PQ mechanism. However, one should keep in mind that some extensions of the mechanism predict axions that are parametrically lighter [69–71], or heavier [72–87].

Details of particular axion models can vary. The first axion model proposed, which is the PQWW model [6–9], identified the axion field with a phase of the Higgs in a two-Higgs-doublet model (2HDM) and was ruled out experimentally soon after the proposal. Then the KSVZ [19, 20] and DFSZ [88, 89] axion models were constructed, which were called invisible, because interactions of the corresponding axion particles with the Standard model are very faint. Such faint they are that even after four decades of exploration the parameter space of these models is still largely terra incognita. Appeal of the invisible models is their simplicity: the DFSZ model exploits the 2HDM just as in the case of the PQWW axion but the axion is now identified with the phase of a new Standard-model-singlet complex scalar field which couples to the Higgses at high energies; while the KSVZ model exploits coupling of a new Standard-model-singlet complex scalar field, the phase of which is identified with the axion, to a new heavy quark. Over the years, there have been attempts of constructing axion models which would be more "visible" than the DFSZ and KSVZ models, however it always turned out that simplicity was to be sacrificed. For example, in the clockwork axion model [90], in order to get an enhancement of the axion-photon coupling by six orders of magnitude compared to the KSVZ model, one has to introduce at least 13 new scalar fields. A similar enhancement by six orders of magnitude in all couplings to the Stadard model particles is achievable in the  $\mathbb{Z}_{\mathcal{N}}$ axion model [69, 70], but it requires  $\mathcal{N} = 45$  copies of the SM. Although quite nonminimal from the theory side, such an enhancement would allow one to explain some uneven astrophysical observations concerning cooling of the horizontal branch stars in globular clusters [33] and anomalous TeV-transparency of the Universe [31, 32], not to mention that such photophilic axions can be well probed experimentally in the nearest future.

The main properties of the QCD axion, such as its lightness and feeble derivative

or anomalous interactions, stem from its pseudo Nambu-Goldstone nature. This informs us about the low energy processes that would be affected by the existence of this hypothetical particle and thus which detection strategies we should pursue. Since our detectors are particularly sensitive to the electromagnetic (EM) interactions, most of the axion experiments take advantage of the axion-photon coupling,

$$\mathcal{L}_{a\gamma\gamma} = -\frac{g_{a\gamma\gamma}}{4} \, a F^{\mu\nu} F^d_{\mu\nu} = g_{a\gamma\gamma} a \, \mathbf{E} \cdot \mathbf{H} \,, \qquad (2.11)$$

where  $F^{\mu\nu}$  is the field strength tensor of Quantum Electrodynamics (QED) and **E** and **H** are electric and magnetic fields. With this interaction included the Maxwell equations get modified as follows [91],

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{E} = \rho - g_{a\gamma\gamma} \mathbf{H} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} a \,, \tag{2.12}$$

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{H} = 0, \qquad (2.13)$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E} = -\frac{\partial \mathbf{H}}{\partial t}, \qquad (2.14)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{H} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{E}}{\partial t} + \mathbf{J} - g_{a\gamma\gamma} \left( \mathbf{E} \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} a - \frac{\partial a}{\partial t} \mathbf{H} \right) \,. \tag{2.15}$$

In general the axion-photon coupling has a contribution which depends on the fermionic content of the specific model and another contribution originating from the axion mixing with neutral mesons [92],

$$g_{a\gamma\gamma} = \frac{\alpha}{2\pi f_a} \left(\frac{E}{N} - 1.92(4)\right) \,. \tag{2.16}$$

Here, E and N are the EM and QCD anomaly coefficients and  $\alpha = e^2/(4\pi)$  is the fine structure constant. The original KSVZ model predicts E/N = 0 while the original DFSZ model predicts E/N = 8/3. Due to their simplicity, the latter models are normally taken as benchmarks.

Although the axion-photon coupling is the most popular one to search for in experiments, the Lagrangian (2.11) is actually not specific to axions. The same kind of coupling is shared by any ALP, which need not solve the strong CP problem. To discover the QCD axion, one has to probe its coupling to gluons (2.8). At low energies, the latter coupling induces interactions of axions with the electric dipole

moments of nucleons. The corresponding Lagrangian is,

$$\mathcal{L}_{aN\gamma} = -\frac{i}{2}g_{aN\gamma}a\bar{\Psi}_N\sigma_{\mu\nu}\gamma_5\Psi_N F^{\mu\nu}\,,\qquad(2.17)$$

where  $\sigma_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} [\gamma_{\mu}, \gamma_{\nu}]$  and the nucleon N can be the neutron n or the proton p. The coupling constants  $g_{aN\gamma}$  corresponding to each of the nucleons depend only on the PQ scale  $f_a$  and are given by the following expression [57]:

$$g_{ap\gamma} = -g_{an\gamma} = -(3.7 \pm 1.5) \times 10^{-3} \left(\frac{1}{f_a}\right) \frac{1}{\text{GeV}}.$$
 (2.18)

Axions are also predicted to couple to leptons at tree level in a wide range of models, such as those based on Grand Unified Theories (GUTs). Even though it is challenging to probe these interactions with current experiments, a promising avenue is to study the influence they exhibit on various astrophysical processes, where the interactions of axions with electrons can play a crucial role. The interaction Lagrangian with leptons reads,

$$\mathcal{L}_{a\ell\ell} = \frac{C_{\ell}}{2f_a} \,\partial_{\mu} a \,\bar{\Psi}_{\ell} \gamma^{\mu} \gamma_5 \Psi_{\ell} \,, \qquad (2.19)$$

where the coefficient  $C_{\ell}$  depends on the particular lepton flavor under consideration. Note that in hadronic axion models, such as KSVZ, the couplings to leptons are suppressed, since they are generated only at the loop level through the axion-photon coupling (2.16), whereas DFSZ constructions predict tree-level couplings to leptons.

#### 2.3 Axion-like particles

ALPs are the particles which need not solve the strong CP problem, i.e. couple to gluons via the interaction term (2.8), but which have couplings with the structure similar to the structure of the couplings discussed in the previous section. From the EFT perspective, the similarity of the structure is ensured by these particles being pseudoscalars and having the shift symmetry  $a \rightarrow a + 2\pi n v_a$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , where  $v_a$  is some high energy scale. In field-theoretic models, ALPs emerge as Nambu-Goldstone bosons of spontaneously broken global U(1) symmetries. In string theory, ALPs emerge as Kaluza-Klein zero modes of antisymmetric tensor fields living in ten dimensions [93–95]. Apart from string theory ALPs, examples of ALPs are the majoron, which arises as Nambu-Goldstone boson of the broken U(1) lepton number symmetry [96,97], or the familon, which is associated to the breaking of global family symmetries [98–100].

For ALPs, the relation between the mass and the decay constant (2.9) need not be satisfied. Moreover, explicit expressions for the couplings, such as (2.16)or (2.18), can in general be different from the axion case discussed in the previous section. Note that the structure of the axion Maxwell equations (2.12)-(2.15) is unchanged.

#### 2.4 Axions as dark matter candidates

In this section, we will consider axions as dark matter candidates. First of all, a good dark matter candidate should be stable over the cosmological timescales. Axions have a decay channel into two photons due to the coupling (2.16). Assuming E/N = 0 for certainty and taking advantage of Eq. (2.9), one obtains the following expression for the axion decay time:

$$\tau_a = \frac{1}{\Gamma_{a \to \gamma\gamma}} = \frac{64\pi}{g_{a\gamma\gamma}^2 m_a^3} \simeq \frac{64\pi^3 m_\pi^2 f_\pi^2}{\alpha^2 m_a^5} \,, \tag{2.20}$$

where  $\Gamma_{a\to\gamma\gamma}$  is the corresponding decay rate. The decay time being large on cosmological timescales then implies  $m_a < O(10)$  eV. This upper bound on the mass means that we should consider a non-thermal mechanism of dark matter production, otherwise it would be hard to produce the required dark matter abundance and keep the dark matter cold.

It turns out that in the case of axions, non-thermal mechanisms for dark matter production do exist. Let us consider the evolution of the axion field in the expanding Universe [10–12]. There are two important epoques during this evolution: the PQ phase transition and the QCD crossover. At the PQ phase transition, the PQ symmetry  $U(1)_{PQ}$  becomes spontaneously broken and the axion field takes some random value in the vacuum manifold  $a_i \in [0, 2\pi v_a)$ , these values being uncorrelated between different Hubble patches. At the QCD crossover, the PQ symmetry  $U(1)_{PQ}$  becomes explicitly broken by instanton effects, which yield a non-flat potential for the axion field. In the dilute instanton gas approximation, this potential is given by the following expression:

$$V(a,T) = \chi(T) \cdot \left[1 - \cos\left(\frac{a}{f_a}\right)\right], \qquad (2.21)$$

where  $\chi(T) = f_a^2 m_a^2(T)$  is the topological susceptibility of QCD, and T is the temperature of the early Universe thermal bath.

Let us approximate the potential assuming that the axion field is close to the minimum of its potential:  $V(a,T) = m_a^2 a^2/2$ . In this case, the equation of motion for the axion field in the expanding Universe is:

$$\ddot{a} + 3H(T)\,\dot{a} + m_a^2(T)\,a = 0\,, \qquad (2.22)$$

where H(T) is the Hubble parameter. The equation (2.22) is analogous to the equation for a harmonic oscillator with frequency  $m_a$  and friction 3H. Before the QCD crossover, the friction term obviously dominates, and the axion field is frozen at its initial value  $a_i = \theta_i f_a$ , where  $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$  is usually called the misalignment angle. During the crossover, the axion mass starts to increase and given the decrease of the Hubble parameter with time, at some point  $m_a(T_{\rm roll}) \sim 3H(T_{\rm roll})$  and the oscillations start, where  $T_{\rm roll}$  is the corresponding temperature. Knowing the dependence of the topological susceptibility on temperature, which can be found from lattice QCD simulations, one can determine the value of  $T_{\rm roll}$  as a function of zero-temperature axion mass  $m_a \equiv m_a(0)$ . The mean energy density of the oscillating axion field is:

$$\rho_a(T_{\rm roll}) = \left\langle \frac{\dot{a}^2}{2} + \frac{m_a^2(T_{\rm roll})a^2}{2} \right\rangle = m_a^2(T_{\rm roll}) f_a^2 \left\langle \theta_i^2 \right\rangle \,. \tag{2.23}$$

Using  $n_a(T)/s(T) = \text{const}$ , where s(T) is the entropy density of the early Universe thermal bath, and the relation between  $T_{\text{roll}}$  and  $m_a$ , one can obtain the expression for the present day energy density of the axion field normalized to the critical energy density  $\rho_c = 3M_{pl}^2 H_0^2/8\pi$ , where  $M_{pl}$  is the Planck mass and  $H_0 \equiv 100h \text{ km/s/Mpc}$  is the Hubble constant:

$$\Omega_a h^2 \simeq 0.12 \, \left(\frac{28 \,\,\mu \text{eV}}{m_a}\right)^{7/6} \frac{\langle \theta_i^2 \rangle}{4.62} \,,$$
 (2.24)

while the observed cold dark matter abundance satisfies

$$\Omega_{\rm CDM} h^2 = 0.12 \,. \tag{2.25}$$

The mechanism of the generation of the axion dark matter which we discussed in the previous paragraph is called the misalignment mechanism. It is easy to see that the oscillating axion field has the equation of state corresponding to the cold dark matter, as the pressure of such dark matter is zero:

$$p_a(T) = \left\langle \frac{\dot{a}^2}{2} - \frac{m_a^2(T)a^2}{2} \right\rangle = 0.$$
 (2.26)

To determine the masses of axions which could allow for  $\Omega_a = \Omega_{\text{CDM}}$ , one has to find the value of the average square of the initial misalignment angle  $\langle \theta_i^2 \rangle$ . The latter value depends on the point in the cosmological history where the PQ phase transition occurs. If the PQ symmetry is broken during inflation and is never restored, the value of the initial misalignment angle is homogeneous and completely random. In this case, which is normally called the pre-inflationary scenario,  $\langle \theta_i^2 \rangle$  in Eq. (2.24) is an arbitrary number between 0 and  $(2\pi)^2$ , which means that axions could comprise dark matter for any mass  $m_a \lesssim 10^{-4}$  eV. In the other case, where the PQ symmetry is broken spontaneously after inflation and which is normally called the post-inflationary scenario, the Hubble patches with the different values of  $\theta_i$  reenter the horizon later in the history of the Universe, and one has to average over the random uniformly distributed values of  $\theta_i$ . Taking into account the unharmonicities of the potential (2.21), one obtains  $\langle \theta_i^2 \rangle = 4.62$ . Naively, this could mean that the mass of the dark matter axions in the post-inflationary scenario is fixed, however the situation is not so simple. Indeed, in the latter scenario, due to the difference in the initial misalignment angles between different regions, there arise topological defects, which emit axions in the process of their evolution and thus make an additional contribution to the axion dark matter abundance. The evolution of these topological

defects is an essentially non-linear phenomenon which is quite challenging to study even numerically. We will not deal with the post-inflationary scenario in this thesis.

This Chapter is partly written based on the publication [4] of the author of this thesis.
# Chapter 3

# Structure of the axion-photon coupling – need for revision

#### 3.1 Previous arguments supporting quantization

As it was discussed in the previous Chapter, the axion is the pseudo Nambu-Goldstone boson of the spontaneously broken  $U(1)_{PQ}$  Peccei-Quinn (PQ) symmetry [6–9]. Since the PQ symmetry is anomalous, the low energy axion Lagrangian generally contains non-derivative couplings of the axion to CP-odd combinations of the gauge fields of the low energy Standard model:

$$\mathcal{L}_{a} \supset -\frac{1}{4} g_{a\gamma\gamma} a F^{\mu\nu} F^{d}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{ag_{s}^{2}}{32\pi^{2} f_{a}} G^{a\,\mu\nu} G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where *a* is the axion field,  $F_{\mu\nu}$  ( $G_{\mu\nu}$ ) is the field strength tensor of the QED (QCD) gauge field,  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  is the axion-photon coupling,  $g_s$  is the coupling constant of QCD,  $f_a$  is the axion decay constant; summation over the index a = 1...8 for gluons is implied and for any tensor  $B_{\mu\nu}$  its Hodge dual is defined as  $B^d_{\mu\nu} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} B^{\lambda\rho}/2$ , where  $\epsilon^{0123} = 1$ .

Both axion-photon and axion-gluon couplings are probed in various experiments. Interactions of the axion with photons are particularly well constrained. In fact, a large parameter region on the  $(g_{a\gamma\gamma}, f_a)$  plane has been excluded already and there are a lot of new different experiments planned which are going to explore the axionphoton coupling further in the nearest future. A natural question then arises: where should we look in the first place? What are the best motivated values for  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  and  $f_a$  from the theoretical viewpoint? In the last years, it has been claimed by many authors that this question can be answered by considering a consistency condition for the axion EFT [101–103]. The latter condition takes advantage of the fact that the axion is essentially an angular variable with a period  $2\pi v_a$ , where  $v_a$  is the PQ symmetry breaking scale, so that the effective low energy action must be symmetric under the following shifts:

$$a \to a + 2\pi v_a n, \ n \in \mathbb{Z}$$
. (3.2)

Let us review the argument of Refs. [101,102]. First, since the topological charge of QCD,

$$Q_t = \frac{g_s^2}{32\pi^2} \int d^4x \ G^{a\,\mu\nu} G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.3)$$

is an integer, symmetry of the axion-gluon interaction under the transformation (3.2) requires

$$f_a = v_a / N_{\rm DW}, \ N_{\rm DW} \in \mathbb{Z} \,, \tag{3.4}$$

in which case under the transformation (3.2), the action changes by  $2\pi k$ ,  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and the path integral is unchanged. Second, since one cannot generically exclude the presence of magnetic monopoles at high energies, it has been claimed that the Witten effect [104] makes the term

$$\theta_{\rm em} \cdot \frac{e^2}{16\pi^2} \int d^4x \; F^{\mu\nu} F^d_{\mu\nu} \,,$$
(3.5)

which enters the QED action, physically relevant. The parameter  $\theta_{\rm em}$  is cyclic with a period that depends on the global structure of the Standard model gauge group, see Ref. [105]. For the following argument, it is important that the period of  $\theta_{\rm em}$ is always an integer multiple of  $2\pi$ . Identification of the two similar structures in Eqs. (3.1) and (3.5) restricts the values of the axion-photon coupling  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  due to the periodicity of the axion field Eq. (3.2):

$$g_{a\gamma\gamma} = \frac{E}{N} \cdot \frac{e^2}{8\pi^2 f_a}, \qquad (3.6)$$

where  $N = N_{\rm DW}/2$ ,  $E \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and we used Eq. (3.4) in order to relate  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  to  $f_a$ . The authors of Refs. [101, 102] then proceed to argue that any contribution to  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  that is not quantized, i.e. which does not satisfy Eq. (3.6), must be proportional to the mass of the axion squared and can be significantly larger than the order of magnitude of the quantized contribution  $e^2/(8\pi^2 f_a)$  only in non-minimal models which introduce new unnecessary energy scales and/or particles.

Let us highlight the step in the derivation where one identifies the two similar  $F^{\mu\nu}F^d_{\mu\nu}$  structures in Eqs. (3.1) and (3.5) in the presence of magnetic monopoles. Physically, it is equivalent to stating that electromagnetic interactions between axions and magnetic monopoles are necessarily induced by the Witten effect. What we found is that the latter statement has actually never been consistently derived; moreover, it does not necessarily hold. Before we explain the loophole that has been overlooked, let us briefly review the Witten effect and its low energy description since they are central to the following discussion.

#### 3.2 Witten effect and its low energy description

The Witten effect is an effect in a theory with spontaneously broken non-Abelian gauge symmetry derived in 1979 by Edward Witten [104]. The latter author showed that if the full non-Abelian SO(3) theory with coupling constant  $\bar{g}$  and field strength  $G_{\mu\nu}$  has a CP-violating parameter  $\theta$  in the Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\theta} = -\frac{\theta \bar{g}^2}{32\pi^2} G^{a\,\mu\nu} G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu}, \ \theta \neq 2\pi n \,, \tag{3.7}$$

where  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , then 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles of the broken phase of such a theory get an additional contribution  $\delta q$  to their electric charges  $q = m\bar{g} + \delta q$ ,  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ :

$$\delta q = -\frac{\theta \bar{g}}{2\pi} k, \ k \in \mathbb{Z}, \qquad (3.8)$$

which is not quantized in units of  $\bar{g}$ , but which is proportional to the CP-violating parameter  $\theta$ . One can wonder if there exists a low energy Lagrangian, which would account for the Witten effect, i.e. which would ensure that any monopole-like magnetic field comes together with the monopole-like electric field of strength corresponding

to the non-quantized electric charge  $\delta q$  from Eq. (3.8). One would normally write such a Lagrangian in the following form<sup>1</sup>:

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{\theta e^2}{32\pi^2} F^{\mu\nu} F^d_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.9)$$

where  $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$  is the electromagnetic field strength tensor,  $A_{\nu}$  is the electromagnetic four-potential and e is the low energy electric gauge coupling. The non-trivial topology of the  $A_{\nu}$  field in the vicinity of the magnetic monopole ensures that the second term of Eq. (3.9) has physical importance. Indeed, if one imposes

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{d\,\mu\nu} = \frac{4\pi k}{e}j^{\nu}_{m}, \ k \in \mathbb{Z}, \qquad (3.10)$$

where  $j_m^{\nu}$  is the current of magnetic monopoles and  $4\pi/e$  is the minimal allowed charge of the SO(3) 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole, then one obtains the following equations of motion corresponding to the Lagrangian (3.9):

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\theta e}{2\pi} k j_m^{\nu}. \qquad (3.11)$$

Comparing the latter equation with the expression (3.8) for the non-quantized contribution to the electric charge of the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole, we see that the low energy Lagrangian (3.9) does allow us to account for the Witten effect.

#### 3.3 Loophole in the previous arguments

Suppose now that we know nothing about the high energy non-Abelian theory and want to justify the Witten effect merely by means of the low energy EFT. In this EFT, we introduce the topological term, which coincides with the second term of the low energy Lagrangian Eq. (3.9). The coefficient  $\theta e^2/(32\pi^2)$  is fixed by topology. Derivation of the Witten effect then proceeds on the lines reviewed in the previous section. Let us however stress an essential assumption that enters such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Note the difference in the coefficients of the  $\theta$ -terms in Eqs. (3.5) and (3.9). The reason is that defining the Abelian theory of Eq. (3.9) we made a definite choice for the underlying non-Abelian gauge group  $SO(3) = SU(2)/\mathbb{Z}_2$ . The spectrum of line operators in the non-Abelian theory with this gauge group fixes the period of  $\theta$  to be  $4\pi$  [105], so that an extra factor of 2 accumulates in the denominator of the corresponding  $\theta$ -term.

considerations. Namely, one assumes that the electromagnetic field is quantized in terms of the four-potential  $A_{\mu}$  in the presence of magnetic monopoles. The latter quantization procedure is only valid if all the magnetic monopoles of the theory are treated as merely quasi-classical external sources. Only then is the second term in Eq. (3.9) topological. This description of nature, where the magnetic monopoles are non-dynamical, is incomplete. An exhaustive quantization of the system with magnetic charges has to follow the works by Schwinger and Zwanziger [40,46]. Note that the particular case of GUT monopoles is not an exception [52].

The interactions between axions and magnetic monopoles have never been derived from a high energy theory, such as a GUT, but only from the low energy axion EFT, namely from the first term in the Lagrangian (3.1) – see Ref. [24], which is followed by all other works on the subject. Such derivation suffers from the same supposition as that discussed in the previous paragraph. Quantum dynamical effects of the monopoles are neglected. This means for example that the loop effects of magnetic charges cannot be reliably accounted for. Such truly quantum fieldtheoretical effects involving magnetic monopoles can however play a very important role in low energy physics: in particular, as we show in the following Chapters, they dominate the axion-photon coupling and can lead to novel experimental signatures for axions. Thus, the conventional derivation of the axion-monopole Witten effect induced interactions from the low energy EFT (3.1) has a limited range of applicability.

What are the ultraviolet (UV) models in which it is possible to prove that the interactions between axions and magnetic monopoles are the ones induced by the Witten effect? We can find the answer to this question by deliberately preserving the full analogy to the case of constant  $\theta$ . Note that the second term on the right-hand side of the Eq. (3.9) is derived from the  $\theta$ -term (3.7) of the corresponding high energy Lagrangian, either by requiring that the Witten effect is reproduced, as we did in sec. 3.2, or by simply neglecting the contribution from the heavy gauge fields in the symmetry broken phase. The latter consideration allows us to substitute  $\theta$  with the axion field, but only *both* at low and high energy scales:

$$\mathcal{L}_{a}^{\rm UV} = -\frac{a\bar{g}^{2}}{32\pi^{2}f_{a}} G^{a\,\mu\nu}G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \mathcal{L}_{a}^{\rm IR} = -\frac{ae^{2}}{32\pi^{2}f_{a}}F^{\mu\nu}F^{d}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.12)$$

where the notations are adopted from sec. 3.2. The logic outlined in (3.12) is possible only in a theory where the PQ scale  $v_a$  is much larger than the GUT scale:  $v_a \gg v_{\text{GUT}}$ . It is thus not applicable to the vast majority of axion GUT models (starting from the model of Ref. [106]), where one normally identifies some part of the PQ field with the scalar Higgs fields which govern the breaking of the unifying gauge group.

In closing, we see that there is really no robust theoretical argument showing that the electromagnetic interactions between axions and magnetic monopoles are necessarily induced by the Witten effect. Thus, the argument for the axion-photon coupling quantization from sec. 3.1 is inconclusive. But then, how can one infer the structure of the axion-photon coupling relevant for experimental searches? The answer to this question follows straightforwardly from the nature of the loophole discussed: we have to consider a proper quantum field theory with magnetic charges, e.g. Zwanziger theory. Let us proceed to the next Chapter, where we will outline the main features of the Zwanziger theory and develop an EFT approach to it.

This Chapter is written based on the publication [1] of the author of this thesis.

## Chapter 4

## Quantum electromagnetodynamics

### 4.1 Zwanziger theory

Quantum electromagnetodynamics (QEMD) is the quantum field theory describing interactions of electric charges, magnetic charges and photons. Local-Lagrangian QEMD was constructed by Zwanziger [30]. In the latter theory, the photon is described by two four-potentials  $A_{\mu}$  and  $B_{\mu}$ , which are regular everywhere. The gauge group U(1) of electrodynamics is substituted with the new one  $U(1)_{\rm E} \times U(1)_{\rm M}$ , where the electric (E) and magnetic (M) factors act in the standard way on  $A_{\mu}$  and  $B_{\mu}$ , respectively. One fixes the gauge freedom and restricts the physical states by requiring that they be vacuum states with respect to the free scalar fields<sup>1</sup>  $(n \cdot A)$ and  $(n \cdot B)$ , where  $n^{\mu} = (0, \vec{n})$  is an arbitrary fixed spatial vector. The right number of degrees of freedom of the photon is preserved due to the special form of the equal-time commutators between the potentials:

$$[A^{\mu}(t,\vec{x}), B^{\nu}(t,\vec{y})] = i\epsilon^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho0} n^{\rho} (n \cdot \partial)^{-1} (\vec{x} - \vec{y}) , \qquad (4.1)$$
$$[A^{\mu}(t,\vec{x}), A^{\nu}(t,\vec{y})] = [B^{\mu}(t,\vec{x}), B^{\nu}(t,\vec{y})] = -i (g_{0}{}^{\mu}n^{\nu} + g_{0}{}^{\nu}n^{\mu}) (n \cdot \partial)^{-1} (\vec{x} - \vec{y}) , \qquad (4.2)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We use the following simplified notations:  $a \cdot b = a_{\mu} b^{\mu}$ .

where  $(n \cdot \partial)^{-1}(\vec{x} - \vec{y})$  is the kernel of the integral operator  $(n \cdot \partial)^{-1}$  satisfying  $n \cdot \partial (n \cdot \partial)^{-1}(\vec{x}) = \delta(\vec{x})$ :

$$(n \cdot \partial)^{-1}(\vec{x}) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \delta^3 \left( \vec{x} - \vec{n}s \right) \varepsilon(s) ds , \qquad (4.3)$$

 $\varepsilon(s)$  is the signum function. The commutation relations Eqs. (4.1), (4.2) thus make the theory essentially different from the simple case of the gauge theory with two electric U(1) gauge groups, used e.g. in models with a hidden photon. The two fourpotentials are not independent and their relation absorbs the non-locality which is inherent to any quantum field theory with both electric and magnetic charges. The Lagrangian of the Zwanziger theory is local and is given by the expression<sup>2</sup>:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2n^2} \left\{ \left[ n \cdot (\partial \wedge B) \right] \cdot \left[ n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)^d \right] - \left[ n \cdot (\partial \wedge A) \right] \cdot \left[ n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)^d \right] - \left[ n \cdot (\partial \wedge A) \right]^2 - \left[ n \cdot (\partial \wedge B) \right]^2 \right\} - j_e \cdot A - j_m \cdot B + \mathcal{L}_G, \quad (4.4)$$

where  $j_e$  and  $j_m$  are electric and magnetic currents, respectively, and  $\mathcal{L}_G$  is the gauge-fixing part:

$$\mathcal{L}_{G} = \frac{1}{2n^{2}} \left\{ \left[ \partial \left( n \cdot A \right) \right]^{2} + \left[ \partial \left( n \cdot B \right) \right]^{2} \right\} .$$

$$(4.5)$$

The Lagrangian (4.4) is invariant under those SO(2) transformations which rotate the two-vectors (A, B) and  $(j_e, j_m)$  simultaneously. This symmetry ensures that the absolute directions in the gauge charge space (q, g) are not observable. Another important symmetry is however not manifest in the Lagrangian (4.4) – the Lorentz-invariance seems to be lost. This appearance is in fact deceptive. The reason is intimately connected to the non-perturbativity of the theory and to the DSZ quantization condition. It was shown in Refs. [107,108] that, after all the quantum corrections are properly accounted for, the dependence on the vector  $n_{\mu}$  in the action S factorizes into a linking number  $L_n$ , which is an integer, multiplied by the combination of charges entering the quantization condition  $q_ig_j - q_jg_i$ , which is  $2\pi$ times an integer. Since S contributes to the generating functional as  $\exp(iS)$ , this Lorentz-violating part does not play any role in physical processes. The same result has been obtained directly at the level of amplitudes in the toy model where the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The notations are further simplified:  $(a \wedge b)^{\mu\nu} = a^{\mu}b^{\nu} - a^{\nu}b^{\mu}, \ (a \cdot G)^{\nu} = a_{\mu}G^{\mu\nu}.$ 

magnetic charge is made perturbative [109].

## 4.2 Classical limit and its peculiarities

Let us now show that the classical limit of the theory with the Lagrangian (4.4) indeed corresponds to classical electromagnetism with magnetic currents. The classical equations of motion for the potentials corresponding to the Lagrangian (4.4) are:

$$\frac{n\cdot\partial}{n^2}\left(n\cdot\partial A^{\mu} - \partial^{\mu}n\cdot A - n^{\mu}\partial\cdot A - \epsilon^{\mu}_{\ \nu\rho\sigma}n^{\nu}\partial^{\rho}B^{\sigma}\right) = j_e^{\ \mu} , \qquad (4.6)$$

$$\frac{n\cdot\partial}{n^2}\left(n\cdot\partial B^{\mu} - \partial^{\mu}n\cdot B - n^{\mu}\partial\cdot B - \epsilon^{\mu}_{\ \nu\rho\sigma}n^{\nu}\partial^{\rho}A^{\sigma}\right) = j_m^{\mu}.$$
(4.7)

They are first-order equations in the time derivative, which allows the two different four-potentials to describe a sole particle – the photon. To transform these equations, it is convenient to use the identity

$$X = \frac{1}{n^2} \left\{ [n \wedge (n \cdot X)] - [n \wedge (n \cdot X^d)]^d \right\},$$
(4.8)

which holds for any antisymmetric tensor X. Namely, assume X = F, where F is the field strength tensor introduced such that  $n \cdot F = n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)$  and  $n \cdot F^d = n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)$ . Then, recalling that the scalar expressions nA and nB are free fields by definition, one can transform Eqs. (4.6), (4.7) into the Maxwell equations with magnetic currents:

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} = j_e^{\nu} \,, \tag{4.9}$$

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{d\,\mu\nu} = j_m^{\,\nu}\,.\tag{4.10}$$

Thus the Lagrangian (4.4) gives us the correct classical equations of motion for the electromagnetic field.

What remains to be seen is whether the classical equations of motion for the charged particles are recovered. Classical expressions for the electric and magnetic currents are:

$$j_e^{\nu}(x) = \sum_i q_i \int \delta^4(x - x_i(\tau_i)) \, dx_i^{\nu} \,, \tag{4.11}$$

$$j_m^{\nu}(x) = \sum_i g_i \int \delta^4(x - x_i(\tau_i)) \, dx_i^{\nu} \,, \tag{4.12}$$

where  $x_i(\tau_i)$  is the trajectory of the i-th particle. Supplementing the Lagrangian (4.4) with the standard kinetic terms for the particles, one obtains the following classical equations of motion for the i-th particle:

$$\frac{d}{d\tau_i} \left( \frac{m_i u_i}{(u_i^2)^{1/2}} \right) = \left( q_i \left[ \partial \wedge A(x_i) \right] + g_i \left[ \partial \wedge B(x_i) \right] \right) \cdot u_i \,, \tag{4.13}$$

where  $u_i^{\mu} = dx_i^{\mu}/d\tau_i$ . The way the electromagnetic field strength tensor was introduced above  $(n \cdot F = n \cdot (\partial \wedge A) \text{ and } n \cdot F^d = n \cdot (\partial \wedge B))$  and Eqs. (4.9), (4.10) suggest that

$$\partial \wedge A = F + (n \cdot \partial)^{-1} (n \wedge j_m)^d,$$
(4.14)

$$\partial \wedge B = F^d - (n \cdot \partial)^{-1} (n \wedge j_e)^d, \qquad (4.15)$$

so that the final expression describing the classical force exerted on the i-th particle by the electromagnetic field is:

$$\frac{d}{d\tau_i} \left( \frac{m_i u_i}{(u_i^2)^{1/2}} \right) = \left( q_i F(x_i) + g_i F^d(x_i) \right) \cdot u_i 
- \sum_j (q_i g_j - g_i q_j) n \cdot \int (n \cdot \partial)^{-1} (x_i - x_j) (u_i \wedge u_j)^d d\tau_j. \quad (4.16)$$

This expression correctly accounts for the Lorentz force law only if the non-local term in the second row does not contribute. It is easy to see that the latter term indeed cannot play any role in classical dynamics, since the support of the kernel  $(n \cdot \partial)^{-1}(x_i - x_j)$  is restricted by the condition

$$\vec{x}_i(\tau) - \vec{x}_j(\tau) = \vec{n}s,$$
 (4.17)

which contains three equations, but only two independent variables and is thus satisfied only for exceptional trajectories. At the points of these trajectories where Eq. (4.17) is satisfied, Eq. (4.13) should be solved by continuity, which makes it basically equivalent to the conventional equation for the Lorentz force given by the first row of Eq. (4.16). As it was mentioned before, the full quantum dynamics does not depend on the choice of  $\vec{n}$ , so that the appearance of the non-local  $\vec{n}$ dependent term in Eq. (4.16) is a mere artifact of the classical approximation. For
instance, in the path integral formulation, exceptional trajectories form a measure
zero subset of all trajectories and thus do not contribute to physical amplitudes.
The practical prescription which one can use for deriving the classical equations of
motion is simple: in the resulting equations, one should omit any singular terms
proportional to  $(n \cdot \partial)^{-1}G$ , where G is some function of the currents.

### 4.3 EFT approach to QEMD

Let us consider the QEMD Lagrangian (4.4) from the EFT perspective. In particular, we want to find all independent marginal operators respecting the gauge invariance of the theory and preserving the number of degrees of freedom of QEMD. Such operators can be constructed from the gauge invariant tensors and the vector  $n_{\mu}$ . For now, we will not consider the operators containing the gauge currents  $j_e$ and  $j_m$ , which will be discussed in the next section. We find six classes of dimension four operators, each class containing operators of the form  $tr(X \cdot Y)$  and  $(n \cdot X)(n \cdot Y)$ , where X and Y can stand for any of the two tensors  $\partial \wedge A$  and  $\partial \wedge B$ . From the identity (4.8), one can find the relation between the operators pertaining to the same class:

$$tr(X \cdot Y) = \frac{2}{n^2} \left[ (n \cdot X^d)(n \cdot Y^d) - (n \cdot X)(n \cdot Y) \right] .$$
 (4.18)

Let us name the classes depending on the pair (X, Y):

$$\begin{array}{lll} x & \text{for} & (\partial \wedge A, \, \partial \wedge B) \,, & y & \text{for} & (\partial \wedge A, \, [\partial \wedge B]^d \,) \,, \\ \alpha & \text{for} & (\partial \wedge A, \, \partial \wedge A) \,, & \beta & \text{for} & (\partial \wedge B, \, \partial \wedge B) \,, \\ a & \text{for} & (\partial \wedge A, \, [\partial \wedge A]^d \,) \,, & b & \text{for} & (\partial \wedge B, \, [\partial \wedge B]^d \,) \,. \end{array}$$

The members of the same class are distinguished by indices:

$$x_1 \equiv \frac{2}{n^2} \left( n \cdot (\partial \wedge A) \right) \left( n \cdot (\partial \wedge B) \right) ,$$
  
$$x_2 \equiv \frac{2}{n^2} \left( n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)^d \right) \left( n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)^d \right) ,$$

$$x_{+} \equiv x_{1} + x_{2} = \frac{2}{n^{2}} \left\{ \left( n \cdot (\partial \wedge A) \right) \left( n \cdot (\partial \wedge B) \right) + \left( n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)^{d} \right) \left( n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)^{d} \right) \right\},$$
$$x_{-} \equiv x_{1} - x_{2} = -\operatorname{tr} \left( \left( \partial \wedge A \right) \left( \partial \wedge B \right) \right),$$

where we used Eq. (4.18); indices are assigned analogously for the operators in the other five classes. In each of the classes x, y,  $\alpha$  or  $\beta$ , the basis is formed by any two members. The classes a and b each contain only one operator, since  $a_1 = -a_2 = a_-/2$ ,  $a_+ = 0$  and  $b_1 = -b_2 = b_-/2$ ,  $b_+ = 0$ . Disregarding the source terms, there are thus 10 independent gauge-invariant dimension four operators in the Zwanziger theory, which we choose to be  $x_1$ ,  $x_-$ ,  $y_+$ ,  $y_-$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_-$ ,  $\beta_1$ ,  $\beta_-$ ,  $a_-$ ,  $b_-$ . From these, only three enter the Lagrangian (4.4), the free part of which can be rewritten as follows:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\gamma} = -\frac{1}{4} \left( y_{+} + \alpha_{1} + \beta_{1} \right) \,. \tag{4.19}$$

Let us see which operators can be added to this Lagrangian without conflicting with the structure of the theory. The inclusion of the terms

$$x_{-} = -\mathrm{tr}\left(\left(\partial \wedge A\right)\left(\partial \wedge B\right)\right), \qquad (4.20)$$

$$\alpha_{-} = -\operatorname{tr}\left(\left(\partial \wedge A\right)\left(\partial \wedge A\right)\right)\,,\tag{4.21}$$

$$\beta_{-} = -\mathrm{tr}\left(\left(\partial \wedge B\right)\left(\partial \wedge B\right)\right) \tag{4.22}$$

is incompatible with the number of degrees of freedom in QEMD, since these operators give rise to second order time derivatives of the four-potentials  $A_{\mu}$  or  $B_{\mu}$  in the classical equations of motion. There is no such problem with the four remaining independent operators, three of which correspond to the total derivative terms in the Lagrangian:

$$a_{-} = -\mathrm{tr}\left\{ \left(\partial \wedge A\right) \left(\partial \wedge A\right)^{d} \right\} \,, \tag{4.23}$$

$$b_{-} = -\mathrm{tr}\left\{ \left(\partial \wedge B\right) \left(\partial \wedge B\right)^{d} \right\} \,, \tag{4.24}$$

$$y_{-} = -\mathrm{tr}\left\{ \left(\partial \wedge A\right) \left(\partial \wedge B\right)^{d} \right\} \,, \tag{4.25}$$

and thus do not contribute to the equations of motion. The last operator from our

basis is:

$$x_1 = \frac{2}{n^2} \left( n \cdot (\partial \wedge A) \right) \left( n \cdot (\partial \wedge B) \right) , \qquad (4.26)$$

which does modify the equations of motion and should be added to the Zwanziger Lagrangian (4.4) in the EFT approach. Note that since the two four-potentials  $A_{\mu}$ and  $B_{\mu}$  have different parities<sup>3</sup>, the operators  $a_{-}$ ,  $b_{-}$  and  $x_{1}$  are CP-odd, while the operator  $y_{-}$  is CP-even. This means that one can expect the operator  $x_{1}$  to be responsible for CP-violation in QEMD. Let us proceed to the next section to see that  $x_{1}$  is directly related to the Witten effect.

#### 4.4 CP-violation in QEMD

Contrary to QED, the theory of QEMD has an intrinsic source of CP-violation. The reason is that the magnetic charge changes its sign under any of the discrete transformations C, P or T [110], so that a dyon with charges (q, g) is mapped into a dyon with charges (-q, g) under a CP-transformation. The spectrum of charges is not CP-invariant if there exists a state (q, g) while its CP-conjugate state (-q, g) is missing. In this case, it is impossible to define a CP transformation in such a way that the theory is invariant under it [111]. Note that due to the DSZ quantization condition,

$$q_i g_j - q_j g_i = 2\pi n, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z}, \tag{4.27}$$

and our choice for the gauge charges carried by the electron (e, 0), any magnetic charge must be quantized in the units of the minimal magnetic charge  $g_0 = 2\pi/e$ :

$$g_i = n_i^m g_0, \quad n_i^m \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

$$(4.28)$$

The case of electric charges is however different: what one can infer from the quantization condition (4.27) applied to dyons with charges  $(q_1, g_1)$  and  $(q_2, g_2)$  is that only the difference of some multiples of the electric charges of dyons is quantized:  $n_2^m q_1 - n_1^m q_2 = ne, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The latter condition leads to the quantization of the electric charges themselves only if  $q_1 = -q_2$  and  $g_1 = g_2$ , i.e. only if the theory is CP-invariant. Thus, absolute values of the electric charges introduce a CP-violating

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Parities of  $A_{\mu}$  and  $B_{\mu}$  can be inferred for instance from Eqs. (4.14) and (4.15).

parameter  $\theta$  into the theory:

$$q_i = \left(n_i^e + \frac{\theta}{2\pi}n_i^m\right) \cdot e \,, \quad n_i^e \in \mathbb{Z} \,. \tag{4.29}$$

Since only the total value of the charge, and not any separate contribution, is physical, the parameter  $\theta$  introduced in this way is defined on the unit circle  $\theta \in [0, 2\pi)$ . The additional contribution to the electric charge which is proportional to  $\theta$  is in perfect consistency with Eq. (3.8) derived from the Witten effect, which means that in the particular case of 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles the parameter  $\theta$  is the vacuum angle of the full non-Abelian theory.

Let us now find the connection between the CP-violation in QEMD discussed in the previous paragraph and the CP-violating operator  $x_1$  introduced in the previous section. We will show that it is possible to remove  $\theta$  from the definition of charges (4.29) at the cost of adding the operator  $x_1$  with an appropriate coefficient to the kinetic part of the Lagrangian as well as modifying the coefficient in front of the  $[n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)]^2$  term. First, we redefine the electric current  $j_e \to \bar{j}_e$  so that it contains only the contribution proportional to  $n_i^e e$ . The QEMD Lagrangian becomes:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2n^2} \Big\{ [n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)] \cdot [n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)^d] - [n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)] \cdot [n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)^d] - [n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)]^2 - [n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)]^2 \Big\} - \Big( \bar{j}_e + \frac{e^2 \theta}{4\pi^2} j_m \Big) \cdot A - j_m \cdot B \,. \tag{4.30}$$

Next, we make the following  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  transformation in the space of four-potentials:

$$\begin{pmatrix} A \\ B \end{pmatrix} \longrightarrow \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -\frac{e^2\theta}{4\pi^2} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A \\ B \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.31)

The first row of the Lagrangian (4.30), which corresponds to the operator  $y_+$  from the previous section, is not affected by this transformation. The second row is transformed yielding the conventional source terms and an extra  $x_1$  term as promised:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2n^2} \Big\{ [n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)] \cdot [n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)^d] - [n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)] \cdot [n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)^d] - \Big(1 + \frac{e^4 \theta^2}{16\pi^4} \Big) [n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)]^2 - [n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)]^2 + \frac{e^2 \theta}{2\pi^2} (n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)) (n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)) \Big\} - \Big]$$

$$\overline{j}_e \cdot A - j_m \cdot B, \qquad (4.32)$$

which can be rewritten more compactly in our operator notation:

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4} \left( y_{+} + \left( 1 + \frac{e^{4}\theta^{2}}{16\pi^{4}} \right) \alpha_{1} + \beta_{1} - \frac{e^{2}\theta}{2\pi^{2}} x_{1} \right) - \bar{j}_{e} \cdot A - j_{m} \cdot B \,.$$
(4.33)

Several important comments are in order. First, note that the periodicity of  $\theta$  is no longer explicit in the Lagrangian (4.33). In fact, to see the symmetry under  $\theta \rightarrow \theta + 2\pi$  transformation, we have to account for the implicit dependence of the four-potential  $B_{\mu}$  on  $\theta$  arising from the transformation (4.31). The term

$$\frac{1}{4} \cdot \frac{e^2\theta}{2\pi^2} x_1 = \frac{e^2\theta}{4\pi^2 n^2} \quad (n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)) (n \cdot (\partial \wedge B))$$
$$= \frac{e^2\theta}{4\pi^2 n^2} (n \cdot F) (n \cdot F^d) = -\frac{e^2\theta}{16\pi^2} \operatorname{tr} \left(FF^d\right), \quad (4.34)$$

is similar to the conventional QED  $\theta$ -term (3.5), but is by no means symmetric under the transformation  $\theta \to \theta + 2\pi$  by itself. We see that in the theory where magnetic currents are properly included in the Lagrangian of the theory, not only does the term (3.5) lose its total derivative structure, but it is also no longer topological.

The second comment which we would like to make is about Lorentz-invariance of QEMD with CP-violation. Although the Lagrangian (4.33) contains an extra term with  $n_{\mu}$ -dependence, added to the Zwanziger Lagrangian (4.4), and a change in the coefficient in front of the  $\alpha_1$  term, it is clear that the theory is Lorentz-invariant, since one can get rid of the unusual  $n_{\mu}$ -dependence by performing a  $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$  transformation of the potentials. Since it is always possible to get rid of the  $x_1$  term in this way, we see that the three operators  $y_+$ ,  $\alpha_1$  and  $\beta_1$  entering the Zwanziger Lagrangian (4.19) are indeed the only independent gauge-invariant four-dimensional operators which are relevant for the kinetic part of QEMD. The possible CP-violation is most elegantly accounted for in the expression (4.30) for the QEMD Lagrangian, since in this form the periodicity of the  $\theta$ -parameter is made obvious. The latter form of the QEMD Lagrangian is also convenient for finding the extension of QEMD which incorporates axions – the endeavor we accomplish in Chapter 5.

#### 4.5 QEMD of 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles

Let us now consider the QEMD of 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles. After introducing the CP-violating parameter  $\theta$  into the Zwanziger theory, we identified it with the instanton angle of the UV non-Abelian theory through the Witten effect. Still, the modified Zwanziger Lagrangian (4.30) misses some of the effects associated with the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles, since, as we discussed in Chapter 1 sec. 1.2, the latter monopoles cannot be modeled by simple point-like magnetic field sources even in the IR.

Consider instanton effects of the UV non-Abelian theory. At low energies, in the symmetry-broken phase, they are known to be suppressed everywhere, but on 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles [49]. As a result, some of the good symmetries of the low energy EFT can be violated by unsuppressed instanton-induced effects on the monopole. The most famous example is the Rubakov-Callan effect [49, 51]: the decay of a proton catalyzed by a monopole. A consistent QEMD of 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles has to account for such instanton effects. To satisfy this requirement, we introduce an extra degree of freedom  $\phi(x^{\mu})$  into QEMD, which interacts with the electric current  $j_e^{\mu}$  via the following Lagrangian:  $\mathcal{L} = (j_e \cdot \partial) \phi$ . The field  $\phi$  does not contribute to the classical equations of motion, as it should be for a variable describing instanton effects. As the latter effects are localized on the monopole, we require that the interaction Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H} = -(\mathbf{j}_e \cdot \nabla) \phi$  vanishes outside the monopole core, so that  $\nabla \phi$  is zero everywhere but on the monopole. The latter localization property also means that in our low energy EFT, only s-wave fermions can interact with  $\phi$ , because wave-functions of scalars and higher partial wave fermions vanish on the monopole due to the centrifugal barrier  $[112, 113]^4$ .

Let us now show that the interaction Hamiltonian  $\mathcal{H}$  introduced in the previous paragraph can provide a valid description for the Rubakov-Callan effect. For this, we take advantage of the work by Joseph Polchinski [50]. In the latter work, the author showed that the Rubakov-Callan effect can be described as an interaction between s-wave fermions and a rotor coordinate  $\alpha(t)$ . One can show that this description is equivalent to ours as long as one identifies  $\alpha(t)$  with the temporal dependence of  $e\phi$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In this section, we assume the magnetic monopole to be a scalar particle, since to our knowledge this is the only case which has been studied in the literature on the Rubakov-Callan effect.

For the sake of comparison, consider the case of a left-handed Weyl fermion  $\chi$  interacting with an SU(2) monopole. The only part of the electric current contributing to  $\mathcal{H}$  is associated to s-wave fermions  $j_e^i = e \, \bar{\chi}_{(s)}^k \sigma^i \chi_{(s)}^k / 2$ , where k is a flavor index, so that the theory can be reduced to (1+1) dimensions:

$$H = -\int d^3x \,\left(\mathbf{j}_e \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}\right) \phi = -\frac{e}{2} \int_0^{+\infty} dr \left(\xi_+^{\dagger} \xi_+ - \xi_-^{\dagger} \xi_-\right) \partial_r \phi = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dr \,\psi_k^{\dagger} \alpha q'(r) \psi_k \,, \, (4.35)$$

where, following the notations of Ref. [50], we define  $\xi_{\pm}$  spinors as charge eigenstates,  $\psi_k(\pm r) \equiv \xi_{\pm}^{(k)}(r); \ q(r \mid r < -r_0) = 1/2 \text{ and } q(r \mid r > r_0) = -1/2; \ r_0 \text{ is the size of the}$ monopole core; we omitted the terms which are suppressed by the high energy scale  $1/r_0$ . One sees that the interaction Hamiltonian (4.35) is equivalent to the one used in Ref. [50] <sup>5</sup>. Thus, to account for the Rubakov-Callan effect, the source term of the QEMD Lagrangian has to be modified as follows:  $-j_e \cdot A \rightarrow -j_e \cdot (A - \partial \phi)$ . In the case of non-zero  $\theta$ , one obtains:

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\left(\bar{j}_e + \frac{e^2\theta}{4\pi^2} j_m\right) \cdot (A - \partial\phi) .$$
(4.36)

The term  $e^2\theta (j_m \cdot \partial) \phi/4\pi^2$  corresponds to the  $\theta$ -term in the worldline action for the collective coordinate  $e\phi$ :

$$S_{[e\phi]} \supset \sum_{i} \int_{\gamma_i} \frac{\theta}{2\pi} d(e\phi) , \qquad (4.37)$$

where  $\gamma_i$  are the monopole worldlines.

There is yet another way to understand why in the case of 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles, the  $\theta$ -term of the QEMD Lagrangian (4.30) has to be modified. In particular, consider the case of a varying  $\theta$ . It is clear that in the full non-Abelian theory the coupling of the new pseudoscalar field  $\theta$  to  $GG^d$  is legitimate. However, varying  $\theta$ in the Lagrangian (4.30) would be inconsistent with electric charge conservation: the gauge invariance of the theory would require  $\partial_{\mu}\theta = 0$ . A way to resolve this paradox is to introduce a Stückelberg field  $\phi$  localized on the monopole, so that  $j_m \cdot (A - \partial \phi)$ is gauge invariant [114], which leads us again to the coupling (4.36). Note that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The other two terms in the Hamiltonian of the model of Ref. [50] containing only the collective coordinate  $\alpha$  and its canonical momentum  $\Pi$  correspond to the potential and kinetic energy terms for  $\phi$ , respectively.

dependence of the vacuum energy on  $\theta$ , which was calculated in Ref. [50] using the low energy theory with the interaction Hamiltonian (4.35), agrees with the high energy non-Abelian theory result obtained in dilute instanton gas approximation  $V(\theta) \propto -\cos \theta$ . A similar dependence was found in Ref. [115] where the authors took advantage of the worldline action (4.37) and computed the self-energy of  $\phi$ .

### 4.6 Scattering in QEMD

#### 4.6.1 Basic features of scattering

Dirac quantization condition [21] tells us that for any particle with magnetic charge g, the following identity holds:

$$eg = 2\pi n \,, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z} \,. \tag{4.38}$$

Since the unit of electric charge is small  $e \simeq 0.3$ , the interaction between a given electric and a given magnetic charge as well as the interaction between any two given magnetic charges are strong. This means that the perturbation theory is of no help while calculating the scattering amplitudes involving magnetically charged particles. The scattering theory has to be built differently. For an illustration, let us consider again the work by D. Zwanziger [30], where he finds a local Lagrangian for QEMD. As it was mentioned in sec. 4.1, due to the presence of the fixed vector n in its formulation, this Lagrangian is not Lorentz-invariant. It was shown both in path integral formalism [107, 108] and in a toy model with perturbative magnetic charge [109], that one has to take into account all quantum corrections to recover Lorentz-invariance of the theory. Although formal Feynman rules can be formulated, the tree-level (or any finite order) amplitudes do not make sense in this case, since they are not even Lorentz-invariant. The Lagrangian approach is not useful for studying the scattering of electric and magnetic charges.

An option which is left and which has been successfully pursued in the literature is to assume that the magnetic charge is static, i.e. that electric particles scatter on the classical electromagnetic field created by the heavy magnetic monopole. In this case, it is convenient to make use of the axial symmetry of the problem and expand the scattering amplitude as a series of partial waves, each of which corresponds to the fixed value of total angular momentum j.

Beyond non-perturbativity, another important property of the existing fieldtheoretical constructions of QEMD is non-locality. While Zwanziger theory Lagrangian (4.4) is local, the connection between the two four-potentials A and Bdescribing the electromagnetic field in this formulation is non-local, see Eqs. (4.1) and (4.2). Another formulation of QEMD due to J. Schwinger [46] reveals its nonlocal properties already at the level of the theory Hamiltonian.

So why is QEMD essentially non-local? To answer this question, let us investigate a system of particles with charges  $(e_i, g_i)$  which move in the asymptotically distant past or future [44]. Such particles can be approximated as moving along the straight lines  $\lim_{t\to\pm\infty} x_i^{\mu}(t) = u_i^{\mu}t$  with the constant four-velocity  $u_i^{\mu}$ . The electromagnetic field which is spatially far from particle trajectories can be calculated classically. Solving the Maxwell equations

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} = j_e^{\nu} \,, \tag{4.39}$$

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{d\,\mu\nu} = j_m^{\,\nu}\,,\tag{4.40}$$

one obtains

$$\lim_{t \to \pm \infty} F(x) = F^{\text{free}}(x) + \int d^4 y \ G(x - y) \left(\partial \wedge j_e - (\partial \wedge j_m)^d\right) , \qquad (4.41)$$

where G(x - y) is the Green function (retarded or advanced) for the wave equation,  $F^{\text{free}}(x)$  is a solution of the free Maxwell equations. Due to the simplicity of the motion of the particles in the asymptotic region, the integral in the right-hand side of Eq. (4.41) is nothing more than the well-known Liénard-Wiechert solution for uniformly moving electric charge plus the dual solution for the magnetic charge:

$$\lim_{t \to \pm \infty} F(x) = F^{\text{free}}(x) + \frac{1}{4\pi} \sum_{i} \frac{e_i (x \wedge u_i) - g_i (x \wedge u_i)^d}{\left[ (x \cdot u_i)^2 - x^2 \right]^{3/2}} \,. \tag{4.42}$$

The source contribution to F vanishes as  $t^{-2}$ , so that the corresponding energymomentum tensor  $T_{\mu\nu}$  scales as  $t^{-4}$ . Since the volume scales as  $t^3$ , total energy and momentum associated to the charges vanish for  $t \to \pm \infty$ , however there is a finite contribution to the angular momentum tensor:

$$M^{\mu\nu} = \lim_{t \to \pm \infty} \int d^3x \, \left( x^{\mu} T^{\nu 0} - x^{\nu} T^{\mu 0} \right) \,, \tag{4.43}$$

where  $T = (F \cdot F + F^d \cdot F^d)/2$ . Let us keep only the source contribution to F since we are interested in the self-fields of the charges. After a straightforward calculation, one arrives at the following expression for the asymptotic angular momentum tensor:

$$M^{\mu\nu} = \sum_{i>j} \pm \frac{e_i g_j - e_j g_i}{4\pi} \frac{\epsilon^{\mu\nu}{}_{\kappa\lambda} u_i^{\kappa} u_j^{\lambda}}{\left[(u_i \cdot u_j)^2 - 1\right]^{3/2}}, \qquad (4.44)$$

where the sum is over all possible pairs of particles. The term for each pair comes with the plus sign if the pair is incoming (in-state) and with the minus sign if the pair is outgoing (out-state). In the non-relativistic limit, summing over all pairs of particles (i,j) with the relative velocities  $\vec{v}_{ij}$  one obtains:

$$M^{0k} = 0, \quad \vec{J} = \sum_{i>j} \pm \frac{e_i g_j - e_j g_i}{4\pi} \frac{\vec{v}_{ij}}{|\vec{v}_{ij}|}, \qquad (4.45)$$

where  $J_k = \epsilon_{klm} M^{lm}/2$  is angular momentum. The angular momentum does not depend on the values of the relative speeds and agrees with the expression for the angular momentum of the static system of electric and magnetic charges.

The presence of extra angular momentum in the in- and out-states associated to the pairs of particles implies that these pairs are quantum mechanically entangled: the quantum state of the pair cannot be reduced to the product of one-particle states. This non-locality is connected to the failure of the quantum-field-theoretical Lagrangian methods in providing the scattering matrix: note that the usage of quantum fields for calculating scattering processes is motivated by the cluster decomposition principle [116], which is basically the principle of locality. This means that for the calculation of the electric-magnetic S-matrix we have to resort to on-shell methods.

Another important property of the scattering amplitudes in QEMD is the absence of the crossing symmetry. This property follows immediately from the non-locality we have just discussed. Since each given pair of particles (i,j) in the in- or out-state is entangled as long as  $e_ig_j - e_jg_i \neq 0$ , one cannot CPT-transform one particle from the pair without affecting the other. Moreover, all the incoming pairs have different sign in front of their additional angular momenta compared to all the outgoing pairs. This means that no single particle from the in-state can be transferred to the outstate without modifying the amplitude unless all particles in the in- and out-states are either purely electric or purely magnetic.

#### 4.6.2 Pairwise helicity

The asymptotic properties of in- and out-states can be inferred from the analysis of the irreducible projective unitary representations of the Poincaré group [45]. Normally, in- and out-states of the S-matrix approach the product of states transforming under one-particle irreducible representations of the Poincaré group. In fact, this is the basis of the normal "electric" quantum field theory, where the particles are defined by these representations. For example, any state of a single massive particle in the reference frame where it is at rest generically has extra degrees of freedom associated to the rotations in the SU(2) double covering of the SO(3) rotation group. All the massive particles are then parameterized not only by their mass, but also by their spin s which fixes the (2s + 1)-dimensional representation of the Poincaré group. Similarly, it can be derived that the massless particles are parameterized by an extra degree of freedom called helicity which is an integral multiple of 1/2.

Let us apply Wigner's method to the particle states in QEMD. Allowed extra degrees of freedom will follow from the little group transformations, i.e. the Poincaré group actions which do not affect particle momenta. Wigner classified all the little groups for one-particle states. Let us now follow Zwanziger [44] and consider multi-particle states, too. An arbitrary two-particle state can be transformed into COM frame (or simply the frame where momenta are collinear) via a Lorentz transformation:

$$|p_1, p_2\rangle \longrightarrow |k_1, k_2\rangle, \qquad (4.46)$$

so that  $\vec{k}_1 \uparrow \uparrow \vec{k}_2$ . It is now easy to see that the little group which preserves both momenta is the U(1) subgroup of the Poincaré group: both momenta are invariant under rotations around the axis directed along  $\vec{k}_1$ . This means that one can associate an extra helicity with each electric-magnetic pair which is called pairwise helicity  $q_{ij}$ . Pairwise helicity parameterizes a finite-dimensional representation of the little group and thus is an integral multiple of 1/2. Under a generic Lorentz transformation  $\Lambda$ , any two-particle state must transform as follows:

$$U(\Lambda)|p_1, p_2; \sigma_1, \sigma_2; q_{12}\rangle = e^{iq_{12}\phi_{12}} D_{\sigma_1'\sigma_1}(W_1) D_{\sigma_2'\sigma_2}(W_2) |\Lambda p_1, \Lambda p_2; \sigma_1', \sigma_2'; q_{12}\rangle,$$
(4.47)

where  $\sigma_1, \sigma_2$  are little group parameters (spins, their projections or helicities) of the one-particle states  $|p_1\rangle$  and  $|p_2\rangle$ , respectively;  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  are the corresponding little groups and  $D(W_i)$  are their representations. Extension of the transformation law (4.47) to generic multi-particle states is straightforward. Indeed, there is no subgroup of the Poincaré group that would leave more than two momenta invariant, which means that a generic n-particle state transforms as a product of n one-particle states and n(n-1)/2 two-particle states.

Let us now connect the pairwise helicity  $q_{12}$  to the observables in QEMD. Consider a pair of massive spinless particles with charges  $(e_1, g_1)$  and  $(e_2, g_2)$  in the inor out-state. In the frame where the first particle is at rest  $p_1 = (m, 0, 0, 0)$  and the second is moving along the z-axis  $p_2 = (\sqrt{m_2^2 + \vec{p}^2}, 0, 0, p)$ , the expression for non-vanishing component of the angular momentum tensor derived in subsec. 4.6.1 is

$$M_{12} = \pm \frac{e_1 g_2 - e_2 g_1}{4\pi} \,, \tag{4.48}$$

where plus sign is for in-state and minus sign for the out-state. Thus, under the rotation around the z-axis the two-particle state transforms as follows:

$$|p_1, p_2\rangle \longrightarrow e^{iM_{12}\phi_{12}} |p_1, p_2\rangle.$$

$$(4.49)$$

Comparing this transformation with the transformation given by eq. (4.47), we obtain the value for the pairwise helicity in terms of electric and magnetic charges:

$$q_{12} = \pm \frac{e_1 g_2 - e_2 g_1}{4\pi} \,. \tag{4.50}$$

Note that we have derived the Dirac quantization condition once again, since the

representation theory restricts pairwise helicity  $q_{12}$  to the integral multiples of 1/2:

$$q_{12} = \frac{n}{2} \quad \Rightarrow \quad e_1 g_2 - e_2 g_1 = 2\pi n \,, \quad n \in \mathbb{Z} \,.$$
 (4.51)

#### 4.6.3 Electric-magnetic S-matrix

Now that we determined the Lorentz transformations of in- and out-states of electricmagnetic scattering, we can infer the corresponding transformations of the S-matrix:

$$S(p'_{1}, \dots, p'_{m} | p_{1}, \dots, p_{n}) \equiv \langle p'_{1}, \dots, p'_{m}; -|p_{1}, \dots, p_{n}; + \rangle =$$

$$\langle p'_{1}, \dots, p'_{m}; -|U(\Lambda)^{\dagger} U(\Lambda)| p_{1}, \dots, p_{n}; + \rangle =$$

$$e^{i(\Sigma_{+} + \Sigma_{-})} \prod_{i=1}^{m} \mathcal{D}(W_{i})^{\dagger} \prod_{i'=1}^{n} \mathcal{D}(W_{i'}) S(\Lambda p'_{1}, \dots, \Lambda p'_{m} | \Lambda p_{1}, \dots, \Lambda p_{n}), \quad (4.52)$$

where

$$\Sigma_{+} \equiv \sum_{i>j}^{n} \mu_{ij} \phi_{ij} , \qquad \Sigma_{-} \equiv \sum_{i'>j'}^{m} \mu_{i'j'} \phi_{i'j'} , \qquad (4.53)$$

(i, j) and (i', j') are indices for incoming and outgoing particles, respectively, and  $\mu_{ab} = (e_a g_b - e_b g_a)/4\pi$ . Thus, S-matrix transforms as follows:

$$S(\Lambda p'_1, \dots, \Lambda p'_m | \Lambda p_1, \dots, \Lambda p_n) = e^{-i(\Sigma_+ + \Sigma_-)} \prod_{i=1}^m \mathcal{D}(W_i) \cdot \prod_{i'=1}^n \mathcal{D}(W_{i'})^{\dagger} S(p'_1, \dots, p'_m | p_1, \dots, p_n) . \quad (4.54)$$

The transformation law (4.54) restricts the explicit form of the S-matrix in each particular process. To see what these restrictions are, it is convenient to work with spinor-helicity variables, since they transform under the little group in a simple way. S-matrix depends on momenta  $p_i$  which transform in the (1/2, 1/2) representation of the Lorentz group (note the isomorphism  $so(1,3) \simeq su(2) \oplus su(2)$ ). This means that every momentum can be represented as a bispinor:

$$p^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} = \sigma^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}}_{\mu} p^{\mu} = \begin{pmatrix} p^0 - p^3 & -p_1 + ip_2 \\ -p_1 - ip_2 & p_0 + p_3 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (4.55)$$

where  $\sigma_{\mu} = (1, \vec{\sigma})$ . Note that det  $p^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} = m^2$ . For massless particles, det  $p^{\alpha \dot{\alpha}} = 0$ ,

which ensures that one can decompose the momentum matrix into the product of two spinors:

$$p^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \lambda^{\alpha}\tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}} \equiv p \rangle [p. \qquad (4.56)$$

For massive particles, the momentum can be represented as rank two matrix, which means that it can be decomposed into the sum of two rank one matrices as follows:

$$p^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \lambda_I^{\alpha} \tilde{\lambda}^{\dot{\alpha}I} \equiv p_I \rangle [p^I, \quad I = 1, 2.$$
 (4.57)

In the spinor-helicity variables, we will denote the momentum of the ith particle  $p_i$ simply by *i*. Then our building blocks for the S-matrix are  $i\rangle$ ,  $j_I\rangle$ , [i and  $[j^I]$ , where *i* runs over all the massless particles and *j* runs over all the massive ones. Under the action of the corresponding little groups, these spinors transform in a simple way:

$$i\rangle \rightarrow e^{i\phi/2}|i\rangle, \quad [i \rightarrow e^{-i\phi/2}[i, j_I\rangle \rightarrow W_K^I|j_I\rangle, \quad [j^I \rightarrow (W^{\dagger})_I^K[j^I, (4.58)]$$

where  $W \in SU(2)$ . For simplification, let us work in the out-out framework, in which all of the particles in the process are formally considered outgoing. This is possible if we always keep in mind which particles are really incoming and do not pair particles one of which is in the in-state and another is in the out-state. Helicities and spins of the particles in the scattering process put a constraint on how many helicity spinors of each type we are supposed to have in the S-matrix. For example, if the particle 1 is massless and has helicity  $h_1$ , we will have n spinors 1 $\rangle$  and mspinors [1, such that  $m-n = 2h_1$ . The massive particle of spin s enters the S-matrix as a symmetric rank 2s tensor which forms an irreducible spin-s representation of the SU(2) group. For this reason, the S-matrix is always symmetrized over I indices. Keeping this in mind, we will omit them and write massive spinors in bold, like  $\mathbf{i}_{\lambda}$ .

Let us first consider an example which involves only electrically charged particles. In this case, we already have all the helicity spinors necessary to construct the Smatrix. Our example will be a massive particle decaying into the two massless particles. Suppose that the massive particle has spin 1/2. The S-matrix can then be given by the following expressions:

$$S \propto \langle \mathbf{12} \rangle [23]^n \langle 23 \rangle^m$$
 or  $[\mathbf{12}] [23]^n \langle 23 \rangle^m$  or  $2 \leftrightarrow 3$ , (4.59)

from which we infer that precisely one of the massless particles must be a fermion. In general, it is clear that using this method one can find no-go theorems (or selection rules) for various processes. In particular, using the same setup of one massive and two massless particles, one can prove that a massive spin one particle cannot decay to a pair of photons and that a massive spin three particle cannot decay to a pair of gravitons [117].

Let us now adapt this method to the electric-magnetic scattering [118]. In this case, we have to account for the extra little group transformations associated to the pairwise helicities. Since these transformations are U(1) rotations, similar to the massless particle case, we have to introduce new spinor helicity variables associated with null momenta. The required null momenta must be linear combinations of the particle momenta in the pair, so that they have the same Lorentz transformation properties. It is especially easy to build the reference null momenta in the COM reference frame:

$$\left(k_{ij}^{\pm}\right)^{\mu} = p_c \left(1, 0, 0, \pm 1\right), \qquad (4.60)$$

where  $p_c$  is the COM momentum of the (i, j) pair. Boosted to any other frame, the null momenta are given by the following covariant expressions in terms of the particle momenta:

$$p_{ij}^{+} = \frac{1}{E_i^c + E_j^c} \left[ \left( E_j^c + p_c \right) p_i - \left( E_i^c - p_c \right) p_j \right] , \qquad (4.61)$$

$$p_{ij}^{-} = \frac{1}{E_i^c + E_j^c} \left[ (E_i^c + p_c) p_j - (E_j^c - p_c) p_i \right] .$$
(4.62)

Now that we defined the pairwise null momenta, it is straightforward to define the corresponding spinor helicity variables, in full analogy to the case of the massless particles discussed above:

$$\left(p_{ij}^{\pm}\right)^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} = \sigma_{\mu}^{\alpha\dot{\alpha}} \left(p_{ij}^{\pm}\right)^{\mu} = p_{ij}^{\pm} \rangle [p_{ij}^{\pm} . \tag{4.63}$$

Their little group transformations are given by the following U(1) rotations:

$$p_{ij}^{\pm}\rangle \rightarrow e^{\pm i\phi/2}|p_{ij}^{\pm}\rangle, \quad [p_{ij}^{\pm} \rightarrow e^{\mp i\phi/2}[p_{ij}^{\pm}].$$
 (4.64)

Note that  $p_{ij}^+$  and  $p_{ij}^-$  have opposite pairwise helicities  $\pm 1/2$ . Explicit contractions with the other spinors in the massless limit are:

$$\left[p_{ij}^{+}i\right] = \langle ip_{ij}^{+}\rangle = \left[\eta_{i}p_{ij}^{-}\right] = \langle p_{ij}^{-}\eta_{i}\rangle = 0, \qquad (4.65)$$

$$\left[p_{ij}^{-}i\right] = \langle ip_{ij}^{-}\rangle = \sqrt{2p_c} [\eta_i p_{ij}^{+}] = \sqrt{2p_c} \langle p_{ij}^{+} \eta_i \rangle = 2p_c , \qquad (4.66)$$

where  $\eta_i$  are Parity-conjugate massless spinors which appear in the massless limit of the massive spinors **i** [117]. Note that in constructing the S-matrix we require that the helicity weights under each individual particle as well as the pairwise helicity weights are matched for both the initial and the final states, since only the diagonal Lorentz transformation for which each particle and each pair of particles are transformed simultaneously is physical.

Let us construct the S-matrix of a massive vector decaying to two different massless fermions with the pairwise helicity  $\mu_{23} = -1$ . For the massive vector, we need two spinors 1 $\rangle$ . For the massless fermions, it is enough to take spinors 2 $\rangle$  and 3 $\rangle$ . Now, there are four spinor indices from the normal spinors which need to be contracted with the pairwise spinors. In total, we should have 4 pairwise spinors, three of which should have negative helicity and one positive, since we require that  $\mu_{23} = -1$ . The scattering matrix for positive helicity fermions is then:

$$S\left(\mathbf{1}^{s=1}|2^{-1/2},3^{-1/2}\right)_{\mu_{23}=-1} \sim \langle 2p_{23}^{-}\rangle\langle p_{23}^{+}3\rangle\langle \mathbf{1}p_{23}^{-}\rangle^{2},$$
 (4.67)

up to a little group invariant. We also see that the decay to the different helicity fermions  $h_2 = -h_3 = 1/2$  is forbidden in this case, since  $[p_{23}^-3] = 0$ .

Now let us consider the same example where the pairwise helicity of the massless fermions is  $\mu_{23} = -2$ . In this case, the situation is the opposite: the S-matrix for the same helicity fermions vanishes, while for the different helicity fermions it does not vanish:

$$S\left(\mathbf{1}^{s=1}|2^{-1/2},3^{+1/2}\right)_{\mu_{23}=-2} \sim \langle 2p_{23}^{-}\rangle [p_{23}^{+}3]\langle \mathbf{1}p_{23}^{-}\rangle^{2},$$
 (4.68)

up to a little group invariant. Same helicity fermions are forbidden in this case since  $\langle p_{23}^-3 \rangle = [p_{23}^+2] = 0.$ 

Finally, let us deal with a more general case of a massive particle decaying into

two other massive particles. The S-matrix is a contraction of the massive part:

$$\left(\langle \mathbf{1}|^{2s_1}\right)^{\left\{\alpha_1\dots\alpha_{2s_1}\right\}} \left(\langle \mathbf{2}|^{2s_2}\right)^{\left\{\beta_1\dots\beta_{2s_2}\right\}} \left(\langle \mathbf{3}|^{2s_3}\right)^{\left\{\gamma_1\dots\gamma_{2s_3}\right\}}$$
(4.69)

with a massless part involving the pairwise spinors:

$$S^{q}_{\{\alpha_{1}\dots\alpha_{2s_{1}}\}\{\beta_{1}\dots\beta_{2s_{2}}\}\{\gamma_{1}\dots\gamma_{2s_{3}}\}} = \sum_{i=1}^{C} a_{i} \left(|p_{23}^{-}\rangle^{\hat{s}-\mu_{23}} |p_{23}^{+}\rangle^{\hat{s}+\mu_{23}}\right)_{\{\alpha_{1}\dots\alpha_{2s_{1}}\}\{\beta_{1}\dots\beta_{2s_{2}}\}\{\gamma_{1}\dots\gamma_{2s_{3}}\}}$$

$$(4.70)$$

where  $\hat{s} = s_1 + s_2 + s_3$  and C counts all the ways to group the spinors into  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$  indices. Since we cannot have negative powers of pairwise spinors, a selection rule follows:

$$|q| \le \hat{s} \,, \tag{4.71}$$

which restricts the charges and spins of individual particles.

This Chapter is partly written based on the publication [1] of the author of this thesis.

## Chapter 5

# Generic low energy axion-photon EFT

#### 5.1 Anomalous axion-photon interactions

Let us now find the extension of QEMD which incorporates axions. We first limit ourselves to the CP-conserving axion interactions, which means that the dimension five operators containing the axion field are obtained from the CP-odd dimension four operators of QEMD:  $a_-$ ,  $b_-$  and  $x_1$ . Axion EFT must be symmetric under the transformation  $a \to a + 2\pi v_a n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , which suggests that we use the operator  $j_m A$ instead of  $x_1$ , since  $ax_1$  would not have the discrete shift symmetry required, as outlined in Chapter 4 sec. 4.4. The operator  $j_m A$  corresponds to the Witten-effect induced axion interaction and we postpone its discussion until the next section, limiting ourselves to the pure axion-photon couplings first. Thus, the Lagrangian for a generic CP-conserving axion-photon EFT is:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2n^2} \Big\{ [n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)] \cdot [n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)^d] - [n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)] \cdot [n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)^d] - [n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)]^2 - [n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)]^2 \Big\} - \frac{1}{4} g_{aAA} a \operatorname{tr} \Big\{ (\partial \wedge A) (\partial \wedge A)^d \Big\} - \frac{1}{4} g_{aBB} a \operatorname{tr} \Big\{ (\partial \wedge B) (\partial \wedge B)^d \Big\},$$
(5.1)

or written in a more compact operator notation:

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4} \left( y_{+} + \alpha_{1} + \beta_{1} \right) + \frac{1}{4} g_{aAA} a a_{-} + \frac{1}{4} g_{aBB} a b_{-} .$$
 (5.2)

The coefficients  $g_{aAA}$  and  $g_{aBB}$  cannot be determined by symmetry arguments, since both  $a_{-}$  and  $b_{-}$  terms are total derivatives, which ensures shift symmetry regardless of their coefficients. However, to compute the coefficients, we can take advantage of the fact that these terms arise from the anomalous divergence of the Peccei-Quinn current, so that  $g_{aAA}$  and  $g_{aBB}$  are determined by the  $U(1)_{PQ} (U(1)_E)^2$ and  $U(1)_{PQ} (U(1)_M)^2$  anomalies, respectively<sup>1</sup>:

$$g_{aAA} = \frac{Ee^2}{4\pi^2 v_a}, \quad E = \sum_{\psi} q_{\psi}^2 \cdot d(C_{\psi}) , \qquad (5.3)$$

$$g_{aBB} = \frac{Mg_0^2}{4\pi^2 v_a}, \quad M = \sum_{\psi} g_{\psi}^2 \cdot d(C_{\psi}) , \qquad (5.4)$$

where E and M are electric and magnetic anomaly coefficients, respectively;  $q_{\psi}$  and  $g_{\psi}$  are electric and magnetic charges of heavy PQ-charged fermions  $\psi$  in units of e and  $g_0$ , respectively;  $d(C_{\psi})$  is the dimension of the color representation of  $\psi$ . Due to the DSZ quantization condition,  $g_0 \gg e$  so that the Wilson coefficient  $g_{aBB}$  is expected to dominate the axion-photon coupling.

Let us now consider the CP-violating axion interactions. We have not yet taken advantage of the CP-even four-dimensional operator  $y_-$ , which can be coupled to the axion since the resulting CP-odd five-dimensional operator  $ay_-$  respects the axion shift symmetry. The corresponding term in the Lagrangian is:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{QP}} \supset -\frac{1}{2} g_{aAB} a \operatorname{tr} \left\{ (\partial \wedge A) \left( \partial \wedge B \right)^d \right\}, \qquad (5.5)$$

where the coefficient  $g_{aAB}$  is determined by the  $U(1)_{PQ} U(1)_E U(1)_M$  anomaly. Note that the latter anomaly is non-zero only in the case where the spectrum of dyons violates CP. In this case, the intrinsic CP-violation of high energy QEMD is transferred to the low energy axion-photon EFT after integrating out heavy dyons. As we show later in Chapter 6 sec. 6.3, the coefficient  $g_{aAB}$  is given by the following

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>For the detailed derivation, see Chapter 6 sec. 6.3.

expression:

$$g_{aAB} = \frac{Deg_0}{4\pi^2 v_a}, \quad D = \sum_{\psi} q_{\psi} g_{\psi} \cdot d(C_{\psi}) , \qquad (5.6)$$

where D is the mixed electric-magnetic CP-violating anomaly coefficient, which depends on the spectrum of heavy PQ-charged dyons. The DSZ quantization condition ensures  $g_0 \gg e$ , so that the CP-violating axion-photon coupling  $g_{aAB}$  is naturally suppressed compared to the CP-conserving  $g_{aBB}$  coupling, but dominates over the CP-conserving  $g_{aAA}$  coupling:  $g_{aBB} \gg |g_{aAB}| \gg g_{aAA}$ .

Not only do the values of the anomaly coefficients E, M and D depend on the details of the UV model, but also the value of the minimal magnetic charge  $g_0$  does. While we used  $g_0 = 2\pi/e$  for pure QEMD in Chapter 4 sec. 4.4, the real low energy theory describing nature involves also the  $SU(3)_c$  color gauge group, and the quarks charged under this group have minimal electric charge  $|e_0| = e/3$ . Naively, this implies that the minimal magnetic charge is  $g_0 = 2\pi/|e_0| = 6\pi/e$ . However, this is true only if the magnetic monopoles are Abelian, i.e. if they do not carry color magnetic charge. As we discussed in Chapter 1 sec. 1.3, if the monopoles are to the contrary non-Abelian, i.e. if they carry also color magnetic charges [59, 122, 123] and allows for a minimal  $U(1)_{\rm M}$  magnetic charge similar to the one of pure QEMD:  $g_0 = 2\pi/e$ . In Chapter 6, we build an axion model with heavy PQ-charged fermions  $\psi_i$  carrying  $SU(3)_{\rm M}$  color magnetic charges and show that it indeed solves the strong CP problem. In the explicit calculations, it will be convenient to parameterize the minimal magnetic charge  $g_0$  by an integer  $\zeta$ :

$$g_{0} = \frac{2\pi\zeta}{e}, \quad \zeta = \begin{cases} 3, \ \psi_{i} \in U(1)_{\mathrm{E}} \times U(1)_{\mathrm{M}} \times SU(3)_{\mathrm{E}} \\ 1, \ \psi_{i} \in U(1)_{\mathrm{E}} \times U(1)_{\mathrm{M}} \times SU(3)_{\mathrm{M}} \end{cases}$$
(5.7)

As we derived the axion-photon couplings (5.1) and (5.5) from general symmetry arguments, the field *a* entering our EFT need not be the QCD axion, but could as well correspond to a generic ALP. In this case, Eqs. (5.3), (5.4) and (5.6) need not hold. Nevertheless, the scaling of the corresponding ALP-photon couplings with electric and magnetic elementary charges *e* and  $g_0$  given in Eqs. (5.3), (5.4) and (5.6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Note that contrary to the Abelian case, there are no non-Abelian dyons, i.e. particles which carry both color electric and color magnetic charges [119-121].

persists for any ALP, because with our normalisation of  $A_{\mu}$  and  $B_{\mu}$  four-potentials, the former four-potential always enters the interaction Lagrangian with a factor of e while the latter one always enters the interaction Lagrangian with a factor of  $g_0$ . This means that for a generic ALP, one still expects the above-mentioned hierarchy of couplings:  $g_{aBB} \gg |g_{aAB}| \gg g_{aAA}$ .

#### 5.2 Witten-effect induced axion interaction

Let us return to the discussion of the CP-conserving  $\mathcal{O} = a (j_m \cdot A)$  operator of a generic axion EFT. The coefficient in front of this operator is determined by the discrete shift symmetry requirement. The corresponding term in the Lagrangian is obtained by the substitution  $\theta \to a/v_a$  in Eq. (4.30):

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\left(\bar{j}_e + \frac{e^2 a}{4\pi^2 v_a} j_m\right) \cdot A \,. \tag{5.8}$$

Indeed, the results on the periodicity of  $\theta$  obtained in Chapter 4 sec. 4.4 show that the axion field has the required discrete shift symmetry  $a \to a + 2\pi v_a n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Note also that, as we discussed in Chapter 4 sec. 4.4 for the analogous case of the  $\theta$ -parameter, the latter symmetry would no longer be explicit if we were to redefine the fields and move the axion dependence into the kinetic part of the Lagrangian.

The term (5.8) is not gauge invariant unless  $\partial_{\mu}a = 0$ , which tells us that our axion EFT has to be modified. A way to restore the gauge invariance is to introduce a Stückelberg field  $\phi$  into the Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\left(\bar{j}_e + \frac{e^2 a}{4\pi^2 v_a} j_m\right) \cdot \left(A - \partial\phi\right) \,. \tag{5.9}$$

As we discussed in Chapter 4 sec. 4.5, such an extra degree of freedom  $\phi$  arises naturally while considering the case of 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles, where it plays the role of the dyon collective coordinate. Let us then consider the case where the interaction Lagrangian (5.9) corresponds to the low energy phase of a non-Abelian gauge theory. Comparing Eq. (5.9) with the  $\theta$ -term (4.36) of the low energy phase, we see that the CP-violating  $\theta$ -parameter of a non-Abelian theory is simply substituted with the axion field  $\theta \to a/v_a$ , so that the  $a(j_m \cdot A)$  operator corresponds to the  $aGG^d$  operator at high energies. This means that the coupling (5.9) describes Witten-effect induced axion interactions. Indeed, as we discussed in Chapter 3 sec. 3.2, one expects the Witten-effect kind of coupling between axions and monopoles whenever one considers the spontaneously broken symmetry phase of a high energy non-Abelian theory with  $aGG^d$  term.

Contrary to the three anomalous axion couplings described in the previous section, the coupling (5.9) does not respect the continuous shift symmetry  $a \to a + C$ , where C is an arbitrary constant. This means that the latter coupling generates a non-flat contribution to the potential for the axion field. Since the axion coupling (5.9) arises in the low energy EFT of a non-Abelian theory with  $aGG^d$  interaction, such a contribution to the axion potential is not unexpected: in fact, it has to correspond to the potential created by instantons of the high energy non-Abelian theory. As it was discussed in the end of Chapter 4 sec. 4.5, explicit calculations [50, 115] support the latter correspondence. Note, however, that contrary to the claim made in Ref. [115], additional contribution to the axion potential need not arise in *every* theory of an axion coupled to an Abelian gauge field whenever there are monopoles magnetically charged under the latter field. The axion mass is generated *not* by magnetic monopoles, but always by instantons, even if these instantons happen to live on the monopole worldvolume in the low energy EFT. Indeed, consider the simplest example of a QEMD theory (4.4) which has no extra degrees of freedom. In such a theory, there cannot exist a consistent Witten-effect induced axion coupling, although there can exist the anomalous axion-photon couplings discussed in the previous section. Thus, such a theory has both axions and magnetic monopoles interacting with the Abelian gauge field, but no axion mass is generated through these interactions, which contradicts the statement of Ref. [115]. In general, we see that the anomalous axion-photon couplings and the Witten-effect induced axion coupling are independent. The Witten-effect induced coupling arises only in theories which have instanton degrees of freedom, e.g. in the spontaneously broken symmetry phase of a high energy non-Abelian gauge theory.

#### 5.3 Axion Maxwell equations

Having analyzed different axion-photon interactions in the previous two sections, we are now ready to collect them all together in a generic axion-photon EFT Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2n^2} \Big\{ [n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)] \cdot [n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)^d] - [n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)] \cdot [n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)^d] - [n \cdot (\partial \wedge A)]^2 - [n \cdot (\partial \wedge B)]^2 \Big\} - \frac{1}{4} g_{aAA} a \operatorname{tr} \Big\{ (\partial \wedge A) (\partial \wedge A)^d \Big\} - \frac{1}{4} g_{aBB} a \operatorname{tr} \Big\{ (\partial \wedge B) (\partial \wedge B)^d \Big\} - \frac{1}{2} g_{aAB} a \operatorname{tr} \Big\{ (\partial \wedge A) (\partial \wedge B)^d \Big\} - \Big( \overline{j}_e + \frac{e^2 a}{4\pi^2 v_a} j_m^\phi \Big) \cdot (A - \partial \phi) - j_m \cdot B + \mathcal{L}_G , \quad (5.10)$$

or written in a more compact operator notation:

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4} \Big( y_{+} + \alpha_{1} + \beta_{1} - g_{aAA} \, a \, a_{-} - g_{aBB} \, a \, b_{-} - 2 \, g_{aAB} \, a \, y_{-} \Big) - \Big( \overline{j}_{e} + \frac{e^{2}a}{4\pi^{2}v_{a}} \, j_{m}^{\phi} \Big) \cdot (A - \partial\phi) - j_{m} \cdot B + \mathcal{L}_{G} \,, \quad (5.11)$$

where we denoted the part of the magnetic current  $j_m$  carrying an instanton degree of freedom  $\phi$  by  $j_m^{\phi}$ . For instance,  $j_m^{\phi}$  can correspond to a current of 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles. Let us remind the reader that  $\mathcal{L}_G$  is the gauge-fixing Lagrangian given by Eq. (4.5),  $\bar{j}_e$  is the part of the electric current which is quantized in units of elementary electric charge and  $y_+$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\beta_1$ ,  $a_-$ ,  $b_-$ ,  $y_-$  are the QEMD operators defined in sec. 4.3. Note that since we derived the Lagrangian (5.11) from general symmetry arguments, the field *a* entering our EFT need not be the QCD axion, but could as well correspond to a generic ALP.

Let us derive the classical equations of motion corresponding to the Lagrangian (5.11). For this, we follow the standard procedure outlined in Chapter 4 sec. 4.2. Varying over the two four-potentials, we obtain:

$$\frac{n \cdot \partial}{n^2} \left( n \cdot \partial A^{\mu} - \partial^{\mu} n \cdot A - n^{\mu} \partial \cdot A - \epsilon^{\mu}_{\nu\rho\sigma} n^{\nu} \partial^{\rho} B^{\sigma} \right) - g_{aAA} \partial_{\nu} a \left\{ (\partial \wedge A)^d \right\}^{\nu\mu} - g_{aAB} \partial_{\nu} a \left\{ (\partial \wedge B)^d \right\}^{\nu\mu} - \frac{e^2 a}{4\pi^2 v_a} j_m^{\phi\mu} = \bar{j}_e^{\mu} ,$$
(5.12)

$$\frac{n \cdot \partial}{n^2} \left( n \cdot \partial B^{\mu} - \partial^{\mu} n \cdot B - n^{\mu} \partial \cdot B - \epsilon^{\mu}_{\nu\rho\sigma} n^{\nu} \partial^{\rho} A^{\sigma} \right) - g_{aBB} \partial_{\nu} a \left\{ (\partial \wedge B)^d \right\}^{\nu\mu} - g_{aAB} \partial_{\nu} a \left\{ (\partial \wedge A)^d \right\}^{\nu\mu} = j_m^{\mu} .$$
(5.13)

Then, transitioning to the description in terms of the field strength tensor F, we find the following axion Maxwell equations:

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{\mu\nu} - g_{aAA} \partial_{\mu}a F^{d\,\mu\nu} + g_{aAB} \partial_{\mu}a F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{e^2 a}{4\pi^2 v_a} j_m^{\phi\,\nu} = \bar{j}_e^{\nu}, \qquad (5.14)$$

$$\partial_{\mu}F^{d\,\mu\nu} + g_{aBB}\,\partial_{\mu}a\,F^{\mu\nu} - g_{aAB}\,\partial_{\mu}a\,F^{d\,\mu\nu} = j_{m}^{\nu}\,. \tag{5.15}$$

Note that the terms proportional to  $(n \cdot \partial)^{-1} (n \wedge j_m)^{\mu\nu}$  and  $(n \cdot \partial)^{-1} (n \wedge j_e)^{\mu\nu}$  do not contribute to the classical equations of motion, as it was discussed in Chapter 4 sec. 4.2<sup>3</sup>. Eqs. (5.14) and (5.15) are to be supplemented by the following equation of motion for the axion field:

$$\left(\partial^2 - m_a^2\right)a = -\frac{1}{4} \left(g_{aAA} + g_{aBB}\right) F_{\mu\nu} F^{d\,\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{aAB} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (5.16)$$

where the right-hand side is obtained by varying the Lagrangian (5.11) with respect to the axion field and transitioning to the description in terms of the field strength tensor F. According to the discussion of the previous section, the axion mass  $m_a$ receives an additional contribution from the Witten-effect induced interaction in the case  $j_m^{\phi} \neq 0$ .

Let us now bring Eqs. (5.14), (5.15) and (5.16) into the form convenient for their experimental study. First, we set  $j_m = j_m^{\phi} = 0$ , since there are no magnetic monopoles in the laboratory. Second, we expand the electromagnetic field in powers of the anomalous axion-photon couplings  $g_{aAA}$ ,  $g_{aBB}$  and  $g_{aAB}$ , keeping only the zeroth and the first orders  $F = F_0 + F_a$ . At zeroth order, Eqs. (5.14), (5.15) and (5.16) decouple and give the ordinary Maxwell equations as well as the homogeneous Klein-Gordon equation for the axion field. At first order, Eqs. (5.14), (5.15) and (5.16)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>That such terms cannot contribute to the classical equations of motion is also clear from the fact that the interaction of axions with electromagnetic field cannot depend on the kind of currents sourcing the latter field: for instance, in a given setting the axion field could be causally disconnected from these currents. In fact, one can obtain the axion Maxwell equations (5.17), (5.18) and (5.19) by using an even simpler two-potential framework of Ref. [39] which does not involve currents at all.

yield:

$$\partial_{\mu}F_{a}^{\mu\nu} - g_{aAA} \,\partial_{\mu}a \,F_{0}^{d\,\mu\nu} + g_{aAB} \,\partial_{\mu}a \,F_{0}^{\mu\nu} = 0 \,, \qquad (5.17)$$

$$\partial_{\mu} F_{a}^{d\,\mu\nu} + g_{aBB} \,\partial_{\mu} a \,F_{0}^{\mu\nu} - g_{aAB} \,\partial_{\mu} a \,F_{0}^{d\,\mu\nu} = 0 \,, \qquad (5.18)$$

$$\left(\partial^2 - m_a^2\right)a = -\frac{1}{4} \left(g_{aAA} + g_{aBB}\right) F_{0\,\mu\nu} F_0^{d\,\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} g_{aAB} F_{0\,\mu\nu} F_0^{\mu\nu}, \quad (5.19)$$

so that  $F_a$  is an axion-induced part of the electromagnetic field sourced by the following effective electric and magnetic currents:

$$j_{e,\,\text{eff}}^{\nu} = g_{aAA} \,\partial_{\mu} a \,F_0^{d\,\mu\nu} - g_{aAB} \,\partial_{\mu} a \,F_0^{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{5.20}$$

$$j_{m,\,\text{eff}}^{\nu} = -g_{aBB} \,\partial_{\mu} a \,F_0^{\mu\nu} + g_{aAB} \,\partial_{\mu} a \,F_0^{d\,\mu\nu} \,, \tag{5.21}$$

which depend on the external field  $F_0$  created in the laboratory. Eqs. (5.20) and (5.21) extend the results of the axion EFT of Ref. [91], which yields

$$j_{e,\,\text{eff}}^{\nu} = g_{a_{AA}} \,\partial_{\mu} a \, F_0^{d\,\mu\nu} \quad \text{and} \quad j_{m,\,\text{eff}}^{\nu} = 0 \,.$$
 (5.22)

As we discussed in sec. 5.1, in an axion model with a generic spectrum of heavy PQ-charged dyons the couplings satisfy  $g_{aBB} \gg |g_{aAB}| \gg g_{aAA}$ , so that the additional terms we obtain dominate the conventional contribution to the effective currents.

Finally, in terms of electric and magnetic fields, Eqs. (5.17), (5.18) and (5.19) are given by the following expressions:

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{H}_{a} - \dot{\mathbf{E}}_{a} = g_{aAA} \left( \mathbf{E}_{0} \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} a - \dot{a} \mathbf{H}_{0} \right) + g_{aAB} \left( \mathbf{H}_{0} \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} a + \dot{a} \mathbf{E}_{0} \right) , \quad (5.23)$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E}_{a} + \dot{\mathbf{H}}_{a} = -g_{aBB} \left( \mathbf{H}_{0} \times \nabla a + \dot{a} \mathbf{E}_{0} \right) - g_{aAB} \left( \mathbf{E}_{0} \times \nabla a - \dot{a} \mathbf{H}_{0} \right) , \quad (5.24)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{H}_{a} = -g_{aBB} \, \mathbf{E}_{0} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} a + g_{aAB} \, \mathbf{H}_{0} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} a \,, \qquad (5.25)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{E}_a = g_{aAA} \, \mathbf{H}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} a - g_{aAB} \, \mathbf{E}_0 \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} a \,, \tag{5.26}$$

$$\left(\partial^2 - m_a^2\right)a = \left(g_{aAA} + g_{aBB}\right)\mathbf{E}_0 \cdot \mathbf{H}_0 + g_{aAB}\left(\mathbf{E}_0^2 - \mathbf{H}_0^2\right), \qquad (5.27)$$

where  $\mathbf{E}_a$  and  $\mathbf{H}_a$  are axion-induced electric and magnetic fields, while  $\mathbf{E}_0$  and  $\mathbf{H}_0$  are background electric and magnetic fields created in the detector. Note that to study the propagation of light with Eqs. (5.23)–(5.27), it is convenient not to perform the expansion of the electromagnetic fields  $\mathbf{E}_{\gamma}$  and  $\mathbf{H}_{\gamma}$ , in which case the equations are the same, but with the substitutions  $\mathbf{E}_{a}, \mathbf{E}_{0} \rightarrow \mathbf{E}_{\gamma}$  and  $\mathbf{H}_{a}, \mathbf{H}_{0} \rightarrow \mathbf{H}_{\gamma}$ .

This Chapter is written based on the publication [1] of the author of this thesis.
# Chapter 6

# General hadronic axion

# 6.1 KSVZ-like models are intrinsically biased

Normally, construction of the KSVZ-like axion models proceeds as follows. One introduces a complex scalar field  $\Phi$ , which breaks the  $U(1)_{PQ}$  symmetry spontaneously after relaxing to its non-zero vacuum expectation value  $v_a/\sqrt{2}$ . For consistency with observations,  $v_a$  must correspond to some high energy scale. Moreover, in order to solve the strong CP problem, the  $U(1)_{PQ}$  symmetry has to be color anomalous. This is achieved via introducing a new vector-like colored fermion  $\psi = \psi_L + \psi_R$ , so that  $U(1)_{PQ}$  acts differently on the two chirality components of  $\psi$ . These requirements lead naturally to the following Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L} \supset i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi + y\left(\Phi\,\bar{\psi}_{L}\psi_{R} + \text{h.c.}\right) - \lambda_{\Phi}\left(\left|\Phi\right|^{2} - \frac{v_{a}^{2}}{2}\right)^{2},\tag{6.1}$$

where y and  $\lambda_{\Phi}$  are some dimensionless constants and  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}$  is a covariant derivative encoding the interaction of  $\psi$  with the gauge fields of the Standard model. Note that as a result of the spontaneous symmetry breaking  $\psi$  gets a mass  $m = yv_a/\sqrt{2}$ , which is very large for reasonable values of y. What remains as a low energy degree of freedom is a pseudo Nambu-Goldstone boson of the spontaneous symmetry breaking a – the axion – which can be thought of as an angular mode of  $\Phi$ . The axion interacts with the gauge fields of the Standard model through loops of  $\psi$ . In particular, as it was discussed in Chapter 2, at low energies where the relevant gauge bosons are photons and gluons, these interactions are given by the axion field times the expressions for axial electromagnetic and color anomalies, respectively, with some coefficients:

$$\mathcal{L}_{a} \supset -\frac{1}{4} g^{0}_{a\gamma\gamma} a F^{\mu\nu} F^{d}_{\mu\nu} - \frac{ag^{2}_{s}}{32\pi^{2} f_{a}} G^{a\,\mu\nu} G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (6.2)$$

where

$$f_a = \frac{v_a}{2N}, \quad g^0_{a\gamma\gamma} = \frac{E}{N} \cdot \frac{e^2}{8\pi^2 f_a}, \qquad (6.3)$$

and the parameters E and N are called electromagnetic and color anomaly coefficients, respectively. They depend on the representation of  $\psi$  under the gauge symmetries of the Standard model. Since the latter representation is unknown, Eand N can in principle vary considerably, which gives rise to an uncertainty in the parameter  $g^0_{a\gamma\gamma}$  [124]. This uncertainty translates into a band on the plot of possible axion-photon couplings  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  versus axion mass  $m_a$ , see fig. 6.1, due to the following relations<sup>1</sup>:

$$g_{a\gamma\gamma} = g_{a\gamma\gamma}^{0} - \frac{e^{2}}{12\pi^{2}f_{a}} \cdot \frac{4m_{d} + m_{u}}{m_{u} + m_{d}}, \quad m_{a} = \frac{m_{\pi}f_{\pi}\sqrt{m_{u}m_{d}}}{(m_{u} + m_{d})f_{a}}.$$
 (6.4)

Let us now elaborate why the construction presented in the previous paragraph contains an implicit far-reaching assumption. While allowing the new heavy fermion  $\psi$  to be charged under any possible gauge symmetry at hand is indeed the most generic option, it is not consistently implemented in the KSVZ-like models. The reason is that these models consider only electric representations of the gauge groups. Meanwhile, as it was shown back in 1931 by Dirac [21], gauge interactions in the quantum theory need not be limited to the electric ones: gauge charges can be electric as well as magnetic. Although we do not see magnetic charges at low energies, their existence is actually indirectly evidenced by the quantization of the electric charge observed in nature. Indeed, as Dirac found, quantum theory requires that the electric gauge charge e is related to the magnetic one g as follows:  $eg = 2\pi n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , so that the charges are quantized. Moreover, as it was advocated in ref. [23] and mentioned in Chapter 1, there is a mounting evidence supporting the conjecture that charge quantization is not only a necessary but also a sufficient condition for the magnetic monopoles to exist. Quantum field theory coupled to gravity suggests that any possible electric or magnetic charge should have a physical realization. The

 $<sup>{}^{1}</sup>m_{u}, m_{d}, m_{\pi}$  are masses of u-quark, d-quark and pion, respectively;  $f_{\pi}$  is pion decay constant.

construction of KSVZ-like models is thus too restrictive, so that the gauge charges assigned to the heavy fermion  $\psi$  are not generic and the resulting predictions for axion couplings are biased.

# 6.2 Axion-photon coupling from the axial anomaly of magnetic currents

Let us now relax the above-mentioned assumption on the representations of the heavy fermion  $\psi$  under the gauge groups of the Standard model and consider a truly generic setting. In this setting,  $\psi$  is a dyon, i.e. a particle carrying both electric and magnetic charges. We limit our investigation to axion phenomenology at low energies, so that the relevant gauge interactions are electromagnetic and color ones. For simplicity, in this section we do not consider the case where  $\psi$  has a color magnetic charge, which is studied in detail later in this Chapter. Since this means we do not modify the strong sector of the model, phenomenology of the strong interactions of axions is fully analogous to the one in the KSVZ model: in particular, the strong CP problem is solved and the relation between axion mass  $m_a$  and decay constant  $f_a$  is standard. What is modified are axion-photon interactions. Let us proceed to derive the latter interactions from the UV theory with the Lagrangian given by eq. (6.1). As it was shown by Zwanziger [40], a local quantum field theory with both electric and magnetic charges necessarily involves two vector-potentials,  $A_{\mu}$  and  $B_{\mu}$ , each having the standard coupling to the corresponding current, electric or magnetic, respectively. The covariant derivative entering eq. (6.1) is thus  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu} =$  $\partial_{\mu} - e_0 q_e A_{\mu} - g_0 q_m B_{\mu}$ , where  $e_0 = e/3$  and  $g_0$  are elementary electric and magnetic charges, respectively. Due to the Dirac quantization condition,  $g_0 = 2\pi/e_0$ .

Below the PQ symmetry breaking scale, one can expand

$$\Phi = (v_a + \rho) \exp\left(ia/v_a\right)/\sqrt{2}, \qquad (6.5)$$

where  $\rho$  is a heavy radial mode and a is a pseudo Nambu-Goldstone boson (axion). The terms in the resulting Lagrangian which are relevant for the low energy phenomenology are:

$$\mathcal{L} \supset i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi + \frac{yv_{a}}{\sqrt{2}}\left\{\exp\left(\frac{ia}{v_{a}}\right)\bar{\psi}_{L}\psi_{R} + \text{h.c.}\right\}.$$
(6.6)

We perform then an axial rotation of the fermion  $\psi \to \exp(ia\gamma_5/2v_a)\cdot\psi$ , after which there arise an anomalous term  $\mathcal{L}_{\rm F}$  from the transformation of the measure of the path integral and a derivative coupling of a to the axial current of  $\psi$ :

$$\mathcal{L} \supset i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi + \frac{yv_{a}}{\sqrt{2}}\,\bar{\psi}\psi - \frac{\partial^{\mu}a}{2v_{a}}\,\bar{\psi}\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{5}\psi - \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{F}}\,.$$
(6.7)

The axial anomaly in a theory with dyons was found in ref. [111], from where one infers the expression for the anomalous term:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm F} = \frac{a \cdot d(C_{\psi})}{16\pi^2 v_a} \cdot \left\{ \left( e_0^2 q_e^2 - g_0^2 q_m^2 \right) F^{\mu\nu} F^d_{\mu\nu} - 4\pi q_m q_e F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} \right\}.$$
(6.8)

The dimension  $d(C_{\psi})$  of the color representation of  $\psi$  in the numerator on the righthand side comes from summing over the color indices. We corrected a mistake which crawled into the coefficient of the last term on the right-hand side in the original expression for the anomalous current in ref. [111]. This term is CP-violating and arises only if there is CP-violation in the UV theory. As it was shown in Chapter 4, a generic theory with dyons does violate CP, unless for any dyon with charges  $(q_e,$  $q_m)$  there is another dyon with charges  $(q_e, -q_m)$ . Anyway, be there CP-violation or not, it is easy to see that the second term on the right-hand side of eq. (6.8) dominates over all other terms: if we assume  $q_e, q_m \sim 1$ , its coefficient is by a factor of  $4\pi^2/e_0^4$  larger than the coefficient in front of the first term and by a factor of  $\pi/e_0^2$  – than the coefficient in front of the third term. At the leading order, as long as  $m = yv_a/\sqrt{2}$  is very large, the derivative axion coupling from eq. (6.7) does not contribute to the low energy Lagrangian of axion-photon interactions, for the same reason as in the KSVZ-like models<sup>2</sup>. The leading effect in the interactions between axion and photons is thus given by the following Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L}_{a\gamma} = \frac{1}{4} \,\tilde{g}_{a\gamma\gamma} \, aF^{\mu\nu} F^d_{\mu\nu}, \quad \tilde{g}_{a\gamma\gamma} = \frac{q_m^2 \, d(C_\psi) \, g_0^2}{4\pi^2 v_a} \,, \tag{6.9}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The reason is the behaviour of the Ward identities for the correlation functions which involve the axial current of  $\psi$  in the limit  $m \to \infty$ .

where we took into account that the contribution to the axion-photon coupling  $\tilde{g}_{a\gamma\gamma}$ from the strong sector, see eq. (6.4), is now absolutely negligible. The axion-photon coupling can be rewritten in terms of the magnetic anomaly coefficients  $M_{\psi}$ :

$$\tilde{g}_{a\gamma\gamma} = \frac{M}{N} \cdot \frac{g_0^2}{8\pi^2 f_a}, \quad M = \sum_{\psi} M_{\psi} = \sum_{\psi} q_m^2(\psi) \cdot d(C_{\psi}), \quad (6.10)$$

where  $q_m(\psi) \in \mathbb{Z}$  are magnetic charges of new heavy fermions  $\psi$ .

The effective axion-photon Lagrangian (6.8) is however not fully satisfactory, as it seems to lack the axion shift symmetry  $a \rightarrow a + 2\pi n v_a$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The reason for this is simple. As it was argued in Chapter 3, to obtain reliable EFT from the UV model containing magnetic monopoles and dyons, one has to stick to the QEMD formalism discussed in Chapter 4 until the very end of the calculation. In fact, the fully consistent EFT derived from the Zwanziger theory has to contain two fourpotentials, not one as in Eq. (6.8). Let us proceed to the next section where we derive the effective Lagrangian using the Zwanziger theory from start till finish and show that the relevant anomaly coefficients are given by the expressions derived in this section.

### 6.3 Calculation of the anomaly coefficients

Let us calculate the anomaly coefficients E, M and D, which enter the expressions (5.3), (5.4) and (5.6) for the axion-photon couplings. We start with a highenergy QEMD theory and integrate out heavy fermions  $\psi$  carrying PQ charges. In the PQ-symmetric phase, the Lagrangian includes the following terms for each of the fermions  $\psi$ :

$$\mathcal{L} \supset i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi + y\left(\Phi\,\bar{\psi}_{L}\psi_{R} + \text{h.c.}\right)\,,\tag{6.11}$$

where y is a dimensionless Yukawa constant,  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - e_0 q_{\psi} A_{\mu} - g_0 g_{\psi} B_{\mu}$  is a covariant derivative including both magnetic and electric four-potentials multiplied by the corresponding electric and magnetic charges, and  $\Phi$  is the PQ complex scalar field. As in the previous section, for energies below the PQ scale, we expand

$$\Phi = (v_a + \rho) \exp\left(ia/v_a\right)/\sqrt{2}, \qquad (6.12)$$

perform an axial rotation of the fermion  $\psi$ , and obtain

$$\mathcal{L} \supset i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\mathcal{D}_{\mu}\psi + \frac{yv_{a}}{\sqrt{2}}\bar{\psi}\psi - \frac{\partial^{\mu}a}{2v_{a}}\bar{\psi}\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{5}\psi - \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{F}}.$$
(6.13)

The fermion  $\psi$  gets its mass  $m = yv_a/\sqrt{2}$ , which we assume to be large compared to the energy scales probed in experiments. In the large m limit, the derivative axion coupling from eq. (6.13) does not contribute to the low energy Lagrangian of axion-photon interactions due to the Sutherland-Veltman theorem [125, 126]. The axion-photon couplings are thus given by the anomalous terms  $\mathcal{L}_{\rm F}$  which can be calculated using the Fujikawa method [127]. In particular, following Fujikawa, we apply the gauge invariant heat kernel regularization to the path integral measure which yields:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm F} = -\frac{a}{v_a} \cdot \lim_{\substack{\Lambda \to \infty \\ x \to y}} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \gamma_5 \exp\left( \mathcal{D}^2 / \Lambda^2 \right) \delta^4(x - y) \right\}.$$
(6.14)

We then notice that the commutators eqs. (4.1) and (4.2) vanish if the four-potentials are taken at the same space-time point. This means that these commutators do not contribute to the expression for  $\mathcal{P}^2$ , which becomes:

$$\mathcal{D}^2 = \mathcal{D}^2 - i\gamma_\mu\gamma_\nu \left(e_0 q_\psi \,\partial^\mu A^\nu + g_0 g_\psi \,\partial^\mu B^\nu\right). \tag{6.15}$$

It is then convenient to express the delta-function as a superposition of plane waves:  $\delta^4(x-y) = \int d^4k \, e^{ik(x-y)} / (2\pi)^4$ , each of which shifts the derivative operator  $\mathcal{D}_{\mu} \to \mathcal{D}_{\mu} + ik_{\mu}$ . Taking into account eq. (6.15), we obtain:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm F} = -\frac{a}{v_a} \cdot \lim_{\Lambda \to \infty} \int \frac{d^4k}{\left(2\pi\right)^4} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \gamma_5 \exp\left(-i\gamma_\mu \gamma_\nu \left(e_0 q_\psi \,\partial^\mu A^\nu + g_0 g_\psi \,\partial^\mu B^\nu\right) / \Lambda^2 + \left(\mathcal{D} + ik\right)^2 / \Lambda^2\right) \right\} \,. \tag{6.16}$$

Any terms in the integrand which are  $o(1/\Lambda^4)$  vanish after performing the integration

and sending  $\Lambda \to \infty$ . Taylor expanding the exponent, we are then left with a finite number of terms, which after taking the trace, the integral and the limit simplify into:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm F} = \frac{a \, d(C_{\psi})}{8\pi^2 v_a} \cdot \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \Big( e_0 q_{\psi} \, \partial^{\mu} A^{\nu} + g_0 g_{\psi} \, \partial^{\mu} B^{\nu} \Big) \left( e_0 q_{\psi} \, \partial^{\lambda} A^{\rho} + g_0 g_{\psi} \, \partial^{\lambda} B^{\rho} \right), \quad (6.17)$$

where  $d(C_{\psi})$  is the dimension of the color representation of  $\psi$ . Using the notations of sec. 4, eq. (6.17) can be rewritten as follows:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{F}} = -\frac{a \, d(C_{\psi})}{16\pi^2 v_a} \cdot \left(q_{\psi}^2 e_0^2 \operatorname{tr}\left\{\left(\partial \wedge A\right) \left(\partial \wedge A\right)^d\right\} + g_{\psi}^2 g_0^2 \operatorname{tr}\left\{\left(\partial \wedge B\right) \left(\partial \wedge B\right)^d\right\} + 2 \, q_{\psi} g_{\psi} \, e_0 g_0 \operatorname{tr}\left\{\left(\partial \wedge A\right) \left(\partial \wedge B\right)^d\right\}\right). \quad (6.18)$$

If there are multiple dyons  $\psi$ , each of them gives a similar contribution to the resulting axion-photon Lagrangian. Thus, the expressions for the axion-photon couplings  $g_{aAA}, g_{aBB}, g_{aAB}$  and the corresponding anomaly coefficients E, M, D are:

$$g_{aAA} = \frac{Ee_0^2}{4\pi^2 v_a}, \quad E = \sum_{\psi} q_{\psi}^2 \cdot d(C_{\psi}) , \qquad (6.19)$$

$$g_{aBB} = \frac{Mg_0^2}{4\pi^2 v_a}, \quad M = \sum_{\psi} g_{\psi}^2 \cdot d(C_{\psi}) , \qquad (6.20)$$

$$g_{aAB} = \frac{De_0g_0}{4\pi^2 v_a}, \quad D = \sum_{\psi} q_{\psi}g_{\psi} \cdot d(C_{\psi}).$$
 (6.21)

Note that these expressions for the anomaly coefficients agree with the results of the previous section.

# 6.4 Solution to the strong CP problem

Now that we derived the effective Lagrangian and explicit expressions for the axionphoton couplings in the case of Abelian magnetic charges, it is time to consider the case where the heavy magnetic monopoles carry also non-Abelian magnetic charges, in particular if they are magnetically charged under the  $SU(3)_c$  of QCD. We remind the reader that we had a general discussion of the non-Abelian magnetic monopoles in Chapter 1 sec. 1.3. Suppose there exist a vector-like fermionic magnetic monopole  $\psi = \psi_L + \psi_R$ which transforms under an anomalous PQ symmetry  $U(1)_{PQ}$  [6,7] and a complex scalar field  $\Phi$  which breaks the PQ symmetry spontaneously at some high energy scale  $v_a$ . For a moment, assume that  $\psi$  transforms in a fundamental representation of the QCD gauge group, i.e. it is a new quark. As far as we do not consider the electromagnetic interaction, such model with a new quark is an exact analog of the KSVZ axion model and thus it provides a solution to the strong CP problem in the same way the KSVZ model does. The aim of this section is then to show that the model with the non-Abelian color-magnetic monopole solves the strong CP problem as well. The high-energy Lagrangian in this case includes the following terms:

$$\mathcal{L} \supset i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi + \bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}C_{\mu}\psi + y\left(\Phi\,\bar{\psi}_{L}\psi_{R} + \text{h.c.}\right) - \lambda_{\Phi}\left(|\Phi|^{2} - \frac{v_{a}^{2}}{2}\right)^{2}, \qquad (6.22)$$

where  $C_{\mu}$  is a connection on a GNO group SU(3) multiplied by the corresponding magnetic coupling:  $C_{\mu} = g_{\rm m} t_a C_{\mu}^a$ . In the broken phase, there exists a pseudo Goldstone boson a (axion), which can be introduced via the polar decomposition of the PQ scalar field  $\Phi = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (v_a + \sigma) \cdot \exp(-ia/v_a)$  near the vacuum. Let us dispose of the axion dependence in the Yukawa term by performing a chiral rotation of the fermions  $\psi \to \exp(ia\gamma_5/2v_a) \cdot \psi$ . Omitting the terms containing a heavy radial field  $\sigma$ , one then obtains:

$$\mathcal{L} \supset i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi + \bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}C_{\mu}\psi + \frac{yv_{a}}{\sqrt{2}}\,\bar{\psi}\psi - \frac{\partial^{\mu}a}{2v_{a}}\,\bar{\psi}\gamma_{\mu}\gamma_{5}\psi + \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{F}}, \qquad (6.23)$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_{\rm F}$  is a Fujikawa contribution coming from the transformation of the fermion measure in the path integral, i.e. the density of the index of the Dirac operator  $\gamma^{\mu}D_{\mu} = \gamma^{\mu}(\partial_{\mu} - C_{\mu})$ . By the Atiyah-Singer index theorem, the latter is equal to the characteristic class of the GNO group bundle, so that:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm F} = \frac{a}{16\pi^2 v_a} \operatorname{tr} C^{\mu\nu} C^d_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (6.24)$$

where  $C_{\mu\nu}$  is the curvature of the GNO group connection and  $C^{d}_{\mu\nu} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} C^{\lambda\rho}/2$ ,  $\epsilon^{0123} \equiv 1$ .

In order to see that such a model provides a solution to the strong CP problem,

we invoke Abelian gauge fixing introduced by 't Hooft [128]. In the Abelian gauges there arise singularities corresponding to effective color magnetic currents which result in the violation of the non-Abelian Bianchi identities (VNABI) [129]. The time reversal violating term of the QCD action can then be expanded as follows:

$$\mathcal{S}_{\text{QCD}} \supset -\frac{\bar{\theta}g_s^2}{32\pi^2} \int d^4x \sum_{a=1}^8 G^{a\,\mu\nu}G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\bar{\theta}g_s^2}{32\pi^2} \times \left\{ \int d^4x \,\epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \,\partial^\mu \sum_{a,b,c=1}^8 \left( A^\nu_a \,G^{\lambda\rho}_a - \frac{1}{3} \,g_s f_{abc} \,A^\nu_a A^\lambda_b A^\rho_c \right) - 2 \int d^4x \,\sum_{a=1}^8 A^a_\nu \left( D_\mu G^{d\,\mu\nu} \right)_a \right\}, \quad (6.25)$$

where  $G^a_{\mu\nu}$   $(A^a_{\mu})$  are components of the non-Abelian field strength tensor  $G_{\mu\nu}$  (fourpotential  $A_{\mu}$ ) of QCD,  $f_{abc}$  are  $\mathfrak{su}(3)$  structure constants,  $\bar{\theta}$  is QCD vacuum angle,  $G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} G^{a\,\lambda\rho}/2$ .

Let us consider the first term on the right-hand side of Eq. (6.25). Since all the singularities characteristic of the Abelian 't Hooft gauges arise in the diagonal part of the gluon field, i.e. in the components  $A^3_{\mu}$  and  $A^8_{\mu}$ , the terms of the integrand which contain solely off-diagonal fields can be safely integrated with the use of the Stokes theorem:

$$\int d^4x \ \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \partial^{\mu} \sum_{a,b,c=1}^{8} \left( A^{\nu}_a G^{\lambda\rho}_a - \frac{1}{3} g_s f_{abc} A^{\nu}_a A^{\lambda}_b A^{\rho}_c \right) =$$

$$\int d^4x \ \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \partial^{\mu} \sum_{\alpha=3,8} \sum_{b,c=1}^{8} \left( A^{\nu}_{\alpha} \mathscr{G}^{\lambda\rho}_{\alpha} + 2 g_s f_{\alpha b c} A^{\nu}_{\alpha} A^{\lambda}_b A^{\rho}_c \right) + \int_{\Omega_{\infty}} dS^{\mu} \,\mathfrak{K}_{\mu} \left[ A_{\text{off-diag}} \right], \qquad (6.26)$$

where  $\mathscr{G}^{\mu\nu}_{\alpha} = \partial^{\mu}A^{\nu}_{\alpha} - \partial^{\nu}A^{\mu}_{\alpha}$  ( $\alpha = 3, 8$ ) are Abelian field strength tensors. As it is derived both from theoretical considerations [130] and lattice calculations [131], in the Abelian gauges off-diagonal gluons obtain finite mass, which means that the functional  $\mathfrak{K}_{\mu}$  [ $A_{\text{off-diag}}$ ] vanishes at the surface at infinity,  $\Omega_{\infty}$ . For the same reason the integrand in Eq. (6.26) proportional to  $\partial^{\mu}(A^{\nu}_{\alpha}A^{\lambda}_{b}A^{\rho}_{c})$  is restricted to arbitrarily small surfaces around the singularities after application of the Stokes theorem and finally integrates to zero due to regularity of the off-diagonal fields.

Equation (6.25) can now be rewritten in the following way:

$$\int d^4x \sum_{a=1}^8 G^{a\,\mu\nu} G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu} = \int d^4x \sum_{\alpha=3,8} \mathscr{G}^{\alpha\,\mu\nu} \mathscr{G}^{d\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu} +$$

$$2\int d^4x \left(\sum_{\alpha=3,8} A_{\alpha\,\nu}\partial_{\mu}\mathcal{G}^{d\,\mu\nu}_{\alpha} - \sum_{a=1}^8 A_{a\,\nu} \left(D_{\mu}G^{d\,\mu\nu}\right)_a\right). \tag{6.27}$$

Let us show that the VNABI,  $D_{\mu}G^{d\,\mu\nu}$ , is diagonal in color space, so that the second row in Eq. (6.27) equals to zero. First, note that the only contribution to VNABI comes from singularities, where topological defects associated with the monopoles hamper commutation of partial derivatives, so that in the expression for a commutator of covariant derivatives,

$$[D_{\rho}, D_{\lambda}] = -iG_{\rho\lambda} + [\partial_{\rho}, \partial_{\lambda}], \qquad (6.28)$$

the second term on the right does not vanish. After taking advantage of Eq. (6.28) and Jacobi identities for partial as well as covariant derivatives, the expression for VNABI can be simplified [132]:

$$D_{\mu}G^{d\,\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} \left[ D^{\mu}, G^{\rho\lambda} \right] = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} \left[ \partial^{\rho}, \partial^{\lambda} \right] A^{\mu} = \partial_{\rho} \mathscr{G}^{d\,\rho\nu}, \tag{6.29}$$

where in the last step only diagonal gluons survive. One can see that the diagonal form of VNABI is ensured by its linearity in the  $A_{\mu}$  field. We note that the second term on the right-hand side of Eq. (6.25) is then nothing but a manifestation of the Witten effect [104]: QCD monopoles are dyons with color electric charges proportional to the vacuum angle  $\bar{\theta}$ .

Due to the identities Eqs. (6.27) and (6.29) the CP violating term of the QCD Lagrangian reduces in the Abelian gauges to

$$-\frac{\bar{\theta}g_s^2}{32\pi^2}\sum_{\alpha=3,8}\mathscr{G}^{\alpha\,\mu\nu}\mathscr{G}^{d\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu},\qquad(6.30)$$

which involves now only Abelian four-potentials. By the analogous transformation of the Fujikawa contribution (6.24) to the axion Lagrangian (6.23), i.e. choosing the same Abelian gauge in the GNO gauge group, one obtains the term for the interaction of the axion with the Abelian dual four-potentials:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm F} = \frac{a g_{\rm m}^2}{32\pi^2 v_a} \sum_{\alpha=3,8} C^{\alpha\,\mu\nu} C^{d\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (6.31)$$

where the axion field is assumed to be constant and homogeneous, since this is a vacuum expectation value of it which is a key to the PQ mechanism. Now that we have abelianized the relevant terms, we are in the realm of the Zwanziger theory, so that the electric and magnetic four-potentials can be related due to the dual symmetry<sup>3</sup>,  $C^{\alpha}_{\mu\nu} = \mathscr{G}^{d\alpha}_{\mu\nu}$ , which yields:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{QCD}} \supset -\frac{v_a g_s^2 \bar{\theta} + a g_m^2}{32\pi^2 v_a} \sum_{\alpha=3,8} \mathscr{G}^{\alpha\,\mu\nu} \mathscr{G}_{\mu\nu}^{d\,\alpha} \,. \tag{6.32}$$

Physically, this is just an instantiation of the fact that the U(1) electric and magnetic fields enter the expressions (6.30) and (6.31) symmetrically, as products  $\vec{E} \cdot \vec{B}$ . The standard PQ mechanism is now in order: redefinition of the pseudo Goldstone axion field  $a \rightarrow a - v_a \bar{\theta} g_s^2 / g_m^2$  absorbs the  $\bar{\theta}$ -term into the axion-gluon term and subsequent application of the Vafa-Witten theorem [133] ensures  $\langle a \rangle = 0$ . The strong CP problem is thus solved.

### 6.5 Calculation of the effective Lagrangian

Let us return to the original Lagrangian (6.22) and derive the corresponding low energy physical phenomena. For that, we use a linear decomposition of the PQ field,  $\Phi = (v_a + \sigma + ia)/\sqrt{2}$ , where *a* is a pseudo Goldstone axion field.<sup>4</sup> Below the PQ scale, the field  $\sigma$  decouples and we are left with the Lagrangian involving axion and heavy monopoles:

$$\mathcal{L} \supset i\bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi + \bar{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}C_{\mu}\psi + \frac{yv_{a}}{\sqrt{2}}\bar{\psi}\psi + \frac{iy}{\sqrt{2}}a\bar{\psi}\gamma_{5}\psi, \qquad (6.33)$$

where  $C_{\mu}$  now also includes the electromagnetic four-potential and corresponds in general to the connection on either of the two GNO gauge groups, Abelian or non-Abelian, discussed in Chapter 1 sec. 1.3. The aim of this section is to integrate out the heavy field  $\psi$ . The beauty of the pseudoscalar interaction is that in this case

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The existence of the Standard model quarks – given the absence of their magnetic partners – obviously violates the electric-magnetic symmetry of this  $U(1)^2$  Zwanziger-like theory. However, these quarks are known to be massive. This means they have no relevance for the instanton vacuum effects which are responsible for the generation of the  $\bar{\theta}$ -term

 $<sup>{}^{4}\</sup>sigma$  and *a* introduced here are different from the fields denoted by the same letters in Sec. 6.4, but there should be no confusion, since different notations are restricted to different sections.

the calculations can be done exactly, without the need of perturbative expansion in the coupling constant. In order to get an effective Lagrangian at low energy we use the proper time method [134] developed by Schwinger. The effective pseudoscalar current is

$$J_a = i \left\langle C \left| \bar{\psi}(x) \gamma_5 \psi(x) \right| C \right\rangle = -i \frac{y v_a}{\sqrt{2}} \int_0^\infty ds \, e^{-isy^2 v_a^2/2} \operatorname{tr} \left[ \left\langle x \right| \gamma_5 e^{-i\hat{H}s} \right| x \right\rangle \right], \quad (6.34)$$

with the proper time Hamiltonian

$$\hat{H} = -\left(\not p - \not C(\hat{x})\right)^2 = -\left(\dot p_\mu - C_\mu(\hat{x})\right)^2 + \frac{1}{2}\,\sigma^{\mu\nu}C_{\mu\nu}(\hat{x})\,,\tag{6.35}$$

where  $\sigma_{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{2} [\gamma_{\mu}, \gamma_{\nu}], \ C_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}C_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}C_{\mu} + [C_{\mu}, C_{\nu}] \text{ and } \notin \equiv a_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu}.$ 

First, our goal is to evaluate the matrix element entering Eq. (6.34), which modulo  $\gamma_5$  denotes the probability amplitude of returning to the same point  $x^{\mu}$ in Minkowski space after proper time s. Note that since we are interested in the phenomenology at energies much less than the PQ scale  $v_a$  and the fluctuations of heavy fields  $\psi$  are possible only at the spatial and temporal extent  $\sim v_a^{-1}$ , external gauge fields in the following calculation can be considered constant. Our calculation of the pseudoscalar current then closely follows that performed by Schwinger [134], although we are considering a generic non-Abelian GNO group connection instead of the electromagnetic four-potential. We solve the Heisenberg equations of motion in a constant field  $C_{\mu\nu}$ ,

$$\frac{d\hat{\pi}_{\mu}}{ds} = i \left[\hat{H}, \hat{\pi}_{\mu}\right] = 2 C_{\mu\nu} \hat{\pi}^{\nu}, \qquad (6.36)$$

$$\frac{d\hat{x}_{\mu}}{ds} = i \left[ \hat{H}, \hat{x}_{\mu} \right] = 2 \,\hat{\pi}_{\mu} \,, \tag{6.37}$$

and find the generalized momentum  $\hat{\pi}_{\mu} = \hat{p}_{\mu} - C_{\mu}$  and position  $\hat{x}_{\mu}$  as a function of proper time s:

$$\hat{\pi}_{\mu}(s) = e^{2s C_{\mu\nu}} \,\hat{\pi}^{\nu}(0) \,, \tag{6.38}$$

$$\hat{x}_{\mu}(s) = \hat{x}_{\mu}(0) + 2\left(C^{\mu\lambda}\right)^{-1} \cdot e^{sC^{\lambda\nu}} \sinh sC_{\nu\rho} \cdot \hat{\pi}^{\rho}(0) \,. \tag{6.39}$$

Next, with the use of Eqs. (6.38) and (6.39) we rewrite the Hamiltonian (6.35) in

terms of position operators  $\hat{x}_{\mu}(s)$  and  $\hat{x}_{\mu}(0)$ :

$$\hat{H} \supset -\frac{1}{4} \left(\sinh s C_{\kappa\lambda}\right)^{-1} C_{\lambda\nu} C^{\nu\rho} \left(\sinh s C^{\rho\sigma}\right)^{-1} \times \left[\hat{x}_{\kappa}(s), \hat{x}^{\sigma}(0)\right] + \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{\mu\nu} C^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (6.40)$$

leaving only the terms that do not vanish after taking the matrix element

$$\langle x(0)|\hat{H}|x(s)\rangle \propto \langle x(0)|x(s)\rangle.$$
 (6.41)

Note that the exponents coming from Eqs. (6.38), (6.39) contract into the identity matrix due to antisymmetricity of the field strength tensor  $C_{\mu\nu}$ . The commutator in Eq. (6.40) is easily calculated with the help of Eq. (6.39) and canonical commutation relations. Since the Hamiltonian (6.40) is a generator of proper time translations, one can write now a differential equation for the sought-after matrix element:

$$i\partial_s \langle x(0)|x(s)\rangle = \langle x(0)|\hat{H}|x(s)\rangle = \langle x(0)|x(s)\rangle \times \left\{\frac{i}{2}C_{\mu\nu}\coth sC^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{\mu\nu}C^{\mu\nu}\right\}.$$
 (6.42)

The solution is:

$$\langle x(0)|x(s)\rangle = A \frac{\operatorname{pf} C_{\alpha\beta}}{\operatorname{pf} \sinh s C_{\alpha\beta}} \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{is}{2}\sigma_{\mu\nu}C^{\mu\nu}\right), \qquad (6.43)$$

where  $A = -i/(4\pi)^2$  is an integration constant which is calculated by matching with the elementary case of vanishing field strength  $\mathscr{G}^{\alpha} = 0$ . A skew-symmetric four-by-four matrix has two pairs of opposite sign eigenvalues, which we denote as  $\pm \Lambda_1, \pm \Lambda_2$  in the particular case of  $C_{\alpha\beta}$ . The trace entering Eq. (6.34) can be now rewritten in the following form:

$$\operatorname{tr}\left[\langle x|\gamma_{5}e^{-i\hat{H}s}|x\rangle\right] = -\frac{i}{16\pi^{2}}\operatorname{tr}_{c}\left[\frac{\Lambda_{1}\Lambda_{2}}{\sinh s\Lambda_{1}\sinh s\Lambda_{2}}\times\right]$$
$$\operatorname{tr}_{\gamma}\left\{\gamma_{5}\exp\left(-\frac{is}{2}\sigma_{\mu\nu}C^{\mu\nu}\right)\right\},\quad(6.44)$$

where we have explicitly separated traces over colour  $(tr_c)$  and spinor  $(tr_{\gamma})$  indices.

Sums over the spinor indices can be performed using simple algebraic relations, namely  $(\sigma_{\mu\nu}C^{\mu\nu})^2 = 8I_1 + 8i\gamma_5 I_2$ ,  $\gamma_5^2 = 1$ , tr $\gamma_5 = \text{tr} \sigma_{\mu\nu} = \text{tr} \gamma_5 \sigma_{\mu\nu} = 0$ , where  $I_1 \equiv C_{\mu\nu}C^{\mu\nu}/4$ ,  $I_2 \equiv \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} C^{\mu\nu}C^{\lambda\rho}/8$ :

$$\operatorname{tr}_{\gamma}\left\{\gamma_{5}\exp\left(-\frac{is}{2}\sigma_{\mu\nu}C^{\mu\nu}\right)\right\} = 4i\operatorname{Im}\cosh sX = 4\sinh\left(s\frac{X+X^{*}}{2}\right)\sinh\left(s\frac{X-X^{*}}{2}\right),\quad(6.45)$$

where  $X \equiv i\sqrt{2} \cdot \sqrt{I_1 + iI_2}$ . Quite conveniently, by solving the characteristic equation for the matrix  $C_{\alpha\beta}$ , which has the form  $\Lambda^4 + 2I_1\Lambda^2 - I_2^2 = 0$ , one can infer that

$$\Lambda_1 = \frac{X + X^*}{2}, \quad \Lambda_2 = \frac{X - X^*}{2}, \quad (6.46)$$

and the overall expression for the current simplifies into

$$J_a = \frac{iyv_a}{4\sqrt{2}\pi^2} \operatorname{tr}_c(I_2) \int_0^\infty ds \, e^{-isy^2 v_a^2/2} = \frac{1}{16\sqrt{2}\pi^2 y v_a} \, \epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \operatorname{tr}_c(C^{\mu\nu}C^{\lambda\rho}) \,. \tag{6.47}$$

Finally, we calculate the trace over color indices and expand in terms of the electromagnetic and color gauge fields:

$$J_{a} = \frac{1}{8\sqrt{2}\pi^{2}yv_{a}} \times \begin{cases} 3g_{1}^{2}F^{V\,\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}^{V\,d} + \frac{g_{m}^{2}}{2}\left(G^{V}\right)^{a\,\mu\nu}\left(G^{V}\right)_{\mu\nu}^{d\,a},\\ 3g_{2}^{2}F^{V\,\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}^{V\,d} + \frac{g_{s}^{2}}{2}G^{a\,\mu\nu}G_{\mu\nu}^{d\,a}, \end{cases}$$
(6.48)

where summation over a = 1...8 is implied. We also introduced notation for the dual gluon fields  $(G^V)^{a\mu\nu}$ , which are components of the connection on the color GNO group, and the dual electromagnetic field strength tensor  $F^{V\mu\nu}$ .

For concreteness, in phenomenological applications, we limit ourselves to the two minimal magnetic charge assignments: a pure Abelian magnetic monopole with a charge  $6\pi/e$  and a non-Abelian color-magnetic monopole with an Abelian magnetic charge  $2\pi/e$ , which correspond respectively to the cases m = 3 and m = 1 discussed after Eq. (1.26) in Chapter 1 sec. 1.3. For the non-Abelian case, we will consider only magnetic charges transforming in the fundamental representation of SU(3)with the coupling constant  $2\pi/g_s$ , bearing in mind that the higher representation GNO monopoles are unstable due to the Brandt-Neri-Coleman analysis [135, 136]. Thus,  $g_1 = 2\pi/e$  and  $g_2 = 6\pi/e$  are the two cases, corresponding to the stable non-Abelian monopole and the minimal Abelian one, respectively. The effective axion Lagrangian is then given by the following expression:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}} \supset \frac{y}{\sqrt{2}} a J_a = \frac{a}{16\pi^2 v_a} \times \begin{cases} \frac{3}{4\alpha^2} e^2 F^{V\,\mu\nu} F^{V\,d}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{8\alpha_s^2} g_s^2 \left(G^V\right)^{a\,\mu\nu} \left(G^V\right)^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu}, \\ \frac{27}{4\alpha^2} e^2 F^{V\,\mu\nu} F^{V\,d}_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} g_s^2 G^{a\,\mu\nu} G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu}, \end{cases}$$
(6.49)

where we introduced the fine-structure constant  $\alpha = e^2/4\pi$  and its QCD analogue  $\alpha_s = g_s^2/4\pi$ .

# 6.6 Axion couplings

#### 6.6.1 Axion couplings to gauge bosons

Let us introduce the axion decay constant  $f_a = 4\alpha_s^2 v_a$  ( $f_a = v_a$ ), for the case of the non-Abelian (Abelian) monopole. Assuming the dual symmetry of a Zwanzigerlike theory describing diagonal gluons and photons, we obtain the relation between the magnetic and electric U(1) field strength tensors  $\mathscr{G}^{V\alpha} = \mathscr{G}^{d\alpha}$  ( $\alpha = 3, 8$ ) and  $F^V = F^d$ . The effective Lagrangian Eq. (6.49) can then be rewritten in the following form:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}} \supset \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{4} \left( g_{a\gamma}^{0} \right)_{1} a F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu}^{d} - \frac{a g_{s}^{2}}{32\pi^{2} f_{a}} G^{a \,\mu\nu} G_{\mu\nu}^{d \,a} + \mathcal{L}_{\text{off}}, \\ -\frac{1}{4} \left( g_{a\gamma}^{0} \right)_{2} a F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu}^{d} + \frac{a g_{s}^{2}}{32\pi^{2} f_{a}} G^{a \,\mu\nu} G_{\mu\nu}^{d \,a}, \end{cases}$$
(6.50)

where

$$g_{a\gamma}^{0} = \begin{cases} 3\alpha_{s}^{2}/(\pi\alpha f_{a}) ,\\ 27/(4\pi\alpha f_{a}) , \end{cases}$$
(6.51)

is a coupling of axion to photons. For convenience, we separated some axion-gluon interactions into  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{off}}$ , which is given by the following expression:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{off}} = \frac{ag_s^2}{32\pi^2 f_a} \times \left( G^{a\,\mu\nu} G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu} - \sum_{\alpha=3,8} \mathscr{G}^{\alpha\,\mu\nu} \mathscr{G}^{d\,\alpha}_{\mu\nu} + (A \to A^V) \right) = -\frac{g_s^2 \,\partial^\mu a}{16\pi^2 f_a} \,\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} \times \left\{ \sum_{i,j,k \in \mathcal{I}_{\text{off}}} \left( A^\nu_i \,\partial^\rho A^\lambda_i + \frac{1}{3} \,g_s \,f_{ijk} A^\nu_i A^\lambda_j A^\rho_k \right) + \right.$$

$$\sum_{\alpha=3,8} \sum_{j,k\in\mathcal{I}_{\text{off}}} g_s f_{\alpha j k} A^{\nu}_{\alpha} A^{\lambda}_j A^{\rho}_k + \left(A \to A^V\right) \right\}, \quad (6.52)$$

where  $\mathcal{I}_{\text{off}} = [1;7]/\{3\}^5$ . Note that each of the interactions presented in Eq. (6.52) contains two or three off-diagonal (dual) gluon fields. Restricting our study in what follows to the field of low energy QCD, we neglect contribution from these terms. The reason are strong indications [130,131,137,138] of Abelian dominance in QCD below the energies of 1 GeV, which means that the processes involving off-diagonal gluons are suppressed in the IR. Moreover, as we will show in sec. 6.6.2, the term (6.52) is exactly zero in the classical approximation. Let us note, however, that in the future it would be very interesting to study if the quantum effects can generate non-zero  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{off}}$ , because, although such effects are expected to be small in IR, they would be a very distinctive feature of the model we discuss.

The effective Lagrangian Eq. (6.50) without the term  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{off}}$  has the form of the conventional axion effective Lagrangian. As we will show, however, the corresponding axion particle has couplings with the Standard model particles which differ a lot from the ones calculated in DFSZ and KSVZ models. In particular, the coupling to photons  $g_{a\gamma}$  is enhanced by many orders of magnitude compared to the conventional models. Namely, after the standard chiral rotation of quarks

$$q \to \exp\left(i\gamma_5 \frac{aM_q^{-1}}{2f_a \mathrm{tr}M_q^{-1}}\right) \cdot q, \quad M_q = \mathrm{diag}\left(m_u, m_d\right),$$
 (6.53)

which eliminates the  $GG^d$  term, is performed, one finds that the coupling to photons is

$$g_{a\gamma} = g_{a\gamma}^0 - \frac{\alpha}{3\pi f_a} \left(\frac{4m_d + m_u}{m_d + m_u}\right) \simeq g_{a\gamma}^0, \tag{6.54}$$

so that it is practically not affected by the quark masses. In the conventional notation used to parameterize the strength of the axion-photon coupling,

$$g_{a\gamma} = \frac{\alpha}{2\pi f_a} \cdot \frac{E}{N} \,, \tag{6.55}$$

 $<sup>{}^{5}</sup>$ By this notation we mean all integers from 1 to 7 excluding 3.

our model predicts

$$\frac{E}{N} = \begin{cases} 6\alpha_s^2/\alpha^2 \,, \\ 27/(2\alpha^2) \,, \end{cases}$$
(6.56)

so that the coupling gets increased by 5-6 orders of magnitude. Bearing in mind that the standard expression for the axion mass,

$$m_a = \frac{m_\pi f_\pi \sqrt{m_u m_d}}{(m_u + m_d) f_a}, \qquad (6.57)$$

is derived from the conventional axion-gluon coupling and thus holds in our case automatically as long as  $\mathcal{L}_{off}$  is small, we plot the axion-photon coupling as a function of axion mass and decay constant in Fig. 6.1 together with the hints and existing as well as projected constraints from various experiments and astrophysical observations.<sup>6</sup> For reference, we show axion-photon couplings in KSVZ models with heavy fermions in one representation of the Standard model gauge group [124] and in DFSZ model.

In Fig. 6.1, possible values for the axion-photon coupling in the model with the non-Abelian monopole are organized in a vertically hatched band, while the model with the minimal Abelian monopole yields a single line inside this band. The band denotes the uncertainty we estimate for the model with the non-Abelian monopole, which is associated to the dependence of the first line of Eq. (6.51) on the strong coupling  $\alpha_s$  in the IR. The state of the art in studies of the behavior of the latter was discussed in detail in a recent review [149], where it was shown that there exists a definition of  $\alpha_s$  in the IR, which is analytic, independent of the choice of renormalization scheme or gauge, universal, based on first principles and IR-finite (see Table 5.4 in Ref. [149]). This choice of definition for IR  $\alpha_s$  corresponds to the so-called effective charges  $\alpha_{g_1}$ ,  $\alpha_{F_3}$  and  $\alpha_{\tau}$ , which are directly related to the observables of low energy QCD. The measurements show that the IR strong coupling

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Hints and most constraints are discussed in detail in Ref. [139]. We present updated astrophysical constraints from Ref. [140] together with the constraints derived from Chandra data on NGC 1275 [141] (see however Ref. [142]), as well as constraints derived from the data on SN1987A from the GRS instrument of the SMM satellite [143], constraints from NuSTAR data on super star clusters [144], constraints from GBT data on neutron stars in the Galactic Center [145], and projected constraints from advanced LIGO [146]. Constraints from ADMX SLIC [147] search for dark matter axions include three very narrow close exclusion regions which are impossible to resolve in our plot. SHAFT constraint is discussed in Ref. [148].



Figure 6.1: Comparison between the axion-photon couplings predicted in the conventional DFSZ- and KSVZ-like models (orange band) and the ones predicted in the general hadronic models (blue band). Axion-photon coupling is plotted as a function of axion mass and decay constant together with the existing and projected (dashed lines) constraints on the corresponding parameter space from experiments as well as from astrophysical data. Note that the haloscope experiments searching for light axions ( $m_a \ll \mu eV$ ) are blind to the new axion-photon couplings of the general hadronic models, as it will be discussed in Chapter 7 sec. 7.3. Astrophysical hints are also shown. The dash-dotted line corresponds to the model with the non-Abelian monopole where the IR strong coupling  $\alpha_s$  value calculated in the AdS/QCD framework is adopted. The line in the center of the vertically hatched band corresponds to the model with the minimal Abelian monopole. For further discussion, see main text.

 $\alpha_s$  defined in such a way freezes at low energies. The freezing behavior of IR  $\alpha_s$  is also supported by the success of the AdS/QCD technique in the description of hadron properties [150]. Moreover, the value of the IR strong coupling calculated in AdS/QCD,  $\alpha_{AdS}(0) = \pi$ , is consistent with the values  $\alpha_{g_1}(0)$  and  $\alpha_{F_3}(0)$ <sup>7</sup>. All this convinces us to assume that the AdS/QCD value of IR strong coupling is a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Although the effective charge  $\alpha_{\tau}(0)$  is different, it is known that it contains an unsubtracted pion pole.

relevant one, that is why we highlight the corresponding values of  $g_{a\gamma}$  in Fig. 6.1 with a dash-dotted line. However, bearing in mind that low energy QCD is still largely terra incognita, we allow for uncertainty in  $\alpha_s$  which results in a band in Fig 6.1 where the lower edge  $\alpha_s(0) = 0.7$  is chosen. Such choice is suggested by the observation in Ref. [149] that most of the values of  $\alpha_s(0)$  in the literature are clustered around  $\alpha_s(0) \sim 3$  (close to the AdS/QCD value) and  $\alpha_s(0) \sim 0.7$ , not taking into account the decoupling solution  $\alpha_s(0) = 0$  disfavored for a number of reasons [151, 152]. Let us note as well that too large values of  $\alpha_s$  are disfavored by calculations in Ref. [153], where it was shown that the magnetic coupling (i.e. the coupling inverse to  $\alpha_s$ ) never gets too small in pure SU(2) gluodynamics, these results being extended to the pure SU(3) case in Ref. [154].

Finally, let us mention that there is yet another source of uncertainty in our predictions, both for the models with Abelian and non-Abelian monopoles, which is associated with the U(1) magnetic charges of the monopoles. Whereas we consider them to be minimal in each of the model, they are in principle not constrained by the stability arguments. This means that  $g_{a\gamma}$  can be further increased in Fig. 6.1 for the general hadronic axion models discussed in this chapter.

#### 6.6.2 Axion-gluon coupling in the classical approximation

In this section, we show that the axion-gluon coupling in the model with a heavy non-Abelian monopole preserves its universality in the classical approximation, i.e. it is given by the expression:

$$-\frac{ag_s^2}{32\pi^2 f_a} G^{a\,\mu\nu} G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu},\tag{6.58}$$

so that  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{off}} = 0$  in Eq. (6.50), at least classicaly. We use the formalism of loop space variables pioneered by Polyakov [155] and developed with the focus on the electric-magnetic dual symmetry of the YM theory by Hong-Mo, Faridani and Tsun [63]. Central object of the formalism is the parallel phase transport along the loop  $\xi(s), s \in [0, 2\pi]$  from one point  $s_1$  to another  $s_2$ :

$$\Phi_{\xi}(s_2, s_1) = P_s \exp\left(ig_s \int_{s_1}^{s_2} ds \, A_{\mu}\left(\xi(s)\right) \dot{\xi}^{\mu}(s)\right),\tag{6.59}$$

where  $P_s$  is the Dyson ordering. Loop derivative of the holonomy defines the Polyakov variables:

$$F_{\mu}[\xi|s] = \frac{i}{g_s} \Phi_{\xi}^{-1}(2\pi, 0) \cdot \frac{\delta \Phi_{\xi}(2\pi, 0)}{\delta \xi^{\mu}(s)}, \qquad (6.60)$$

which are known to constitute a valid set for a full description of the YM field [156, 157]. It was shown in Ref. [63] that another complete set of variables is better suited for dealing with the electric-magnetic dual symmetry of the classical YM theory, namely:

$$E_{\mu}[\xi|s] = \Phi_{\xi}(s,0) F_{\mu}[\xi|s] \Phi_{\xi}^{-1}(s,0), \qquad (6.61)$$

which can be connected to the local quantities by the expression:

$$\omega^{-1}(x) \ G^{d}_{\mu\nu}(x) \ \omega(x) = \frac{2}{N} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \int \delta\xi ds \ E^{\rho}[\xi|s] \dot{\xi}^{\sigma}(s) \dot{\xi}^{-2}(s) \ \delta(x-\xi(s)) \,, \quad (6.62)$$

where  $\omega(x)$  is an arbitrary local SU(3) matrix and N is a normalization factor. The dual (magnetic) variables  $E_{\mu}^{(d)}$  were shown to be related to the electric ones  $E_{\mu}$  in the pure YM theory in the following way:

$$\omega^{-1}(\eta(t)) E^{(d)}_{\mu} [\eta|t] \ \omega(\eta(t)) = \frac{2}{N} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \dot{\eta}^{\nu}(t) \int \delta\xi ds \ E^{\rho} [\xi|s] \cdot \dot{\xi}^{\sigma}(s) \dot{\xi}^{-2}(s) \,\delta(\xi(s) - \eta(t)) \,, \quad (6.63)$$

while the inverse transformation is:

$$\omega(\eta(t)) E_{\mu} [\eta|t] \omega^{-1}(\eta(t)) = -\frac{2}{N} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \dot{\eta}^{\nu}(t) \int \delta\xi ds \, E^{(d)\rho} [\xi|s] \dot{\xi}^{\sigma}(s) \dot{\xi}^{-2}(s) \, \delta(\xi(s) - \eta(t)) \,. \quad (6.64)$$

Since in the derivation of the axion effective Lagrangian external fields can be considered constant and homogeneous, as discussed in sec. 6.5, we can apply Eqs. (6.63)and (6.64) in order to find the relation between the expression (6.58) and its dual analogue, constructed from the GNO group connection, in the classical theory. The calculation proceeds as follows:

$$\int d^{4}x \, a(x) \, G^{a\,\mu\nu}(x) \, G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu}(x) =$$

$$2 \int d^{4}x \, a(x) \, \mathrm{tr} \left\{ \omega^{-1}(x) \, G_{\mu\nu}(x) \, \omega(x) \, \omega^{-1}(x) \, G^{d}_{\mu\nu}(x) \, \omega(x) \right\} =$$

$$\frac{8}{N} \int d^{4}x \, \delta\xi ds \, a(x) \, \mathrm{tr} \left\{ \omega^{-1}(x) \, G^{d}_{\mu\nu}(x) \, \omega(x) \, E^{\mu} \left[ \xi | s \right] \right\} \dot{\xi}^{\nu}(s) \, \dot{\xi}^{-2}(s) \, \delta(x - \xi(s)) =$$

$$\frac{16}{N^{2}} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \int \delta\eta dt \, \delta\xi ds \, a(\eta(t)) \, \mathrm{tr} \left\{ E^{\rho} \left[ \eta | t \right] E^{\mu} \left[ \xi | s \right] \right\} \cdot$$

$$\dot{\eta}^{\sigma}(t) \, \dot{\eta}^{-2}(t) \, \dot{\xi}^{\nu}(s) \, \dot{\xi}^{-2}(s) \, \delta(\eta(t) - \xi(s)) =$$

$$\frac{8}{N} \int \delta\eta dt \, a(\eta(t)) \, \mathrm{tr} \left\{ E^{\mu} \left[ \eta | t \right] \, \omega^{-1}(\eta(t)) \, E^{(d)}_{\mu} \left[ \eta | t \right] \, \omega(\eta(t)) \right\} \dot{\eta}^{-2}(t) =$$

$$\frac{8}{N} \int \delta\eta dt \, a(\eta(t)) \, \mathrm{tr} \left\{ \omega(\eta(t)) \, E^{\mu} \left[ \eta | t \right] \, \omega^{-1}(\eta(t)) \, E^{(d)}_{\mu} \left[ \eta | t \right] \right\} \dot{\eta}^{-2}(t) =$$

$$- \frac{16}{N^{2}} \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \int \delta\eta dt \, \delta\xi ds \, a(\eta(t)) \, \mathrm{tr} \left\{ E^{(d)}_{\rho} \left[ \eta | t \right] E^{(d)}_{\mu} \left[ \xi | s \right] \right\} \cdot$$

$$\dot{\eta}^{\sigma}(t) \, \dot{\eta}^{-2}(t) \, \dot{\xi}^{\nu}(s) \, \dot{\xi}^{-2}(s) \, \delta(\eta(t) - \xi(s)) =$$

$$- \int d^{4}x \, a(x) \left( G^{V} \right)^{a\,\mu\nu}(x) \left( G^{V} \right)^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu}(x) , \qquad (6.65)$$

where we took advantage of Eqs. (6.62), (6.63) and (6.64), as well as of the cyclic property of the trace. The last identity follows automatically as far as one notices that the third and the sixth lines of the Eq. (6.65) are identical but for the overall sign and electric-magnetic variables interchange. Now, one can clearly see that classically we recover the universal axion-gluon coupling even in the model with the non-Abelian magnetic monopole:

$$\mathcal{S}_{\text{eff, classical}} \supset \int d^4x \, \frac{ag_s^2}{32\pi^2 f_a} \, \left(G^V\right)^{a\,\mu\nu} \left(G^V\right)^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu} = -\int d^4x \, \frac{ag_s^2}{32\pi^2 f_a} \, G^{a\,\mu\nu} G^{d\,a}_{\mu\nu} \,.$$
(6.66)

# 6.6.3 Axion couplings to fermions

Let us consider the following couplings of axions with matter:

$$g_{ai} \equiv C_{ai} m_i / f_a \,, \tag{6.67}$$

where  $m_i$  is the mass of fermion *i*, which correspond to the following terms in the effective Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}} \supset C_{ai} \frac{\partial_{\mu} a}{2f_a} \,\bar{\psi}_i \gamma^{\mu} \gamma_5 \psi_i \,. \tag{6.68}$$

As electrons do not carry PQ charge in the general hadronic models we consider, the axion-electron coupling  $g_{ae}$  is generated radiatively [158, 159]:

$$g_{ae} = g_{a\gamma}^0 \cdot \frac{3\alpha}{2\pi} m_e \ln \frac{f_a}{m_e}, \qquad (6.69)$$

where  $g_{a\gamma}^0$  is given by the expressions (6.51), for the models with the minimal Abelian or non-Abelian monopole, and we took into account that the term associated to the axion-pion mixing is negligibly small compared to the leading contribution<sup>8</sup>. We find that the experiments and astrophysical observations probing axion-electron interactions do not yield new constraints on the model. Indeed, the CAST bound [160] on the axion-photon coupling,  $g_{a\gamma} < 0.66 \cdot 10^{-10} \text{ GeV}^{-1}$ , constraints the phenomenologically viable region for axion-electron coupling:  $g_{ae} < 1.2 \cdot 10^{-16} \ln f_a/m_e$ . This constraint is stronger than any existing or projected bound from interaction with electrons. As to the interactions of the axion with nucleons, it turns out that contributions from radiatively generated axion-quark couplings are non-negligible and actually enhance axion-nucleon couplings with respect to the conventional DFSZ case in much of the parameter space. One can find that the coefficients  $C_{ap}$  and  $C_{an}$ are

$$C_{ap} = -0.47 - 0.39\,\delta c_d + 0.88\,\delta c_u\,,\tag{6.70}$$

$$C_{an} = -0.02 + 0.88 \,\delta c_d - 0.39 \,\delta c_u \,, \tag{6.71}$$

where the numerical coefficients were calculated in [161] and the radiatively generated quark couplings read as follows:

$$\delta c_u = g_{a\gamma}^0 f_a \cdot \frac{8\alpha}{27\pi} \ln \frac{f_a}{m_N}, \qquad (6.72)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Note that in principle the axion-fermion couplings discussed in this section have to be calculated within the full non-perturbative QEMD formalism of Chapter 5; however, as it was discussed in Chapter 4 sec. 4.6, there exist no reliable methods for such an exact calculation, so we assume that the result can be approximated by the one obtained in the QED framework.

$$\delta c_d = g_{a\gamma}^0 f_a \cdot \frac{\alpha}{54\pi} \ln \frac{f_a}{m_N}, \qquad (6.73)$$

where  $m_N$  is the nucleon mass. Constraints on axion-neutron interactions are more stringent than constraints on interactions with protons. We plot  $g_{an}$  as a function of axion mass and decay constant in Fig. 6.2 together with the constraint from neutron star cooling [162] and the projected reach of the CASPEr Wind experiment [163]. For reference, we show the neutron-axion coupling in DFSZ models, the range of which is constrained by the requirement of perturbative unitarity of the Yukawa couplings of the Standard model fermions [164]. Note that the slope of the DFSZ band in Fig. 6.2 is different from the slope of the band corresponding to the axion model of this paper. The difference arises because, in the DFSZ case, one obtains a linear dependence of the coupling on the axion mass,  $g_{an} \propto m_a$ , characteristic of the tree-level couplings to quarks, while in the case of our model the linear dependence is superseded by a nonlinear one,  $g_{an} \propto m_a \ln (\text{const}/m_a)$ , due to the radiative origin of the coupling.

In Fig. 6.2, we show also the CAST bound [160] which is translated to a constraint on the axion-neutron coupling with the use of Eqs. (6.71)-(6.73). Uncertainty in the prediction of the axion-neutron coupling in the axion models of this Chapter comes from the uncertainty in the prediction of the axion-photon coupling, the latter being discussed at length in sec. 6.6.1.

# 6.7 Axion dark matter

Let us discuss if the axions we propose can comprise dark matter. In order to avoid the cosmological magnetic monopole problem [165, 166], i.e. overproduction of monopoles during the hot Big Bang epoch, we will set their masses and therefore the axion decay constant  $f_a$  to be larger than the reheating temperature. This means that we have to deal only with the pre-inflationary scenario of axion dark matter production, which hinges upon the misalignment mechanism [10–12]. Our model with a heavy Abelian magnetic monopole charged electrically under SU(3)will then give exactly the same dark matter abundance as in the case of the KSVZ model. This follows from the fact that the axion-gluon couplings are identical in the



Figure 6.2: Axion-neutron coupling as a function of axion mass and decay constant for various axion models together with the existing and projected (dashed lines) constraints on the corresponding parameter space from experiments as well as from astrophysical data. The dash-dotted line corresponds to the model of this Chapter with the non-Abelian monopole where the IR strong coupling  $\alpha_s$  value calculated in the AdS/QCD framework is adopted. The line in the center of the vertically hatched band corresponds to the model with the minimal Abelian monopole. For further discussion, see main text.

latter two models. Meanwhile, calculation of the dark matter abundance is generally not so simple in the case of our model with a non-Abelian magnetic monopole. Note that while Abelian dominance suggests that the low temperature axion mass  $m_a(f_a)$ in this case is given approximately by the familiar expression for the standard QCD axion, at higher temperatures,  $T \gtrsim 1$  GeV, the axion mass can differ significantly from the standard case. The cosmic axion abundance resulting from the misalignment production mechanism  $\rho_a^{\text{mis}}$  is inversely proportional to the square root of the axion mass at the moment where oscillations of the axion field start:

$$\rho_a^{\rm mis} \propto \frac{f_a}{\sqrt{m_a(T_{\rm roll})}} \cdot \mathcal{F}(T_{\rm roll}), \qquad (6.74)$$

where  $T_{\rm roll}$  is the temperature at which  $m_a(T_{\rm roll}) = 3H(T_{\rm roll})$ , H being the Hubble expansion rate, and  $\mathcal{F}$  a fixed function of temperature. Due to Abelian dominance, we expect that  $\rho_a^{\rm mis}$  does not change too much with respect to the conventional QCD axion models if  $T_{\rm roll} < 1$  GeV. The latter condition can be recast into the form  $m_a(\text{GeV}) < 3H(\text{GeV})$ , which yields  $f_a > 10^{12}$  GeV assuming the axion mass at 1 GeV is not much off the values given in Ref. [67]. Combining it with the CAST bound, we see that in much of the allowed parameter space axions produced via the misalignment mechanism have approximately the same abundance as axions with the same mass in KSVZ and DFSZ-like models. The case  $f_a \leq 10^{12}$  GeV is more difficult: in order to infer the abundance of cosmic axions in the model with a non-Abelian monopole in this case, one has to calculate the axion mass as a function of temperature in the energy range where there is no Abelian dominance.

This Chapter is written based on the publications [2, 3] of the author of this thesis.

# Chapter 7

# New experimental targets for axions and magnetic monopoles

### 7.1 General lessons

Let us discuss the phenomenology of the new electromagnetic couplings of axions and ALPs found in the previous Chapters. In our discussion, we will always consider first the general case of ALPs, i.e. Nambu-Goldstone bosons of an arbitrary spontaneously broken global U(1) symmetry, which by definition include QCD axions as a special case, and only then make quantitative predictions in particular axion models.

Due to the scaling of the new  $g_{aBB}$  and  $g_{aAB}$  couplings with the elementary electric and magnetic charge units found in Chapter 5 sec. 5.1, in any model where  $g_{aAB} \neq 0$ , one expects the ratio  $g_{aBB}/|g_{aAB}|$  to be proportional to a large number  $g_0/e \gg 1$ . This means that the possible effects associated to the  $g_{aAB}$  coupling play the dominant role only for those observables, which do not get any sizable contribution from the  $g_{aBB}$  coupling. As we will discuss in the next sections, such observables do exist and can be probed in various experiments by studying the interactions of ALPs with polarized light, searching for electric dipole moments of charged particles and a fifth force or by looking for light ALP dark matter in an external magnetic field with haloscopes.

Still, for most of the processes involving ALP-photon interactions, the dominant effect is associated to the  $g_{aBB}$  coupling. Symmetry of Eq. (5.27) with respect to the

interchange of the  $g_{aAA}$  and  $g_{aBB}$  couplings suggests that in any process of creation or disappearance of a certain number of ALPs, the effect of the  $g_{aBB}$  coupling is analogous to the effect of the conventional  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  coupling<sup>1</sup>. This means that the rates of such processes as ALP-photon conversion in external electromagnetic fields [167], ALP decay, ALP emission through Primakoff effect [168] or photon coalescence, are all given by the conventional expressions, but with the  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  coupling substituted by the  $g_{aBB}$  one.

The same simple rule of replacing the  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  coupling with the  $g_{aBB}$  coupling in conventional expressions applies to the dispersion relation of light in an ALP background. Indeed, after we omit the subdominant  $|g_{aAB}| \ll g_{aBB}$  coupling and put  $\mathbf{E}_a, \mathbf{E}_0 \rightarrow \mathbf{E}_{\gamma}$  and  $\mathbf{H}_a, \mathbf{H}_0 \rightarrow \mathbf{H}_{\gamma}$ , the axion Maxwell equations (5.23)–(5.26) become invariant under the interchange of the couplings  $g_{aAA}$  and  $g_{aBB}$  supplemented by the electric-magnetic duality transformation  $\mathbf{E}_{\gamma} \rightarrow \mathbf{H}_{\gamma}, \mathbf{H}_{\gamma} \rightarrow -\mathbf{E}_{\gamma}$ . Since the propagation of light is electric-magnetic duality invariant, the  $g_{aBB}$  coupling enters the dispersion relation in the same way as the conventional  $g_{aAA}$  coupling. It can also be explicitly checked that the form of the second-order differential equations for  $\mathbf{E}_{\gamma}$  and  $\mathbf{H}_{\gamma}$  does not change.

Let us consider the existing constraints on the ALP-photon  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  coupling which take advantage of the effects discussed in the previous two paragraphs. It is now clear that the same constraints hold also for the new  $g_{aBB}$  coupling and the corresponding search strategies need not be updated. In particular, this is the case of astrophysical and cosmological constraints [139], helioscope searches [169–171], light-shining-through-wall (LSW) [172–178] and axion interferometry [146,179–182] experiments as well as the ones of those haloscope searches, where the ALP Compton wavelength fits into the experimental apparatus and thus where the interaction between an ALP and a magnetic field can be described as an ALP-photon conversion in an external field. We present the corresponding constraints on the  $g_{aBB}$  coupling in Fig. 7.1. Note that as  $|g_{aAB}| \ll g_{aBB}$ , the same constraints obviously hold for  $|g_{aAB}|$  and  $\sqrt{|g_{aAB}|g_{aBB}}$ .

The qualitative distinction between the new  $g_{aBB}$  coupling and the conventional  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  coupling arises whenever a given process cannot be described by Eq. (5.27)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This statement need not hold for loop effects, as Eq. (5.27) is classical.



Figure 7.1: Existing and projected (dashed lines) constraints on the parameter space of ALP-photon  $g_{aBB}$  and  $g_{aAB}$  couplings versus ALP mass and decay constant together with the lines corresponding to  $g_{aBB}$  (solid),  $|g_{aAB}|$  (dashed) and  $\sqrt{|g_{aAB}|} g_{aBB}$  (dash-dotted) in different hadronic axion models with one heavy PQ-charged fermion  $\psi$  with the parameters given in a box and  $N_{DW} = 1$ . Astrophysical hints are also shown. For further discussion, see main text.

and involves observables which are not invariant under the electric-magnetic duality symmetry. In this case, the values of these observables derived from the axion Maxwell equations (5.23)–(5.26) are not symmetric with respect to the interchange  $g_{aAA} \leftrightarrow g_{aBB}$  of the two couplings, so that there is a qualitative difference in the effects of these couplings. We give a particular example where the latter difference plays a crucial role in sec. 7.3. In particular, in the latter section, we discuss haloscope experiments searching for light ALP dark matter ( $m_a \ll \mu eV$ ). We find that in this case, the constraints obtained for the  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  coupling need not hold for the  $g_{aBB}$ coupling. This means that to probe the latter coupling, these experiments should exploit a search strategy which is different from the one normally used.

To be more specific, when we make quantitative predictions in the next sec-

tions, we will consider a particular kind of ALP: the axion particle arising in general hadronic models discussed in the previous Chapter. In this case, we will take advantage of Eqs. (5.3), (5.4) and (5.6) for the axion-photon couplings. As we discussed in Chapter 5 sec. 5.1, there are two families of axion models where the new electromagnetic couplings  $g_{aAB}$  and  $g_{aBB}$  can arise: those with Abelian ( $\zeta = 3$ ) and those with non-Abelian ( $\zeta = 1$ ) magnetic monopoles, cf. Eq. (5.7). In the former case, the axion decay constant  $f_a$  is obviously related to the QCD anomaly coefficient N and PQ scale  $v_a$  in the standard way:  $f_a = v_a/2N$ , while in the latter case, as it was shown in Chapter 6, the relation is non-standard:  $f_a = 2\alpha_s^2 v_a/N$ , where  $\alpha_s = g_s^2/4\pi$ . Using these relations, we plot the lines corresponding to  $g_{aBB}$ ,  $|g_{aAB}|$ and  $\sqrt{|g_{aAB}|g_{aBB}}^2$  in different hadronic axion models. For simplicity, we choose the models having only one heavy vector-like PQ-charged fermion  $\psi$ , which transforms trivially under the  $SU(2)_L$  gauge group of the weak interactions and in the fundamental representation under the color  $SU(3)_c$  gauge group (electric  $SU(3)_E$  in the Abelian monopole case or magnetic  $SU(3)_{\rm M}$  in the non-Abelian monopole case), and has charges  $q_{\psi}$  and  $g_{\psi}$ , see Fig. 7.1 and the legend therein. In these models, the QCD anomaly coefficient is N = 1/2, so that  $N_{\rm DW} = 1$ . In the non-Abelian monopole case  $\zeta = 1$ , there is an uncertainty associated to our ignorance of the exact value of  $\alpha_s$  at low energies [149], see the discussion in Chapter 6 sec. 6.6.1. Note that the axion models populate a region of the parameter space, which in the analogous plot for the  $g_{aAA}$  coupling would be extensively probed by existing and projected haloscope experiments searching for light ALP dark matter ( $m_a < \mu eV$ ), see Fig. 6.1. However, as we discussed briefly in the previous paragraph and will elaborate later in sec. 7.3, the constraints from such haloscopes cannot be translated to Fig. 7.1. Also, note that the conventional KSVZ and DFSZ axion lines are obviously missing from the plot in Fig. 7.1, since this plot depicts the  $g_{aBB}$  and  $|g_{aAB}|$  couplings, but not the  $g_{aAA}$  coupling.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The  $\sqrt{|g_{aAB}|g_{aBB}}$  line is relevant for LSW searches, see Eq. (7.2) and discussion in sec. 7.2.

### 7.2 Purely laboratory-based experiments

A particularly clean way to measure the  $g_{aAB}$  coupling is provided by LSW experiments [183]. As one can see from Eq. (5.27), contrary to the CP-conserving couplings, the CP-violating  $g_{aAB}$  coupling allows interaction between ALPs and light polarized in a plane perpendicular to the external magnetic field. As one can control the polarization of the incoming light in a LSW experiment, it is straightforward to artificially turn off the CP-conserving ALP-photon interaction on the photon to ALP conversion side before the wall. Using  $g_{aBB} \gg |g_{aAB}| \gg g_{aAA}$ , we find the following LSW probabilities corresponding to different linear polarizations of incoming light:

$$P(\gamma_{\parallel} \to a \to \gamma) \simeq 16 \, \frac{(g_{aBB} \omega H_0)^4}{m_a^8} \sin^4 \left(\frac{m_a^2 L_{H_0}}{4\omega}\right),\tag{7.1}$$

$$P(\gamma_{\perp} \to a \to \gamma) \simeq 16 \frac{(g_{aAB}\omega H_0)^2 (g_{aBB}\omega H_0)^2}{m_a^8} \sin^4 \left(\frac{m_a^2 L_{H_0}}{4\omega}\right), \qquad (7.2)$$

where  $\gamma_{\parallel}$  ( $\gamma_{\perp}$ ) denotes the incoming light with frequency  $f = \omega/(2\pi)$  and with polarisation parallel (perpendicular) to the magnetic field  $H_0$ , which is supposed to be transverse to the direction of the light beam and which is sustained in a cavity of length  $L_{H_0}$ , both before and behind the wall. Clearly, from a detection of LSW with some probability  $P(\gamma_{\parallel} \rightarrow a \rightarrow \gamma)$ , one can determine the  $g_{aBB}$  coupling in a first measurement. In a second measurement, one can also search for LSW via  $\gamma_{\perp} \rightarrow a \rightarrow \gamma$ . Then, for the case of axions, using Eqs. (5.4), (5.6) and (5.7), we see that the coupling  $g_{aAB}$  can be determined from the following ratio:

$$\frac{P(\gamma_{\perp} \to a \to \gamma)}{P(\gamma_{\parallel} \to a \to \gamma)} \simeq \frac{g_{a_{\rm AB}}^2}{g_{a_{\rm BB}}^2} = \left(\frac{D}{M}\frac{e}{g_0}\right)^2 = 4\left(\frac{D}{\zeta M}\right)^2 \alpha^2 \simeq 2.13 \times 10^{-4} \left(\frac{D}{\zeta M}\right)^2.$$
(7.3)

For example, the experiment ALPS II ( $H_0 = 5.3 \text{ T}$ ,  $L_{H_0} = 105.6 \text{ m}$ ,  $\omega = 1.17 \text{ eV}$ ) has the capability to search for LSW using incoming light with both polarisations,  $\gamma_{\parallel}$ and  $\gamma_{\perp}$  [184]. For both of them, ALPS II has the projected sensitivity  $P_{\text{sens}} \approx 10^{-29}$ to the corresponding LSW probabilities. This would allow for the detection of a light,  $m_a \leq 10^{-4} \text{ eV}$ , axion featuring a CP-conserving coupling ( $g_{aAA} + g_{aBB}$ )  $\simeq$  $g_{aBB} \gtrsim 2 \times 10^{-11} \text{ GeV}^{-1}$  via  $\gamma_{\parallel} \rightarrow a \rightarrow \gamma$ , as can be inferred from Eq. (7.1). If this newly discovered axion features also a CP-violating coupling, then the latter has to be in the range

$$|g_{aAB}| = 2\alpha (|D|/\zeta M) g_{aBB} \gtrsim 3 \times 10^{-13} \,\text{GeV}^{-1} (|D|/\zeta M) \,. \tag{7.4}$$

If  $|D| \simeq M$ , to detect such a coupling via  $\gamma_{\perp} \rightarrow a \rightarrow \gamma$  requires a sensitivity improvement by four order of magnitudes, to  $P_{\text{sens}} \sim 10^{-33}$ , as can be seen from Eqs. (7.1) (7.2), and (7.3). Intriguingly, such a sensitivity has been argued to be achievable by the next generation LSW experiment JURA (also known as ALPS III [185,186]). Indeed, see Fig. 7.1, where we showed the  $g_{aBB}$  ( $\sqrt{|g_{aAB}|}g_{aBB}$ ) parameter space probed by JURA according to Eq. (7.1) (Eq. (7.2)) together with the lines corresponding to  $g_{aBB}$  and  $\sqrt{|g_{aAB}|}g_{aBB}$  in the axion model with  $|D| = M = \zeta = 1$ . Thus, our considerations show that an eventual detection of an ALP by ALPS II would strongly motivate the construction of JURA. After all, an experimental verification of Eq. (7.3) would allow a deep view into the UV, provide strong evidence for the existence of heavy dyons and even an insight into their spectrum via the ratio  $|D|/\zeta M$ .

Although LSW experiments can probe the  $g_{aAB}$  coupling, we saw that the effects of the  $g_{aBB}$  coupling are dominant and are expected to be discovered first. To the contrary, there exist purely-laboratory experiments which are primarily sensitive to the  $g_{aAB}$  coupling. These are the experiments which probe CP-violating observables, since only the  $g_{aAB}$  coupling violates CP. One can probe the corresponding CP-violating effects by searching for electric dipole moments of charged particles, such as electrons, protons and muons [187]. Moreover, the CP-violating axionphoton coupling can be probed in various experiments searching for fifth force or monopole-dipole axion-induced interactions [188], since one expects the  $g_{aAB}$  coupling to radiatively induce CP-violating interactions between axions and charged fermions f of the form  $g_f a \bar{f} f$ . Naively, one could argue that there exist strong constraints on the  $g_{aAB}$  coupling already, analogously to the constraints obtained in Ref. [189]. Note however, that although all the couplings of the ALP EFT (5.10)are small, the theory is still essentially non-perturbative, so predicting the exact values for the discussed CP-violating observables is not straightforward and requires further investigation.

# 7.3 Haloscope experiments

As we mentioned in sec. 7.1, the effect of the dominant  $g_{aBB}$  coupling on the ALPphoton conversion in an external electromagnetic field is the same as the effect of the conventional  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  coupling. This means that in the case of the haloscopes that search for cosmic ALPs with masses  $m_a \gtrsim (0.1 - 1) \mu eV$ , such as ADMX [190], CAPP [191], HAYSTAC [192], KLASH [193], MADMAX [194], ORGAN [195] and others, all the constraints obtained for the  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  coupling are valid also for the  $g_{aBB}$ coupling. Indeed, in this case, the Compton wavelength of an ALP  $\lambda_a = 2\pi/m_a$  is comparable to the physical size of the utilized detectors, or even smaller, and thus one can use a particle-like description of the process.

The same cannot be stated in the case where ALPs have large Compton wavelengths  $\lambda_a$  compared to the length scale L of the experiment. In particular, this is the case of light cosmic ALPs with masses  $m_a \ll \mu eV$ , which one aims to detect with such haloscope experiments as ABRACADABRA [196,197], ADMX SLIC [147], DM Radio [198], SHAFT [199], and others. In these experiments, one maintains a constant magnetic field  $\mathbf{H}_0$  in a laboratory and searches for an ALP-induced oscillating magnetic field  $\mathbf{H}_a$ . Note that due to the condition  $\lambda_a \gg L$ , interactions of ALPs with the field  $\mathbf{H}_0$  cannot be described as a conventional ALP-photon conversion phenomenon. To determine the expected magnitude of the induced fields in this case, one has to use the axion Maxwell equations (5.23)-(5.26). The latter equations can be significantly simplified since most of the terms on the right-hand side are normally suppressed. Indeed, considering the case of axions and assuming  $E \simeq M \simeq |D|$ , the axion-photon couplings satisfy  $g_{aAA}/g_{aBB} \simeq (e/g_0)^2 \lesssim 2 \cdot 10^{-4}$ and  $|g_{aAB}|/g_{aBB} \simeq e/g_0 \lesssim 10^{-2}$ . Moreover, the cosmic axions that form dark matter have typical velocities  $v_a \sim 10^{-3}$ , so that the gradient of the oscillating axion field is suppressed with respect to its time derivative:  $|\nabla a| \sim 10^{-3} \dot{a}$ .

Leaving only the first three dominant terms, we obtain the following simplified axion Maxwell equations:

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{H}_a - \dot{\mathbf{E}}_a = 0, \qquad (7.5)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{E}_a + \dot{\mathbf{H}}_a = -g_{aBB} \left( \mathbf{H}_0 \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} a + \dot{a} \mathbf{E}_0 \right) + g_{aAB} \dot{a} \mathbf{H}_0 , \qquad (7.6)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{H}_a = 0, \qquad (7.7)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{E}_a = 0, \qquad (7.8)$$

where we included the dominant effect arising from an external electric field  $\mathbf{E}_0$ . Note that all the existing haloscopes use an external magnetic field  $\mathbf{H}_0$  instead, partly because the dominant effect for the usually considered  $g_{aAA}$  coupling is due to the term with an external magnetic, but not electric, field and partly because it is technologically challenging to sustain a large enough electric field in a big enough volume. It is clear from Eq. (7.6) that if the latter technological problem is solved, so that  $E_0 \gtrsim 10^{-2} (|D|/\zeta M) H_0$  in the CP-violating case or  $E_0 \gtrsim 10^{-3} H_0$  in the CP-conserving case, the  $g_{aBB}\dot{a}\mathbf{E}_0$  term will allow one to search for dark matter axions in an external electric field with the sensitivity which is not worse than the one of the conventional searches conducted in an external magnetic field.

Returning to the case of the existing haloscopes where  $\mathbf{E}_0 = 0$ ,  $\mathbf{H}_0 \neq 0$ , we see that the axion Maxwell equations (7.5)–(7.8) have significantly different structure compared to the conventional axion Maxwell equations which take into account solely the  $g_{aAA}$  coupling. While in the latter case axions generate an effective electric current  $\mathbf{j}_{\text{eff}}^e = -g_{aAA}\dot{a}\mathbf{H}_0$ , in the former case an effective magnetic current is generated:

$$\mathbf{j}_{\text{eff}}^m = g_{a\text{BB}} \mathbf{H}_0 \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} a - g_{a\text{AB}} \dot{a} \mathbf{H}_0 \,. \tag{7.9}$$

Note that in the case  $M \simeq |D|$ , the term proportional to the CP-violating  $g_{aAB}$  coupling is dominant. To the contrary, if the underlying UV theory is CP-conserving, then D = 0 and  $g_{aAB} = 0$ , so that only the term proportional to the  $g_{aBB}$  coupling contributes.

Let us now find experimental implications of the magnetic current (7.9). Applying the curl differential operator to the Eqs. (7.5) and (7.6), and using the other equations from the system (7.5)-(7.8), we obtain:

$$\Delta \mathbf{E}_a - \ddot{\mathbf{E}}_a = \mathbf{\nabla} \times \mathbf{j}_{\text{eff}}^m, \qquad (7.10)$$

$$\Delta \mathbf{H}_a - \ddot{\mathbf{H}}_a = \partial \mathbf{j}_{\text{eff}}^m / \partial t \,. \tag{7.11}$$

The leading terms contributing to the right-hand side are:

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{j}_{\text{eff}}^{m} = g_{aBB} \left( \boldsymbol{\nabla} a \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla} \right) \mathbf{H}_{0} - g_{aAB} \dot{a} \, \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{H}_{0} \,, \tag{7.12}$$

$$\partial \mathbf{j}_{\text{eff}}^m / \partial t = g_{aBB} \mathbf{H}_0 \times \nabla \dot{a} - g_{aAB} \ddot{a} \mathbf{H}_0 \,. \tag{7.13}$$

The axion dark matter field is given by the following expression:

$$a(t, \mathbf{r}) = a_0 \cos(\omega_a t - \mathbf{k}_a \cdot \mathbf{r}) , \qquad (7.14)$$

where  $\omega_a = m_a$  and  $\mathbf{k}_a = m_a \mathbf{v}_a$ . The leading CP-conserving effect then depends on the direction of the axion wind and thus experiences modulations with the periods of one sidereal day  $T_d$  and one sidereal year  $T_y$  due to the rotation of the Earth around its axis and around the Sun, respectively. To find the axion-induced  $\mathbf{E}_a$  and  $\mathbf{H}_a$  fields, Eqs. (7.10) and (7.11) have to be solved for a particular geometry of a given haloscope experiment.

Let us illustrate the general features of the solution by considering the example of a very long solenoid of radius R with magnetic field  $\mathbf{H}_0$  directed along the z-axis. In this case, Eqs. (7.10) and (7.11) become:

$$\Delta \mathbf{E}_a - \dot{\mathbf{E}}_a = -\left(g_{aBB}\,\partial_\rho a\,\mathbf{e}_z + g_{aAB}\dot{a}\,\mathbf{e}_\phi\right)H_0\,\delta(\rho - R) \,\,, \tag{7.15}$$

$$\Delta \mathbf{H}_{a} - \ddot{\mathbf{H}}_{a} = g_{aBB} \mathbf{H}_{0} \times \boldsymbol{\nabla} \dot{a} - g_{aAB} \ddot{a} \mathbf{H}_{0} , \qquad (7.16)$$

where we work in cylindrical coordinates  $(\rho, \phi, z)$  with unit vectors  $(\mathbf{e}_{\rho}, \mathbf{e}_{\phi}, \mathbf{e}_{z})$ . Let us parameterize the direction of the axion wind

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{v}}_a = (\sin\theta\cos(\phi - \xi), -\sin\theta\sin(\phi - \xi), \cos\theta)$$
(7.17)

in cylindrical coordinates by two angles  $\theta$  and  $\xi$ . Assuming  $T_d \gg 2\pi/\omega_a$ , which corresponds to  $m_a \gg 5 \cdot 10^{-20}$  eV, we neglect the terms proportional to  $\dot{\xi}$  and  $\dot{\theta}$  in the Eqs. (7.15) and (7.16). It is then straightforward to obtain the solutions of these equations in terms of Bessel functions. All we need however are these solutions in the limit  $\omega_a R \ll 1$ , as we are interested in axions with large Compton wavelengths. In the latter limit, solutions to Eqs. (7.15), (7.16) with physical boundary conditions are:

$$\mathbf{E}_{a} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} a_{0} \omega_{a} \rho H_{0} \Big( g_{aAB} \mathbf{e}_{\phi} - g_{aBB} v_{a} \sin \theta \cos(\phi - \xi) \mathbf{e}_{z} \Big) \sin \omega_{a} t, \quad \rho < R \\ \frac{1}{2} a_{0} \omega_{a} \frac{R^{2}}{\rho} H_{0} \Big( g_{aAB} \mathbf{e}_{\phi} - g_{aBB} v_{a} \sin \theta \cos(\phi - \xi) \mathbf{e}_{z} \Big) \sin \omega_{a} t, \quad \rho > R \end{cases}, \quad (7.18)$$

$$\mathbf{H}_{a} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} a_{0} (\omega_{a} R)^{2} H_{0} \Big( g_{aAB} \mathbf{e}_{z} + g_{aBB} v_{a} \sin \theta \left\{ \cos(\phi - \xi) \mathbf{e}_{\phi} + \sin(\phi - \xi) \mathbf{e}_{\phi} \right\} \Big) \Big( \ln \omega_{a} R + \frac{\rho^{2}}{2R^{2}} \Big) \cos \omega_{a} t, \quad \rho < R \\ \frac{1}{2} a_{0} (\omega_{a} R)^{2} H_{0} \Big( g_{aAB} \mathbf{e}_{z} + g_{aBB} v_{a} \sin \theta \left\{ \cos(\phi - \xi) \mathbf{e}_{\phi} + \sin(\phi - \xi) \mathbf{e}_{\phi} \right\} \Big) \ln \omega_{a} \rho \cos \omega_{a} t, \quad \rho > R \end{cases}$$

It is immediately clear that  $E_a \gg H_a$ , which means that in an experiment with the geometry of our example one has to search for axion-induced electric, but not magnetic, fields. Moreover, it turns out that this feature persists for any other possible geometry as well. Indeed, our Eqs. (7.10) and (7.11) can be rendered equivalent to the equations studied in Ref. [200] by substituting  $\mathbf{E}_a \to \mathbf{H}_a$ ,  $\mathbf{H}_a \to$  $-\mathbf{E}_a$  and  $\mathbf{j}_{\text{eff}}^m \to \mathbf{j}_{\text{eff}}^e$ . In the latter work, it was found that for any haloscope geometry with characteristic length scale L, equation involving the time derivative of the effective current yields solutions which are suppressed by powers of  $\omega_a L \ll 1$  with respect to the solutions of the equation involving the curl of this current. In our case, this means that in any haloscope probing  $m_a \ll \mu eV$ , the axion-induced magnetic field  $\mathbf{H}_a$  is suppressed with respect to the axion-induced electric field  $\mathbf{E}_a$ .

Note however that all the existing as well as many projected haloscopes searching for such light axions – such as ABRACADABRA, ADMX SLIC, DM Radio, SHAFT, ... – aim to measure only the axion-induced magnetic, but not electric, fields. Thus, the constraints on the conventional  $g_{aAA}$  coupling obtained by these experiments do not hold for the dominant axion-photon couplings  $g_{aAB}$  and  $g_{aBB}$ . The latter couplings can be probed by future haloscopes equipped with electric field sensors. One haloscope of such kind has already been proposed, see Refs. [201,202]. We hope that our work will encourage more experimental effort in this direction, as we provided a sound theoretical motivation for such an endeavor. Since the electromagnetic fields generated in a haloscope by the  $g_{aBB}$  and  $g_{aAB}$  couplings are qualitatively different from the fields generated by the conventional  $g_{aAA}$  coupling, for which  $H_a \gg E_a$  [200], the first detection of cosmic axions with electric, but not magnetic, sensor haloscope would not only constitute the discovery of axions and dark matter, but also provide a circumstantial experimental evidence for the existence of heavy magnetically charged particles. Furthermore, as one can see from Eq. (7.18), the direction of the detected electric field could allow one to infer the ratio  $g_{aAB}/g_{aBB} = 2\alpha(D/\zeta M)$  and thus get information about the spectrum of dyons in the UV.

Finally, to compare different extensions of electrodynamics which could be probed by haloscope experiments, it is convenient to reexpress the axion Maxwell equations in terms of the axion-induced polarization and magnetization vectors [200, 203], which are defined as follows:

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{H}_{a} - \dot{\mathbf{E}}_{a} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{P}_{\text{eff}}^{e}}{\partial t} + \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{M}_{\text{eff}}^{e}, \qquad (7.20)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{E}_a + \dot{\mathbf{H}}_a = -\frac{\partial \mathbf{P}_{\text{eff}}^m}{\partial t} + \boldsymbol{\nabla} \times \mathbf{M}_{\text{eff}}^m, \qquad (7.21)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{H}_a = -\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{P}_{\text{eff}}^m \,, \tag{7.22}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{E}_a = -\boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot \mathbf{P}_{\text{eff}}^e \,. \tag{7.23}$$

Note that along with the ordinary effective electric polarization and magnetization vectors  $\mathbf{P}_{\text{eff}}^{e}$  and  $\mathbf{M}_{\text{eff}}^{e}$ , we introduced effective magnetic polarization and magnetization vectors  $\mathbf{P}_{\text{eff}}^{m}$  and  $\mathbf{M}_{\text{eff}}^{m}$ , which describe electromagnetic properties of an effective medium consisting of magnetically charged particles. The explicit expressions for the effective polarization and magnetization vectors corresponding to a generic axion in an external electromagnetic field are:

$$\mathbf{P}_{\text{eff}}^{e} = -g_{a\text{AA}} \, a\mathbf{H}_{0} + g_{a\text{AB}} \, a\mathbf{E}_{0} \,, \qquad (7.24)$$

$$\mathbf{M}_{\text{eff}}^m = g_{aBB} \, a \mathbf{H}_0 + g_{aAB} \, a \mathbf{E}_0 \,, \tag{7.25}$$

$$\mathbf{M}_{\text{eff}}^e = -g_{a\text{AA}} \, a\mathbf{E}_0 - g_{a\text{AB}} \, a\mathbf{H}_0 \,, \qquad (7.26)$$

$$\mathbf{P}_{\text{eff}}^m = g_{aBB} \, a \mathbf{E}_0 - g_{aAB} \, a \mathbf{H}_0 \,. \tag{7.27}$$

The fact that it is possible to bring the axion Maxwell equations (5.23)-(5.26) into
the form (7.20)-(7.23) suggests that the effects of axions in external electromagnetic fields are analogous to the effects of a certain medium consisting of both electrically and magnetically charged particles. From what has been discussed before, it is clear that for a generic axion, effects of the magnetic polarization (magnetization) vectors  $\mathbf{P}_{\text{eff}}^m$  ( $\mathbf{M}_{\text{eff}}^m$ ) in an external magnetic field dominate the effects of the electric polarization (magnetization) vectors  $\mathbf{P}_{\text{eff}}^{e}$  ( $\mathbf{M}_{\text{eff}}^{e}$ ). Such asymmetry between the effects exhibited by electric and magnetic constituents of the effective medium is to be contrasted with the case of gravitational wave electrodynamics [204], where there exists an electric-magnetic U(1) duality symmetry rendering electric and magnetic variables equivalent. This difference in the symmetry properties of the two theories can be easily understood from the fact that the axion-photon interactions are fundamentally mediated by heavy charged particles which break the duality symmetry, while in General Relativity, the interaction between gravity and electromagnetic field is direct and independent of any charges. For an experimentalist, this distinction signifies a substantial difference in the distribution of the induced electromagnetic fields inside the haloscope. Indeed, as it was discussed before, for a generic light axion  $(m_a \ll \mu eV, g_{aBB} \gg |g_{aAB}| \gg g_{aAA})$  in an external magnetic field one expects  $\mathbf{j}_{\text{eff}}^m \gg \mathbf{j}_{\text{eff}}^e$  and thus  $E_a \gg H_a$ , while for a gravitational wave in an external magnetic field, due to the electric-magnetic duality symmetry, one obtains  $\mathbf{j}_{\mathrm{eff}}^m \sim \mathbf{j}_{\mathrm{eff}}^e$  and thus  $E_a \sim H_a.$ 

This Chapter is written based on the publication [1] of the author of this thesis.

## Conclusions

As it was asserted by J. Polchinski [23], "the existence of magnetic monopoles seems like one of the safest bets that one can make about physics not yet seen". Indeed, in Chapter 1, we reviewed a number of theoretical arguments which together provide an overwhelming theoretical evidence for magnetic monopoles, like there probably exists for no other kind of hypothetical particles. There are nevertheless multiple practical challenges behind the experimental study of monopoles. While some of the discussed arguments for the existence of monopoles do not restrict their masses, another part of these arguments suggests that monopoles are super heavy, with masses well beyond the energy reach of the present-day collider experiments. Thus, although monopoles almost certainly exist from the theoretical point of view, it might be difficult to directly probe them with existing and near-future experiments.

In this thesis, we developed a framework which allows one to study the indirect effects magnetic monopoles could exhibit on the interactions of other particles. In particular, in Chapter 4 we applied the EFT approach to QEMD by classifying all the possible marginal operators consistent with the symmetries and degrees of freedom of the theory. We found the CP-violating operator responsible for the Witten effect and showed that it does not have a total-derivative structure, contrary to the case of the conventional QED approach. Moreover, we incorporated the Rubakov-Callan effect for the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles into the QEMD framework by means of introducing a Stückelberg scalar into the Lagrangian and showing that the latter scalar corresponds to the instanton degree of freedom known as the dyon collective coordinate.

We then showed that our research in QEMD allows one to introduce novel electromagnetic couplings for axions and ALPs in the EFT approach. As we discussed in Chapter 2, axions and ALPs form a class of very well-motivated candidates for physics beyond the Standard model, since different particles of this class are indispensable ingredients to various new physics models and theories which solve the long-standing physics puzzles, such as the quantization of gravity (string theory), the strong CP problem (models implementing the PQ mechanism), the smallness of neutrino masses (models with spontaneously broken global lepton number symmetry) etc. Furthermore, axions and ALPs are perfect candidates for cold dark matter. All this suggests that the experimental searches for these particles are of paramount importance. As the main search strategies exploit the electromagnetic interactions of axions and ALPs, we decided to analyze all such interactions, and in Chapter 5, we found that instead of the only one kind of coupling considered in the literature, there are actually four different types of axion-photon couplings. The three new couplings are associated to the effects of magnetic monopoles and dyons - two of the couplings are generated by virtual monopoles and dyons, while the remaining one is the Witten-effect induced coupling which describes the interaction vertex including an axion, a photon and a 't Hooft-Polyakov monopole. Although the Witten-effect induced coupling has been described in the literature before, it has never been distinguished from the conventional axion-photon coupling. We clarified the physics of the Witten-effect induced coupling showing that it is not generic to all possible models containing monopoles, but only to the models which contain an instanton degree of freedom localized in the monopole worldvolume, such as the models with 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles. We also found the scaling of the different axion-photon couplings with the elementary electric and magnetic charges, and showed that the two new electromagnetic couplings of axions associated to the virtual monopoles and dyons dominate the conventional axion-photon coupling.

Based on our theoretical analysis of the axion extension to QEMD, in Chapter 7 we proposed experiments which could probe magnetic monopoles indirectly, in particular through the influence virtual monopoles would exhibit on the interactions of axions and ALPs with an electromagnetic field. We found that the new electromagnetic couplings of axions give rise to unique experimental signatures in LSW experiments and in some kinds of axion searches, such as haloscopes searching for low-mass axions ( $m_a \ll \mu eV$ ). In the latter case, we showed that the best sensitivity to the new electromagnetic couplings of axions could be achieved by measuring an induced oscillating electric field, instead of an induced oscillating magnetic field, contrary to the setup of existing experiments. The case of low mass axions is particularly interesting, since, as it can be seen from Fig. 7.1, the simplest axion models predict rather large  $g_{aBB}$  and  $g_{aAB}$  couplings, which can be probed by many projected experiments. Thus, we encourage the development of electric sensor haloscopes which would search for axion dark matter in the corresponding parameter region.

In the case of the LSW experiments and the ALPS II experiment in particular, we found that due to the new electromagnetic couplings of axions, ALPS II is sensitive to the QCD axion. Moreover, it probes the very interesting region in the parameter space of the  $g_{aBB}$  coupling between the QCD axion and photons where there have been claimed several astrophysical hints, see Fig. 7.1. The axions with the  $g_{aBB}$  couplings in the latter parameter region could also form the cold dark matter, which hypothesis can be probed by future haloscope experiments with electric field sensors. Moreover, in the case of the detection of the axion signal in ALPS II due to the  $g_{aBB}$  coupling, we found that the projected LSW experiments of the next generation, such as JURA, would be sensitive to the corresponding CP-violating  $g_{aAB}$  axion-photon coupling in the channel where the incoming light is polarized perpendicular to the magnetic field. The ratio of the two couplings would give information about the spectrum of heavy dyons.

Apart from unveiling these intriguing experimental applications, our work reconsidered several questions in axion theory. First, in Chapter 3 we showed that contrary to the existing statements, the main contribution to the axion-photon coupling need not be quantized in units proportional to  $e^2$ . Second, contrary to what has been advocated recently in the literature, we found that magnetic monopoles of an Abelian gauge field need not give mass to axions coupled to this gauge field. We showed that the axions do get mass in theories with magnetic monopoles only if these monopoles carry an additional instanton degree of freedom interacting with the axion a, e.g. in the case of the spontaneously broken symmetry phase of a non-Abelian gauge theory with  $aGG^d$  term in the Lagrangian, where  $G(G^d)$  is the (dual) field strength tensor of the non-Abelian gauge field. This axion mass is generated via the conventional mechanism through instantons of the non-Abelian theory, which however live on the 't Hooft-Polyakov monopoles in the low energy phase. Finally, we found that the interaction between axions and an electromagnetic field need not preserve CP. In particular, as long as one has heavy dyons in the high energy theory, there exists a natural source of CP-violation which can be transferred to low energy physics through axion-photon interactions. We discussed experiments which can probe this new CP-violating axion coupling.

In Chapter 6, we built novel models of axion which provide UV-completions to the axion-photon EFTs discussed in this thesis. In particular, we introduced two new families of hadronic axion models which involve a very heavy vector-like fermion magnetically charged either under the full non-Abelian symmetry of the low energy Standard model or only under its electromagnetic subgroup. In the case of the models with non-Abelian magnetic monopoles, we assumed that these monopoles transform in the representations of the Langlands dual (GNO) group of the  $SU(3)_c$  QCD gauge group, in accord with the GNO conjecture. We showed that both models with the Abelian and non-Abelian magnetic monopoles realize the PQ mechanism and thus solve the strong CP problem. We calculated the low energy axion couplings in these models. We argued that in the models involving non-Abelian magnetic monopoles there could arise a deviation from the property of universality of the axion-gluon coupling, however we showed that the latter coupling recovers its universal form in the classical approximation. If the quantum corrections are not negligible, difference in the electric dipole moment coupling with respect to the conventional QCD axion models can offer an exciting opportunity of distinguishing the model involving non-Abelian magnetic monopoles from other QCD axion models in the experiments such as CASPEr Electric [163].

These Conclusions are partly written based on the publications [1,2] of the author of this thesis.

## Acknowledgements

Thank you, Andreas, for your active supervision, regular meetings and discussions even during the hard pandemic times as well as for constant support. I am especially grateful for your open-mindedness, valuable scientific comments and suggestions and very timely and thorough responses to any questions I had. I enjoyed our numerous not necessarily scientific discussions during the lunch breaks, from which I got to know a lot about Germany, sailing, prominent physicists and academic life.

Thank you, Günter, for interesting scientific questions and for agreeing to be the referee of my thesis. Thank you, Ivan S., for showing me everything around when I just arrived to Hamburg and for our lengthy conversations on various topics in science and beyond. I am grateful to you as well as to Gleb and Seva for encouraging me to do more running, which helped me to stay fit during the pandemic. Thank you, Gleb and Thomas, for forming the main part of our small rebellious group who came to DESY every day no matter what, even if we had to have our lunch in secret places. I believe that the constant scientific communication with you and Andreas helped me a lot to keep track of all the particle physics news and to get a general picture of the modern high energy physics. Thank you, Pablo, Quentin and Mathias, for valuable and very interesting scientific discussions. Moreover, in general, I would like to thank all the members of the DESY theory group for the great scientific atmosphere during my three years at DESY.

Thank you, Lisa, Ivan S., Ivan R., Alexey, Daniil, Gleb, Thomas, Olalla, Jan, Ruslan, Sergey, Semen, Andrey, Dameli, Nastasia and Dmitry for your great company in various trips, parties, table tennis and volleyball games, barbecues and other social activities, which made my PhD journey much more colourful.

I am especially grateful to all my family for their constant support.

## Bibliography

- Anton V. Sokolov and Andreas Ringwald. Electromagnetic Couplings of Axions. 5 2022, 2205.02605.
- [2] Anton V. Sokolov and Andreas Ringwald. Photophilic hadronic axion from heavy magnetic monopoles. JHEP, 06:123, 2021, 2104.02574.
- [3] Anton V. Sokolov and Andreas Ringwald. Magnetic anomaly coefficients for QCD axion couplings. In European Physical Society Conference on High Energy Physics 2021, 9 2021, 2109.08503.
- [4] C. B. Adams et al. Axion Dark Matter. In 2022 Snowmass Summer Study, 3 2022, 2203.14923.
- [5] C. Abel et al. Measurement of the permanent electric dipole moment of the neutron. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 124(8):081803, 2020, 2001.11966.
- [6] R.D. Peccei and Helen R. Quinn. CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 38:1440–1443, 1977.
- [7] R.D. Peccei and Helen R. Quinn. Constraints Imposed by CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons. *Phys. Rev. D*, 16:1791–1797, 1977.
- [8] Steven Weinberg. A New Light Boson? Phys. Rev. Lett., 40:223–226, 1978.
- [9] Frank Wilczek. Problem of Strong P and T Invariance in the Presence of Instantons. Phys. Rev. Lett., 40:279–282, 1978.
- [10] John Preskill, Mark B. Wise, and Frank Wilczek. Cosmology of the Invisible Axion. Phys. Lett. B, 120:127–132, 1983.
- [11] L.F. Abbott and P. Sikivie. A Cosmological Bound on the Invisible Axion. *Phys. Lett. B*, 120:133–136, 1983.
- [12] Michael Dine and Willy Fischler. The Not So Harmless Axion. Phys. Lett. B, 120:137–141, 1983.
- [13] F. Zwicky. Die Rotverschiebung von extragalaktischen Nebeln. Helv. Phys. Acta, 6:110–127, 1933.

- [14] K. C. Freeman. On the disks of spiral and SO Galaxies. Astrophys. J., 160:811, 1970.
- [15] V. C. Rubin and W. K. Ford, Jr. Rotation of the Andromeda Nebula from a Spectroscopic Survey of Emission Regions. Astrophys. J., 159:379–403, 1970.
- [16] Eleonora Di Valentino, Olga Mena, Supriya Pan, Luca Visinelli, Weiqiang Yang, Alessandro Melchiorri, David F. Mota, Adam G. Riess, and Joseph Silk. In the realm of the Hubble tension—a review of solutions. *Class. Quant. Grav.*, 38(15):153001, 2021, 2103.01183.
- [17] Bernard Carr and Florian Kuhnel. Primordial Black Holes as Dark Matter: Recent Developments. Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci., 70:355–394, 2020, 2006.02838.
- [18] Juan García-Bellido, Bernard Carr, and Sebastien Clesse. Primordial Black Holes and a Common Origin of Baryons and Dark Matter. Universe, 8(1):12, 2021, 1904.11482.
- [19] Jihn E. Kim. Weak Interaction Singlet and Strong CP Invariance. Phys. Rev. Lett., 43:103, 1979.
- [20] Mikhail A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein, and Valentin I. Zakharov. Can Confinement Ensure Natural CP Invariance of Strong Interactions? Nucl. Phys. B, 166:493–506, 1980.
- [21] Paul Adrien Maurice Dirac. Quantised singularities in the electromagnetic field,. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A, 133(821):60–72, 1931.
- [22] Tom Banks and Nathan Seiberg. Symmetries and Strings in Field Theory and Gravity. Phys. Rev. D, 83:084019, 2011, 1011.5120.
- [23] Joseph Polchinski. Monopoles, duality, and string theory. Int. J. Mod. Phys. A, 19S1:145–156, 2004, hep-th/0304042.
- [24] Willy Fischler and John Preskill. DYON AXION DYNAMICS. Phys. Lett. B, 125:165–170, 1983.
- [25] Tom Banks and Lance J. Dixon. Constraints on String Vacua with Space-Time Supersymmetry. Nucl. Phys. B, 307:93–108, 1988.
- [26] Renata Kallosh, Andrei D. Linde, Dmitri A. Linde, and Leonard Susskind. Gravity and global symmetries. *Phys. Rev. D*, 52:912–935, 1995, hepth/9502069.
- [27] Daniel Harlow and Hirosi Ooguri. Symmetries in quantum field theory and quantum gravity. Commun. Math. Phys., 383(3):1669–1804, 2021, 1810.05338.

- [28] Yiming Chen and Henry W. Lin. Signatures of global symmetry violation in relative entropies and replica wormholes. JHEP, 03:040, 2021, 2011.06005.
- [29] Julian S. Schwinger. Sources and magnetic charge. Phys. Rev., 173:1536–1544, 1968.
- [30] Daniel Zwanziger. Quantum field theory of particles with both electric and magnetic charges. *Phys. Rev.*, 176:1489–1495, 1968.
- [31] A. De Angelis, O. Mansutti, M. Persic, and M. Roncadelli. Photon propagation and the VHE gamma-ray spectra of blazars: how transparent is really the Universe? *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.*, 394:L21–L25, 2009, 0807.4246.
- [32] D. Horns and M. Meyer. Indications for a pair-production anomaly from the propagation of VHE gamma-rays. JCAP, 02:033, 2012, 1201.4711.
- [33] Adrian Ayala, Inma Domínguez, Maurizio Giannotti, Alessandro Mirizzi, and Oscar Straniero. Revisiting the bound on axion-photon coupling from Globular Clusters. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 113(19):191302, 2014, 1406.6053.
- [34] Stanley Deser and C. Teitelboim. Duality Transformations of Abelian and Nonabelian Gauge Fields. *Phys. Rev. D*, 13:1592–1597, 1976.
- [35] M. G. Calkin. An Invariance Property of the Free Electromagnetic Field. American Journal of Physics, 33(11):958–960, 1965.
- [36] G. N. Afanasev and Yu. P. Stepanovsky. The Helicity of the free electromagnetic field and its physical meaning. *Nuovo Cim. A*, 109:271–280, 1996.
- [37] José L Trueba and Antonio F Rañada. The electromagnetic helicity. European Journal of Physics, 17(3):141–144, may 1996.
- [38] Robert P. Cameron, Stephen M. Barnett, and Alison M. Yao. Optical helicity, optical spin and related quantities in electromagnetic theory. *New Journal of Physics*, 14(5):053050, may 2012.
- [39] Konstantin Y. Bliokh, Aleksandr Y. Bekshaev, and Franco Nori. Dual electromagnetism: Helicity, spin, momentum, and angular momentum. New J. Phys., 15:033026, 2013, 1208.4523.
- [40] Daniel Zwanziger. Local-lagrangian quantum field theory of electric and magnetic charges. *Phys. Rev. D*, 3:880–891, Feb 1971.
- [41] Curie, P. Sur la possibilité d'existence de la conductibilité magnétique et du magnétisme libre. J. Phys. Theor. Appl., 3(1):415–417, 1894.

- [42] H. Weyl. Electron and Gravitation. 1. (In German). Z. Phys., 56:330–352, 1929.
- [43] D. Zwanziger. Exactly soluble nonrelativistic model of particles with both electric and magnetic charges. *Phys. Rev.*, 176:1480–1488, 1968.
- [44] D. Zwanziger. Angular distributions and a selection rule in charge-pole reactions. Phys. Rev. D, 6:458–470, 1972.
- [45] Eugene P. Wigner. On Unitary Representations of the Inhomogeneous Lorentz Group. Annals Math., 40:149–204, 1939.
- [46] Julian S. Schwinger. Magnetic charge and quantum field theory. Phys. Rev., 144:1087–1093, 1966.
- [47] Alexander M. Polyakov. Particle Spectrum in the Quantum Field Theory. JETP Lett., 20:194–195, 1974.
- [48] Gerard 't Hooft. Magnetic Monopoles in Unified Gauge Theories. Nucl. Phys. B, 79:276–284, 1974.
- [49] V. A. Rubakov. Superheavy Magnetic Monopoles and Proton Decay. JETP Lett., 33:644–646, 1981.
- [50] Joseph Polchinski. Monopole Catalysis: The Fermion Rotor System. Nucl. Phys. B, 242:345–363, 1984.
- [51] Curtis G. Callan, Jr. Dyon-Fermion Dynamics. Phys. Rev. D, 26:2058–2068, 1982.
- [52] K Bardakci and S. Samuel. Local Field Theory for Solitons. Phys. Rev. D, 18:2849, 1978.
- [53] B. Julia and A. Zee. Poles with Both Magnetic and Electric Charges in Nonabelian Gauge Theory. *Phys. Rev. D*, 11:2227–2232, 1975.
- [54] R. Jackiw and C. Rebbi. Spin from Isospin in a Gauge Theory. Phys. Rev. Lett., 36:1116, 1976.
- [55] P. Hasenfratz and Gerard 't Hooft. A Fermion-Boson Puzzle in a Gauge Theory. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 36:1119, 1976.
- [56] Alfred S. Goldhaber. Spin and Statistics Connection for Charge-Monopole Composites. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 36:1122–1125, 1976.
- [57] P.A. Zyla et al. (Particle Data Group). Review of Particle Physics. Progress of Theoretical and Experimental Physics, 2020(8), 08 2020. 083C01.

- [58] I. F. Ginzburg and A. Schiller. The Visible effect of a very heavy magnetic monopole at colliders. *Phys. Rev. D*, 60:075016, 1999, hep-ph/9903314.
- [59] F. Englert and Paul Windey. Quantization Condition for 't Hooft Monopoles in Compact Simple Lie Groups. *Phys. Rev. D*, 14:2728, 1976.
- [60] P. Goddard, J. Nuyts, and David I. Olive. Gauge Theories and Magnetic Charge. Nucl. Phys. B, 125:1–28, 1977.
- [61] C. Montonen and David I. Olive. Magnetic Monopoles as Gauge Particles? *Phys. Lett. B*, 72:117–120, 1977.
- [62] Anton Kapustin and Edward Witten. Electric-Magnetic Duality And The Geometric Langlands Program. Commun. Num. Theor. Phys., 1:1–236, 2007, hep-th/0604151.
- [63] Hong-Mo Chan, J. Faridani, and Sheung-Tsun Tsou. A Generalized duality symmetry for nonAbelian Yang-Mills fields. *Phys. Rev. D*, 53:7293–7305, 1996, hep-th/9512173.
- [64] Tai Tsun Wu and Chen Ning Yang. Concept of Nonintegrable Phase Factors and Global Formulation of Gauge Fields. *Phys. Rev. D*, 12:3845–3857, 1975.
- [65] Maxim Pospelov and Adam Ritz. Theta-induced electric dipole moment of the neutron via qcd sum rules. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 83:2526–2529, Sep 1999.
- [66] C. Vafa and Edward Witten. Restrictions on Symmetry Breaking in Vector-Like Gauge Theories. Nucl. Phys. B, 234:173–188, 1984.
- [67] Sz. Borsanyi et al. Calculation of the axion mass based on high-temperature lattice quantum chromodynamics. *Nature*, 539(7627):69–71, 2016, 1606.07494.
- [68] Marco Gorghetto and Giovanni Villadoro. Topological Susceptibility and QCD Axion Mass: QED and NNLO corrections. JHEP, 03:033, 2019, 1812.01008.
- [69] Anson Hook. Solving the Hierarchy Problem Discretely. Phys. Rev. Lett., 120(26):261802, 2018, 1802.10093.
- [70] Luca Di Luzio, Belen Gavela, Pablo Quilez, and Andreas Ringwald. An even lighter QCD axion. arXiv e-prints, Jan 2021, 2102.00012.
- [71] Luca Di Luzio, Belen Gavela, Pablo Quilez, and Andreas Ringwald. Dark matter from an even lighter QCD axion: trapped misalignment. JCAP, 10:001, 2021, 2102.01082.
- [72] V. A. Rubakov. Grand unification and heavy axion. JETP Lett., 65:621–624, 1997, hep-ph/9703409.

- [73] Zurab Berezhiani, Leonida Gianfagna, and Maurizio Giannotti. Strong CP problem and mirror world: The Weinberg-Wilczek axion revisited. *Phys. Lett.* B, 500:286–296, 2001, hep-ph/0009290.
- [74] L. Gianfagna, M. Giannotti, and F. Nesti. Mirror world, supersymmetric axion and gamma ray bursts. *JHEP*, 10:044, 2004, hep-ph/0409185.
- [75] S. D. H. Hsu and F. Sannino. New solutions to the strong CP problem. *Phys. Lett. B*, 605:369–375, 2005, hep-ph/0408319.
- [76] Anson Hook. Anomalous solutions to the strong CP problem. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 114(14):141801, 2015, 1411.3325.
- [77] Hajime Fukuda, Keisuke Harigaya, Masahiro Ibe, and Tsutomu T. Yanagida. Model of visible QCD axion. *Phys. Rev. D*, 92(1):015021, 2015, 1504.06084.
- [78] Cheng-Wei Chiang, Hajime Fukuda, Masahiro Ibe, and Tsutomu T. Yanagida. 750 GeV diphoton resonance in a visible heavy QCD axion model. *Phys. Rev.* D, 93(9):095016, 2016, 1602.07909.
- [79] Savas Dimopoulos, Anson Hook, Junwu Huang, and Gustavo Marques-Tavares. A collider observable QCD axion. JHEP, 11:052, 2016, 1606.03097.
- [80] Tony Gherghetta, Natsumi Nagata, and Mikhail Shifman. A Visible QCD Axion from an Enlarged Color Group. *Phys. Rev. D*, 93(11):115010, 2016, 1604.01127.
- [81] Archil Kobakhidze. Heavy axion in asymptotically safe QCD. 7 2016, 1607.06552.
- [82] Prateek Agrawal and Kiel Howe. Factoring the Strong CP Problem. JHEP, 12:029, 2018, 1710.04213.
- [83] Prateek Agrawal and Kiel Howe. A Flavorful Factoring of the Strong CP Problem. JHEP, 12:035, 2018, 1712.05803.
- [84] M. K. Gaillard, M. B. Gavela, R. Houtz, P. Quilez, and R. Del Rey. Color unified dynamical axion. *Eur. Phys. J. C*, 78(11):972, 2018, 1805.06465.
- [85] Csaba Csáki, Maximilian Ruhdorfer, and Yuri Shirman. UV Sensitivity of the Axion Mass from Instantons in Partially Broken Gauge Groups. JHEP, 04:031, 2020, 1912.02197.
- [86] R. S. Gupta, V. V. Khoze, and M. Spannowsky. Small instantons and the strong CP problem in composite Higgs models. *Phys. Rev. D*, 104(7):075011, 2021, 2012.00017.

- [87] Tony Gherghetta and Minh D. Nguyen. A Composite Higgs with a Heavy Composite Axion. JHEP, 12:094, 2020, 2007.10875.
- [88] Michael Dine, Willy Fischler, and Mark Srednicki. A Simple Solution to the Strong CP Problem with a Harmless Axion. *Phys. Lett. B*, 104:199–202, 1981.
- [89] A.R. Zhitnitsky. On Possible Suppression of the Axion Hadron Interactions. (In Russian). Sov. J. Nucl. Phys., 31:260, 1980.
- [90] Marco Farina, Duccio Pappadopulo, Fabrizio Rompineve, and Andrea Tesi. The photo-philic QCD axion. JHEP, 01:095, 2017, 1611.09855.
- [91] P. Sikivie. Experimental Tests of the Invisible Axion. Phys. Rev. Lett., 51:1415–1417, 1983. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.Lett. 52, 695 (1984)].
- [92] Giovanni Grilli di Cortona, Edward Hardy, Javier Pardo Vega, and Giovanni Villadoro. The QCD axion, precisely. JHEP, 01:034, 2016, 1511.02867.
- [93] Edward Witten. Some Properties of O(32) Superstrings. Phys. Lett. B, 149:351–356, 1984.
- [94] Joseph P. Conlon. The QCD axion and moduli stabilisation. JHEP, 05:078, 2006, hep-th/0602233.
- [95] Michele Cicoli, Mark Goodsell, and Andreas Ringwald. The type IIB string axiverse and its low-energy phenomenology. JHEP, 10:146, 2012, 1206.0819.
- [96] Y. Chikashige, Rabindra N. Mohapatra, and R.D. Peccei. Are There Real Goldstone Bosons Associated with Broken Lepton Number? *Phys. Lett. B*, 98:265–268, 1981.
- [97] G. B. Gelmini and M. Roncadelli. Left-Handed Neutrino Mass Scale and Spontaneously Broken Lepton Number. *Phys. Lett. B*, 99:411–415, 1981.
- [98] Frank Wilczek. Axions and Family Symmetry Breaking. Phys. Rev. Lett., 49:1549–1552, 1982.
- [99] Z. G. Berezhiani and M. Yu. Khlopov. The Theory of broken gauge symmetry of families. (In Russian). Sov. J. Nucl. Phys., 51:739–746, 1990.
- [100] Joerg Jaeckel. A Family of WISPy Dark Matter Candidates. Phys. Lett. B, 732:1–7, 2014, 1311.0880.
- [101] Prateek Agrawal, JiJi Fan, Matthew Reece, and Lian-Tao Wang. Experimental Targets for Photon Couplings of the QCD Axion. JHEP, 02:006, 2018, 1709.06085.

- [102] Katherine Fraser and Matthew Reece. Axion Periodicity and Coupling Quantization in the Presence of Mixing. JHEP, 05:066, 2020, 1910.11349.
- [103] Kiwoon Choi, Sang Hui Im, Hee Jung Kim, and Hyeonseok Seong. Precision axion physics with running axion couplings. 6 2021, 2106.05816.
- [104] Edward Witten. Dyons of Charge e theta/2 pi. Phys. Lett. B, 86:283–287, 1979.
- [105] David Tong. Line Operators in the Standard Model. JHEP, 07:104, 2017, 1705.01853.
- [106] Mark B. Wise, Howard Georgi, and Sheldon L. Glashow. SU(5) and the Invisible Axion. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 47:402, 1981.
- [107] Richard A. Brandt, Filippo Neri, and Daniel Zwanziger. Lorentz Invariance of the Quantum Field Theory of Electric and Magnetic Charge. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 40:147–150, 1978.
- [108] Richard A. Brandt, Filippo Neri, and Daniel Zwanziger. Lorentz Invariance From Classical Particle Paths in Quantum Field Theory of Electric and Magnetic Charge. *Phys. Rev. D*, 19:1153, 1979.
- [109] John Terning and Christopher B. Verhaaren. Resolving the Weinberg Paradox with Topology. JHEP, 03:177, 2019, 1809.05102.
- [110] N. F. Ramsey. Time Reversal, Charge Conjugation, Magnetic Pole Conjugation, and Parity. *Phys. Rev.*, 109(1):225–226, 1958.
- [111] Csaba Csaki, Yuri Shirman, and John Terning. Anomaly Constraints on Monopoles and Dyons. *Phys. Rev. D*, 81:125028, 2010, 1003.0448.
- [112] H. J. Lipkin, W. I. Weisberger, and M. Peshkin. Magnetic charge quantization and angular momentum. Annals Phys., 53:203–214, 1969.
- [113] Yoichi Kazama, Chen Ning Yang, and Alfred S. Goldhaber. Scattering of a Dirac Particle with Charge Ze by a Fixed Magnetic Monopole. *Phys. Rev. D*, 15:2287–2299, 1977.
- [114] Ben Heidenreich, Jacob McNamara, Miguel Montero, Matthew Reece, Tom Rudelius, and Irene Valenzuela. Chern-Weil global symmetries and how quantum gravity avoids them. *JHEP*, 11:053, 2021, 2012.00009.
- [115] JiJi Fan, Katherine Fraser, Matthew Reece, and John Stout. Axion Mass from Magnetic Monopole Loops. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 127(13):131602, 2021, 2105.09950.

- [116] Steven Weinberg. The Quantum theory of fields. Vol. 1: Foundations. Cambridge University Press, 6 2005.
- [117] Nima Arkani-Hamed, Tzu-Chen Huang, and Yu-tin Huang. Scattering amplitudes for all masses and spins. JHEP, 11:070, 2021, 1709.04891.
- [118] Csaba Csaki, Sungwoo Hong, Yuri Shirman, Ofri Telem, John Terning, and Michael Waterbury. Scattering amplitudes for monopoles: pairwise little group and pairwise helicity. *JHEP*, 08:029, 2021, 2009.14213.
- [119] Ahmed Abouelsaood. ARE THERE CHROMODYONS? Nucl. Phys. B, 226:309–338, 1983.
- [120] Philip C. Nelson and Aneesh Manohar. Global Color Is Not Always Defined. Phys. Rev. Lett., 50:943, 1983.
- [121] Philip C. Nelson and Sidney R. Coleman. What Becomes of Global Color. Nucl. Phys. B, 237:1–31, 1984.
- [122] Edward Corrigan, David I. Olive, D. B. Fairlie, and J. Nuyts. Magnetic Monopoles in SU(3) Gauge Theories. Nucl. Phys. B, 106:475–492, 1976.
- [123] Gerard 't Hooft. Magnetic Charge Quantization and Fractionally Charged Quarks. Nucl. Phys. B, 105:538–547, 1976.
- [124] Luca Di Luzio, Federico Mescia, and Enrico Nardi. Window for preferred axion models. *Phys. Rev. D*, 96(7):075003, 2017, 1705.05370.
- [125] D. G. Sutherland. Current algebra and some nonstrong mesonic decays. Nucl. Phys. B, 2:433–440, 1967.
- [126] M. Veltman. Theoretical aspects of high energy neutrino interactions. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A, 301(1465):107–112, 1967.
- [127] Kazuo Fujikawa. Path Integral Measure for Gauge Invariant Fermion Theories. Phys. Rev. Lett., 42:1195–1198, 1979.
- [128] Gerard 't Hooft. Topology of the Gauge Condition and New Confinement Phases in Nonabelian Gauge Theories. Nucl. Phys. B, 190:455–478, 1981.
- [129] Claudio Bonati, Adriano Di Giacomo, Luca Lepori, and Fabrizio Pucci. Monopoles, abelian projection and gauge invariance. *Phys. Rev. D*, 81:085022, 2010, 1002.3874.
- [130] Kei-Ichi Kondo, Seikou Kato, Akihiro Shibata, and Toru Shinohara. Quark confinement: Dual superconductor picture based on a non-Abelian Stokes

theorem and reformulations of Yang-Mills theory. *Phys. Rept.*, 579:1–226, 2015, 1409.1599.

- [131] Kazuhisa Amemiya and Hideo Suganuma. Off diagonal gluon mass generation and infrared Abelian dominance in the maximally Abelian gauge in lattice QCD. Phys. Rev. D, 60:114509, 1999, hep-lat/9811035.
- [132] Tsuneo Suzuki, Katsuya Ishiguro, and Vitaly Bornyakov. New scheme for color confinement and violation of the non-Abelian Bianchi identities. *Phys. Rev. D*, 97(3):034501, 2018, 1712.05941. [Erratum: Phys.Rev.D 97, 099905 (2018)].
- [133] Cumrun Vafa and Edward Witten. Parity Conservation in QCD. Phys. Rev. Lett., 53:535, 1984.
- [134] Julian S. Schwinger. On gauge invariance and vacuum polarization. Phys. Rev., 82:664–679, 1951.
- [135] Richard A. Brandt and Filippo Neri. Stability Analysis for Singular Nonabelian Magnetic Monopoles. Nucl. Phys. B, 161:253–282, 1979.
- [136] Sidney R. Coleman. THE MAGNETIC MONOPOLE FIFTY YEARS LATER. In Les Houches Summer School of Theoretical Physics: Laser-Plasma Interactions, 6 1982.
- [137] Tsuneo Suzuki and Ichiro Yotsuyanagi. A possible evidence for Abelian dominance in quark confinement. *Phys. Rev. D*, 42:4257–4260, 1990.
- [138] John D. Stack, Steven D. Neiman, and Roy J. Wensley. String tension from monopoles in SU(2) lattice gauge theory. *Phys. Rev. D*, 50:3399–3405, 1994, hep-lat/9404014.
- [139] Luca Di Luzio, Maurizio Giannotti, Enrico Nardi, and Luca Visinelli. The landscape of QCD axion models. *Phys. Rept.*, 870:1–117, 2020, 2003.01100.
- [140] Gautham Adamane Pallathadka et al. Reconciling hints on axion-like-particles from high-energy gamma rays with stellar bounds. JCAP, 11:036, 2021, 2008.08100.
- [141] Christopher S. Reynolds, M. C. David Marsh, Helen R. Russell, Andrew C. Fabian, Robyn Smith, Francesco Tombesi, and Sylvain Veilleux. Astrophysical Limits on Very Light Axion-like Particles from Chandra Grating Spectroscopy of NGC 1275. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 890(1):59, 2020, 1907.05475.

- [142] Maxim Libanov and Sergey Troitsky. On the impact of magnetic-field models in galaxy clusters on constraints on axion-like particles from the lack of irregularities in high-energy spectra of astrophysical sources. *Phys. Lett. B*, 802:135252, 2020, 1908.03084.
- [143] Alexandre Payez, Carmelo Evoli, Tobias Fischer, Maurizio Giannotti, Alessandro Mirizzi, and Andreas Ringwald. Revisiting the SN1987A gamma-ray limit on ultralight axion-like particles. JCAP, 02:006, 2015, 1410.3747.
- [144] Christopher Dessert, Joshua W. Foster, and Benjamin R. Safdi. X-ray Searches for Axions from Super Star Clusters. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 125(26):261102, 2020, 2008.03305.
- [145] Joshua W. Foster, Samuel J. Witte, Matthew Lawson, Tim Linden, Vishal Gajjar, Christoph Weniger, and Benjamin R. Safdi. Extraterrestrial Axion Search with the Breakthrough Listen Galactic Center Survey. 2 2022, 2202.08274.
- [146] Koji Nagano, Tomohiro Fujita, Yuta Michimura, and Ippei Obata. Axion Dark Matter Search with Interferometric Gravitational Wave Detectors. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 123(11):111301, 2019, 1903.02017.
- [147] N. Crisosto, P. Sikivie, N. S. Sullivan, D. B. Tanner, J. Yang, and G. Rybka. ADMX SLIC: Results from a Superconducting *LC* Circuit Investigating Cold Axions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 124(24):241101, 2020, 1911.05772.
- [148] Alexander V. Gramolin, Deniz Aybas, Dorian Johnson, Janos Adam, and Alexander O. Sushkov. Search for axion-like dark matter with ferromagnets. *Nature Phys.*, 17(1):79–84, 2021, 2003.03348.
- [149] Alexandre Deur, Stanley J. Brodsky, and Guy F. de Teramond. The QCD Running Coupling. Nucl. Phys., 90:1, 2016, 1604.08082.
- [150] Joshua Erlich, Emanuel Katz, Dam T. Son, and Mikhail A. Stephanov. QCD and a holographic model of hadrons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 95:261602, 2005, hepph/0501128.
- [151] Christian S. Fischer, Axel Maas, and Jan M. Pawlowski. On the infrared behavior of Landau gauge Yang-Mills theory. Annals Phys., 324:2408–2437, 2009, 0810.1987.
- [152] Taichiro Kugo and Izumi Ojima. Local Covariant Operator Formalism of Nonabelian Gauge Theories and Quark Confinement Problem. Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl., 66:1–130, 1979.

- [153] Jinfeng Liao and Edward Shuryak. Magnetic Component of Quark-Gluon Plasma is also a Liquid! Phys. Rev. Lett., 101:162302, 2008, 0804.0255.
- [154] Claudio Bonati and Massimo D'Elia. The Maximal Abelian Gauge in SU(N) gauge theories and thermal monopoles for N = 3. Nucl. Phys. B, 877:233–259, 2013, 1308.0302.
- [155] Alexander M. Polyakov. Gauge Fields as Rings of Glue. Nucl. Phys. B, 164:171–188, 1980.
- [156] Hong-Mo Chan and Sheung Tsun Tsou. Gauge Theories in Loop Space. Acta Phys. Polon. B, 17:259, 1986.
- [157] Hong-Mo Chan, Peter Scharbach, and Sheung Tsun Tsou. On Loop Space Formulation of Gauge Theories. Annals Phys., 166:396–421, 1986.
- [158] Sanghyeon Chang and Kiwoon Choi. Hadronic axion window and the big bang nucleosynthesis. *Phys. Lett. B*, 316:51–56, 1993, hep-ph/9306216.
- [159] Mark Srednicki. Axion Couplings to Matter. 1. CP Conserving Parts. Nucl. Phys. B, 260:689–700, 1985.
- [160] V. Anastassopoulos et al. New CAST Limit on the Axion-Photon Interaction. Nature Phys., 13:584–590, 2017, 1705.02290.
- [161] Giovanni Grilli di Cortona, Edward Hardy, Javier Pardo Vega, and Giovanni Villadoro. The QCD axion, precisely. JHEP, 01:034, 2016, 1511.02867.
- [162] Mikhail V. Beznogov, Ermal Rrapaj, Dany Page, and Sanjay Reddy. Constraints on Axion-like Particles and Nucleon Pairing in Dense Matter from the Hot Neutron Star in HESS J1731-347. *Phys. Rev. C*, 98(3):035802, 2018, 1806.07991.
- [163] D.F. Jackson Kimball et al. Overview of the Cosmic Axion Spin Precession Experiment (CASPEr). Springer Proc. Phys., 245:105–121, 2020, 1711.08999.
- [164] Chien-Yi Chen and S. Dawson. Exploring Two Higgs Doublet Models Through Higgs Production. Phys. Rev. D, 87:055016, 2013, 1301.0309.
- [165] Ya. B. Zeldovich and M. Yu. Khlopov. On the Concentration of Relic Magnetic Monopoles in the Universe. *Phys. Lett. B*, 79:239–241, 1978.
- [166] John Preskill. Cosmological Production of Superheavy Magnetic Monopoles. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 43:1365, 1979.
- [167] Georg Raffelt and Leo Stodolsky. Mixing of the Photon with Low Mass Particles. Phys. Rev. D, 37:1237, 1988.

- [168] Duane A. Dicus, Edward W. Kolb, Vigdor L. Teplitz, and Robert V. Wagoner. Astrophysical Bounds on the Masses of Axions and Higgs Particles. *Phys. Rev.* D, 18:1829, 1978.
- [169] V. Anastassopoulos et al. New CAST Limit on the Axion-Photon Interaction. Nature Phys., 13:584–590, 2017, 1705.02290.
- [170] E. Armengaud et al. Physics potential of the International Axion Observatory (IAXO). JCAP, 06:047, 2019, 1904.09155.
- [171] A. Abeln et al. Conceptual design of BabyIAXO, the intermediate stage towards the International Axion Observatory. JHEP, 05:137, 2021, 2010.12076.
- [172] Mathilde Fouche et al. Search for photon oscillations into massive particles. *Phys. Rev. D*, 78:032013, 2008, 0808.2800.
- [173] Pierre Pugnat et al. First results from the OSQAR photon regeneration experiment: No light shining through a wall. *Phys. Rev. D*, 78:092003, 2008, 0712.3362.
- [174] Aaron S. Chou, William Carl Wester, III, A. Baumbaugh, H. Richard Gustafson, Y. Irizarry-Valle, P. O. Mazur, Jason H. Steffen, R. Tomlin, X. Yang, and J. Yoo. Search for axion-like particles using a variable baseline photon regeneration technique. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 100:080402, 2008, 0710.3783.
- [175] A. Afanasev, O. K. Baker, K. B. Beard, G. Biallas, J. Boyce, M. Minarni, R. Ramdon, M. Shinn, and P. Slocum. New Experimental limit on Optical Photon Coupling to Neutral, Scalar Bosons. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 101:120401, 2008, 0806.2631.
- [176] Klaus Ehret et al. New ALPS Results on Hidden-Sector Lightweights. Phys. Lett. B, 689:149–155, 2010, 1004.1313.
- [177] P. Pugnat et al. Search for weakly interacting sub-eV particles with the OSQAR laser-based experiment: results and perspectives. *Eur. Phys. J. C*, 74(8):3027, 2014, 1306.0443.
- [178] R. Ballou et al. New exclusion limits on scalar and pseudoscalar axionlike particles from light shining through a wall. *Phys. Rev. D*, 92(9):092002, 2015, 1506.08082.
- [179] Adrian C. Melissinos. Search for Cosmic Axions using an Optical Interferometer. Phys. Rev. Lett., 102:202001, 2009, 0807.1092.
- [180] William DeRocco and Anson Hook. Axion interferometry. Phys. Rev. D, 98(3):035021, 2018, 1802.07273.

- [181] Hongwan Liu, Brodi D. Elwood, Matthew Evans, and Jesse Thaler. Searching for Axion Dark Matter with Birefringent Cavities. *Phys. Rev. D*, 100(2):023548, 2019, 1809.01656.
- [182] Ippei Obata, Tomohiro Fujita, and Yuta Michimura. Optical Ring Cavity Search for Axion Dark Matter. Phys. Rev. Lett., 121(16):161301, 2018, 1805.11753.
- [183] Javier Redondo and Andreas Ringwald. Light shining through walls. Contemp. Phys., 52:211–236, 2011, 1011.3741.
- [184] Robin Bähre et al. Any light particle search II Technical Design Report. JINST, 8:T09001, 2013, 1302.5647.
- [185] Igor G. Irastorza and Javier Redondo. New experimental approaches in the search for axion-like particles. *Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys.*, 102:89–159, 2018, 1801.08127.
- [186] J. Beacham et al. Physics Beyond Colliders at CERN: Beyond the Standard Model Working Group Report. J. Phys. G, 47(1):010501, 2020, 1901.09966.
- [187] D. V. Kirpichnikov, Valery E. Lyubovitskij, and Alexey S. Zhevlakov. Constraints on CP-odd ALP couplings from EDM limits of fermions. *Particles*, 3(4):719–728, 2020, 2004.13656.
- [188] W. Dekens, J. de Vries, and S. Shain. CP-violating axion interactions in effective field theory. 3 2022, 2203.11230.
- [189] Arnaud Dupays, Eduard Masso, Javier Redondo, and Carlo Rizzo. Light scalars coupled to photons and non-Newtonian forces. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 98:131802, 2007, hep-ph/0610286.
- [190] N. Du et al. A Search for Invisible Axion Dark Matter with the Axion Dark Matter Experiment. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 120(15):151301, 2018, 1804.05750.
- [191] Ohjoon Kwon et al. First Results from an Axion Haloscope at CAPP around 10.7 μeV. Phys. Rev. Lett., 126(19):191802, 2021, 2012.10764.
- [192] L. Zhong et al. Results from phase 1 of the HAYSTAC microwave cavity axion experiment. *Phys. Rev. D*, 97(9):092001, 2018, 1803.03690.
- [193] David Alesini, Danilo Babusci, Daniele Di Gioacchino, Claudio Gatti, Gianluca Lamanna, and Carlo Ligi. The KLASH Proposal. 7 2017, 1707.06010.
- [194] Allen Caldwell, Gia Dvali, Béla Majorovits, Alexander Millar, Georg Raffelt, Javier Redondo, Olaf Reimann, Frank Simon, and Frank Steffen. Dielectric

Haloscopes: A New Way to Detect Axion Dark Matter. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 118(9):091801, 2017, 1611.05865.

- [195] Ben T. McAllister, Graeme Flower, Eugene N. Ivanov, Maxim Goryachev, Jeremy Bourhill, and Michael E. Tobar. The ORGAN Experiment: An axion haloscope above 15 GHz. *Phys. Dark Univ.*, 18:67–72, 2017, 1706.00209.
- [196] Jonathan L. Ouellet et al. First Results from ABRACADABRA-10 cm: A Search for Sub-µeV Axion Dark Matter. Phys. Rev. Lett., 122(12):121802, 2019, 1810.12257.
- [197] Chiara P. Salemi et al. Search for Low-Mass Axion Dark Matter with ABRACADABRA-10 cm. Phys. Rev. Lett., 127(8):081801, 2021, 2102.06722.
- [198] M. Silva-Feaver, S. Chaudhuri, H. Cho, C. Dawson, P. Graham, K. Irwin, S. Kuenstner, D. Li, J. Mardon, H. Moseley, R. Mule, A. Phipps, S. Rajendran, Z. Steffen, and B. Young. Design overview of dm radio pathfinder experiment. *IEEE Transactions on Applied Superconductivity*, 27(4):1–4, 2017.
- [199] Alexander V. Gramolin, Deniz Aybas, Dorian Johnson, Janos Adam, and Alexander O. Sushkov. Search for axion-like dark matter with ferromagnets. *Nature Physics*, 17:79–84, 2021.
- [200] Jonathan Ouellet and Zachary Bogorad. Solutions to Axion Electrodynamics in Various Geometries. *Phys. Rev. D*, 99(5):055010, 2019, 1809.10709.
- [201] Ben T. McAllister, Maxim Goryachev, Jeremy Bourhill, Eugene N. Ivanov, and Michael E. Tobar. Broadband Axion Dark Matter Haloscopes via Electric Sensing. 3 2018, 1803.07755.
- [202] Michael Edmund Tobar, Ben T. McAllister, and Maxim Goryachev. Broadband Electrical Action Sensing Techniques with conducting wires for low-mass dark matter axion detection. *Phys. Dark Univ.*, 30:100624, 2020, 2004.06984.
- [203] Michael E. Tobar, Ben T. McAllister, and Maxim Goryachev. Modified Axion Electrodynamics as Impressed Electromagnetic Sources Through Oscillating Background Polarization and Magnetization. *Phys. Dark Univ.*, 26:100339, 2019, 1809.01654.
- [204] Anton V. Sokolov. Gravitational Wave Electrodynamics. 3 2022, 2203.03278.

## Eidesstattliche Erklärung / Declaration on oath

Hiermit versichere ich an Eides statt, die vorliegende Dissertationsschrift selbst verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Hilfsmittel und Quellen benutzt zu haben.

Hamburg, den 04.07.2022

Unterschrift des Doktoranden